Notice of Meeting

Communities, Environment and
Highways Select Committee
Date & time
Thursday, 16
September 2021 at
10.00 am

Place
REMOTE MEETING

Contact
Kunwar Khan, Scrutiny
Officer
kunwar.khan@surreycc.gov.uk
07988522219

Chief Executive
Joanna Killian
We’re on Twitter:
@SCCdemocracy

If you would like a copy of this agenda or the attached papers in
another format, e.g. large print or braille, or another language
please email kunwar.khan@surreycc.gov.uk
This informal meeting will be taking place remotely. A live webcast
of the meeting can be viewed at: https://surreycc.publici.tv/core/portal/webcasts.

Elected Members
John O'Reilly (Chairman), Andy MacLeod (Vice-Chairman), Paul Deach (Vice-Chairman), Jordan
Beech, Jonathan Hulley, Cameron McIntosh, Colin Cross, Stephen Cooksey, Lance Spencer,
Catherine Baart, Keith Witham, Jan Mason and John Furey
TERMS OF REFERENCE
The Select Committee is responsible for the following areas:
















Waste and recycling
Highways
Major infrastructure
Investment/Commercial Strategy (including Assets)
Economic Growth
Housing
Local Enterprise Partnerships
Countryside
Planning
Aviation and Sustainable Transport
Flood Prevention
Emergency Management
Community Engagement and Safety
Fire and Rescue
Trading Standards

Page 1 of 4

AGENDA

1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS
To receive any apologies for absence and substitutions.

2

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS: MONDAY, 19 MARCH 2021
To agree the minutes of the previous meeting of the Communities,
Environment and Highways Select Committee as a true and accurate
record of proceedings.

3

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST
All Members present are required to declare, at this point in the meeting or
as soon as possible thereafter:
i. any disclosable pecuniary interests and / or;
ii. other interests arising under the Code of Conduct in respect of any
item(s) of business being considered at this meeting.
NOTES:

4



Members are reminded that they must not participate in any item
where they have a disclosable pecuniary interest;



as well as an interest of the Member, this includes any interest, of
which the Member is aware, that relates to the Member’s spouse or
civil partner (or any person with whom the Member is living as a
spouse or civil partner); and



Members with a significant personal interest may participate in the
discussion and vote on that matter unless that interest could be
reasonably regarded as prejudicial.

QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS
To receive any questions or petitions.
The public retain their right to submit questions for written response, with
such answers recorded in the minutes of the meeting; questioners may
participate in meetings to ask a supplementary question. Petitioners may
address the Committee on their petition for up to three minutes. Guidance
will be made available to any member of the public wishing to speak at a
meeting.
Notes:
1. The deadline for Member’s questions is 12.00pm four working days
before the meeting (Friday, 10 September 2021).
2. The deadline for public questions is seven days before the meeting
(Thursday, 9 September 2021)
3. The deadline for petitions was 14 days before the meeting, and
one petition has been received.
A petition has been received from Mr Andrew Matthews:
Page 2 of 4

(Pages 5
- 14)

We the undersigned petition Surrey County Council to We, the
undersigned, call on Surrey County Council, as well as other Surrey
councils, residents, businesses and community groups, to respond to the
current consultation on future rail services by South Western Railway
(SWR), in partnership with Network Rail and the Department for Transport,
by calling on them to: a) abandon proposals to make permanent cuts from
December 2022 to SWR rail services via Epsom and Mole Valley; b)
restore SWR rail services via Epsom and Mole Valley to pre-pandemic
levels, as soon as conditions allow; and c) adopt a fairer and more joinedup approach to building back rail services via Epsom and Mole Valley.

5

SWR TIMETABLE CONSULTATION

(Pages
15 - 66)

Purpose of the report:

To inform the Committee of the South Western Railways
Consultation for proposed rail services in the county from December
2022 and to agree a response to this consultation.
6

PROCUREMENT OF HIGHWAYS' TERM MAINTENANCE CONTRACT

(Pages
67 - 76)

Purpose of report:

To provide the Select Committee an update on the Procurement of
the Term Maintenance Contract and some of the key features of the
new arrangements scheduled to start in April 2022.
7

BUSES BACK BETTER

(Pages
77 - 168)

Purpose of report:
To inform the committee of the council’s obligations in respect of the new
National Bus Strategy, ‘Bus Back Better’, and to seek its views on the
Council’s proposed approach.

8

POLICY ON THE USE OF SAFETY CAMERAS IN SURREY
Purpose of the report:

(Pages
169 180)

This report presents a new policy which sets out the criteria and process
that will be followed for investment in new safety cameras. This includes
average speed, spot speed, red-light and combination cameras. While
road casualty hotspots will remain the top priority, the policy also sets out
the criteria for the use of safety cameras at other locations where there
might not have been such a high level of collisions, but where excess
speeds are a concern for the community.

9

RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER AND FORWARD WORK
PROGRAMME
Purpose of report: for the Select Committee to review the attached
recommendations tracker and forward work programme, making
Page 3 of 4

(Pages
181 196)

suggestions for additions or amendments as appropriate.

10

DATE OF THE NEXT MEETING: 15 DECEMBER 2021
The next public meeting of the committee will be held on 15 December
2021.

Joanna Killian
Chief Executive
Published: Wednesday, 8 September 2021
MOBILE TECHNOLOGY AND FILMING – ACCEPTABLE USE
Those attending for the purpose of reporting on the meeting may use social media or mobile
devices in silent mode to send electronic messages about the progress of the public parts of
the meeting. To support this, County Hall has wifi available for visitors – please ask at
reception for details.
Anyone is permitted to film, record or take photographs at council meetings with the
Chairman’s consent. Please liaise with the council officer listed in the agenda prior to the start
of the meeting so that the Chairman can grant permission and those attending the meeting can
be made aware of any filming taking place.
Use of mobile devices, including for the purpose of recording or filming a meeting, is subject to
no interruptions, distractions or interference being caused to the PA or Induction Loop systems,
or any general disturbance to proceedings. The Chairman may ask for mobile devices to be
switched off in these circumstances.
It is requested that if you are not using your mobile device for any of the activities outlined
above, it be switched off or placed in silent mode during the meeting to prevent interruptions
and interference with PA and Induction Loop systems.
Thank you for your co-operation
FIELD_TITLE

Page 4 of 4

Item 2
MINUTES of the meeting of the COMMUNITIES, ENVIRONMENT AND HIGHWAYS
SELECT COMMITTEE held at 10.00 am on 19 MARCH 2021 at REMOTE
MEETING.
These minutes are subject to confirmation by the Committee at its meeting on 16
September 2021.
Elected Members:
* Mr John O’Reilly (Chairman)
* Mr Andy MacLeod (Vice-Chairman)
* Mr Saj Hussain (Vice-Chairman)
* Mrs Fiona White
* Mr Keith Witham
* Mr Mike Benison
* Mrs Jan Mason
* Mr Ken Gulati
* Mr John Furey
* Mr Paul Deach
* Mr Jonathan Essex
* Mr Mike Goodman
In attendance:
Natalie Bramhall, Cabinet Member for Environment and Climate Change
Matt Furniss, Cabinet Member for Transport
Denise Turner-Stewart, Cabinet Member for Communities
1

APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE AND SUBSTITUTIONS [Item 1]
Apologies were received from Andy MacLeod and John Furey. There were no
substitutions.

2

MINUTES OF THE PREVIOUS MEETINGS: TUESDAY, 15 DECEMBER 2020
[Item 2]
The minutes were agreed as a true record of the meeting.

3

DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST [Item 3]
Mike Goodman declared a personal interest in Item 5. This interest did not prevent
the Member from participating in the discussion.
Declaration: Chairman of the North Downs Railway Line and Member of the
Southeast Community Rail Board

4

QUESTIONS AND PETITIONS [Item 4]

5

None received.
RAILWAY STRATEGY [Item 5]

Page 5

Witnesses:
Matt Furniss, Cabinet Member for Highways
Paul Millin, Strategic Transport Group Manager
Daniel Philips, Senior Transport Consultant - Arup
Tim Bellenger, Director - Policy and Investigation, London Travelwatch
Key points raised during the discussion:
1. The report presented to the Select Committee was the updated Railway
Strategy (the ‘Strategy’) and it was to be considered at Cabinet on 30 March
2021. The Strategy had a supporting evidence base with a set of strategic
aims and was part of the wider, forthcoming Local Transport Plan 4 (LTP4).
Rail was an important aspect of Surrey’s infrastructure and would be key in
helping the county achieve transport decarbonisation. Railways were largely
out of the direct control of local authorities thus the council would focus on
effective lobbying, seeking investment, working with bus operators, and
improving connections and access to railway stations for residents.
2. The Strategic Transport Group Manager stated that the Strategy was
developed in partnership with Arup and would be important in helping the
council to articulate its strategies, policies, priorities, ambitions and the
supporting evidence basis to local MPs, the government and rail industry to
secure investment in Surrey.
3. Members asked about the impact of the Covid-19 pandemic, officers reported
changed commuting patterns and a significant decrease in public railway
usage. Despite this, the Group Manager stated that it was still an appropriate
time to adopt a new strategy so the council could input and shape the future
of the rail industry. The Cabinet Member agreed that it was timely because it
was important that post-Covid-19 people returned to sustainable modes of
transport to meet decarbonisation and net carbon targets. The Cabinet
Member went on to say that, as part of LTP4, it was vital that the railway
strategy was integrated into the wider transport and infrastructure plan as
early as possible to support the council’s Climate Change Strategy (CCS).
The Strategy was also important in light of the government’s ‘levelling up’
agenda; it provided an evidence base to lobby government to keep
investment around Surrey and the southeast.
4. The Chairman invited the Director - Policy and Investigation, London
Travelwatch (the statutory consumer watchdog that represented transport
users in and around London including Surrey) to comment on the Strategy.
The Director had made several suggestions in response to Surrey’s new
Railway Strategy regarding station accessibility, community rail partnerships,
and the extension of smartcard technology. Passenger numbers fell during
the pandemic so improvements in the aforementioned areas were important in
attracting users (both new and old) to the network.

Page 6

5. The Director stated that it was important that the Council engaged in wider
consultation with stakeholders and disabled groups, for example Transport for
All, in the finalising of the strategy, and suggested that modest changes and
smaller schemes would make a considerable difference to people (for
example, tactile paving at all stations).
6. The Director added that joint research carried out by London Travelwatch and
Transport Focus showed that, post-pandemic, many people who traditionally
commuted to work via train would be working from home. Thus, the railway
would be increasingly reliant on leisure travel for custom and it was important
that it be redesigned to attract the leisure market. The role of community rail
partnerships and station adoption routes also needed to be customer
improved, whilst extending the Transport for London system (Oyster and
contactless payment systems into Surrey) and improving integration between
bus and railway would be in the best interest of passengers.
7. The Group Manager responded to the Director’s comments. The Service
undertook detailed engagement with the Surrey Coalition of Disabled People
in development of the Strategy, but the Group Manager hoped that it could
undertake further engagement work with Transport for All before schemes
were implemented. The Group Manager was interested in the idea of creating
a package of small schemes for stations across Surrey that were quick wins
at relatively low cost and would identify and develop these in partnership with
train operating companies and Network Rail. One of the issues discussed with
Network Rail was ‘first and last-mile’ connectivity to the rail network. It was
important that the council worked with districts, boroughs and companies
when considering station improvement projects and improving active travel
and access for people with disabilities.
8. Regarding the community rail partnership, the Group Manager felt that this
was best done locally and not something imposed and led by the council. The
council would however work with local interest groups and parish councils to
connect them to existing community rail partnerships and introduce them to
train operating companies to develop projects. The Group Manager also
stated the importance of implementing a more flexible and understandable
contactless and smart ticketing system and use of smart cards for the whole
of the rail network. Simplification of rail ticketing would be key to encouraging
infrequent or non-users to use rail and increase usage for leisure travel.
9. The Chairman asked whether the four categories (network infrastructure
connectivity and services, stations and access, and passenger experience)
that highlighted the main areas of intervention and policy in the rail network
were the outcomes that the council was aiming to achieve through the
strategy. The Group Manager responded that some of this work was already
underway and the council was engaged in schemes with the rail industry that
were achieving tangible outcomes for the work set out in the ‘Categorising
Interventions’ section of the report. Decarbonisation of the North Downs Line
was one of the top three electrification programmes prioritised in the UK which
the council was working closely with Network Rail on. Additionally, for the

Page 7

development of Haslemere station, the council had invested some money and
levered significant investment from the train operating company and Network
Rail for measures to improve accessibility, such as a new carpark and
improved cycling and active travel routes to the station. The Council also
worked with the train operating company and National Rail on the
redevelopment of Longcross Station to mitigate the impact of planned housing
development. Work on ‘first and last-mile’ solutions was key to supporting
active travel, the council’s declared climate emergency, and other areas of
council policy linked to LTP4. It was important that Network Rail knew where
the council’s direction for development and growth was so that investment
was made in local pressure areas.
10. A Member queried how much flexibility there was for the strategy to change in
response the Government commissioned Williams Review that was essential
to the rail industry’s recovery from the Covid-19 pandemic. The Group
Manager explained that, with the level of uncertainty around customer usage
of the rail network and how the economy would respond post-pandemic, the
government needed to put in a place a model that would be futureproof for the
next 5-19 years, meaning a likely shift from a franchise model to concession
model. The council would still need to work with companies operating those
concessions to ensure the right level of services were delivered to residents.
The Senior Transport Consultant for Arup added that ongoing work with
government was looking at how this model would work in different parts of the
country. It was likely that operation would move towards TFL operation of the
London overground i.e. more setting of the timetable and performance-based
awards to operators to improve reliability compared to private operators. The
Senior Transport Consultant agreed that it was likely to move to a concession
model whereby fair risk was taken more by the state however there was
uncertainty as to how contracts between operators and Network Rail would
look.
11. A Member asked whether the Strategy included strategic out of county
projects that would be beneficial for Surrey. The Group Manager explained
that the council was supporting a number of improvement projects outside
Surrey that were detailed in the Strategy. For example, Network Rail’s
Croydon Area Remodelling Scheme project and rail access to Heathrow. The
Heathrow Strategic Planning Group was a joint partnership of many of the
local authorities and Local Enterprise Partnerships (LEPs) responsible for
planning the region surrounding Heathrow Airport and there was a piece of
work underway whereby parties were establishing common areas of
agreement.
12. The Government asked local authorities to sign up to enhanced quality bus
partnerships to help improve access and the linkage between bus and rail
stations. The Group Manager explained that this area wasn’t wholly within the
council’s control thus it needed to influence and press the rail industry and
government to take action. The council and LEP had put pressure on Great
Western Railway to deliver improvements on the North Downs Line which

Page 8

resulted in an increase in rail service however this progress ceased due to the
pandemic. The Senior Transport Consultant added that the electrification of
the North Downs Line was one of the interventions that was being
approached in a more risk averse manner, which is why it was a 5-10-year
medium term goal. He hoped that the shorter end of the medium term would
be met with fully electrified trains operating on the line in five years.
RESOLVED:
I. The Committee lent its support for the strategy. In particular, Members
encouraged the Council to lobby for a simplified fare structure and ticketing
system and an expedited timeframe to achieve electrification of the North
Downs line. There should be flexibility in the Council’s approach to
accommodate changes resulting from the COVID-19 pandemic.
II. A Member requested that paragraph 40– Environmental Sustainability
Implications – of the Cabinet report also reference the range of positive
implications for climate change that the schemes and interventions brought
forward by the council in delivering the New Rail Strategy for Surrey would
have. This was to further indicate how the New Railway Strategy supported
other council priority areas, such as achieving net carbon.
Recommendations:
I.

6

The Committee recommends that the Cabinet Member for Highways
ensures that the Service identifies any small schemes in the county that
could improve residents’ access to railway stations quickly and that a
commitment to do so is included in the report to Cabinet on 30 March
2021.

SURREY CLIMATE CHANGE STRATEGY [Item 6]
Witnesses:
Natalie Bramhall, Cabinet Member for Environment & Climate Change
Carolyn McKenzie, Director – Environment
Key points raised during the discussion:
1. The Cabinet Member stated that the report was a summary of work that had
taken place to date on the Climate Change Delivery Plan (CCDP). The final
CCDP was to be published, with approval by Cabinet, in June 2021 following
further development of the funding mechanisms and businesses models
needed to finance and monitor reduction activities. Work on the Land
Management Framework (LMF), summarised in the report, was a key part of
the CCDP linked to the climate change adaptation agenda that would deliver
multiple benefits. The council was positioning itself to capitalise on investment
opportunities that were likely to arise when the government’s Environmental
Bill was published. Officers were developing a set of carbon reduction metrics
which could be applied to programmes and schemes in the CCDP, and in the

Page 9

meantime were working on identifying immediate benefits such as Active
Travel and decarbonisation of the corporate estate. The CCDP was to be
updated and reviewed annually.
2. The Director – Environment added that joint ownership of the CCDP was vital
in ensuring effective engagement and emphasised the scale of the challenge
which would only be overcome by the involvement of the private sector, public
sector and residents and communities. The council should take a clear
leading role in enabling and inspiring people to make changes.
3. The 100% CO2 target reduction, against 2019 levels, by 2050 was a
challenging target and the government needed to make big policy shifts to
help local authorities meet these national targets. The council’s success
would also depend on partner engagement and attracting investment. There
had been significant improvements and changes and the Director stated that it
was important not to undermine the difference that smaller initiatives, such as
the streetlighting initiative, could make in meeting targets. The Director also
added that if the electrification of cars and transport proceeded, the council
could meet its target by 2040.
4. A Member requested further explanation of the Greener Futures Investment
Multiplier Framework. The Director explained that this was being developed
as the overarching Framework to draw in investment from numerous
organisations to one platform to fund a range of programmes. It was also
important to bring in the agendas and investment of other applicable
strategies and programmes, such as the Rail Strategy and Local Transport
Plan 4, to maximise outcomes and take forward the council’s climate change
agenda and achieve multiple benefit outcomes. For example, the River
Thames Scheme flood defence programme included the creation of new
habitats, and considered health, leisure and amenity purposes as well as
carbon sequestration and biodiversity.
5. The council’s relationship with Surrey Wildlife Trust and Surrey Nature
Partnership was important and Members wanted to see evidence of this and
the organisations’ involvement in the report and referred to in Phase 2 of the
Framework, particularly with regard to planning considerations. The Director
assured the Committee that Surrey Wildlife Trust was involved with the LMF
from the outset and that the nature recovery strategy would be embedded into
this framework.

6. A Member asked whether there was sufficient focus on Surrey land as a
whole and whether the LMF would identify sites where it would be preferential
to allocate different types of developments, for example the location of new
renewable energy sites or appropriate land for woodland management, in the
county to ensure the rural countryside was better valued. The Director
responded that the LMF was unique and considered rural, countryside and
high-quality green spaces in urban areas. The first piece of work would look at
the natural capital and value of all land across Surrey. Initially, the Service
was to undertake deep dives in public sector land around renewables and

Page 10

biodiversity and then study all private and community-owned land to develop
one land use approach.
7. A Member questioned whether the council was allocating sufficient funding for
the countryside and woodland management given the planned closure of the
council’s sawmill. The Director responded that supporting wood fuel was a
key aspect of the LMF work, however it was not appropriate for the council to
lead on and deliver. The council would support the woodland industry, but it
was not financially viable for the council to deliver. The council was supporting
activities within Norbury Park to date had received 17 expressions of interest
from people wanting to deliver related activities on this site.
8. A Member requested that the specific role taken by the Council, government,
and other organisations in each item of the CCDP be listed, and that officers
state which current plans would not meet targets, and what strategies were in
place to meet those targets, in the final CCDP. The Director responded that
the final CCDP would include wherever possible how targets were to be
achieved, detailing specific action and who needed to be involved. The
Service needed to identify other sources of investment with a timeline of when
those funds would be available to ascertain how much flexibility the council
had in how it was to achieve net zero.
9. A Member requested that the Select Committee consider a private meeting in
June 2021 to review the final CCDP before its consideration at Cabinet
meeting on 21 June 2021.
Recommendations:
I.

7

The Select Committee recommends that the newly appointed Committee
reviews the final delivery plan before the Cabinet takes its decision on 29
June 2021.

SURREY FIRE AND RESCUE SERVICE IMPLEMENTATION OF MAKING
SURREY SAFER - OUR PLAN 2020 – 2023 [Item 7]
Witnesses:
Denise Turner-Stewart, Cabinet Member for Community Protection
Steve Owen-Hughes, Director – Community Protection Group
Sarah Kershaw, Chief of Staff
Key points raised during the discussion:
1. The witnesses were asked by the Select Committee to comment on the
industrial dispute with the Fire Brigades Union (FBU); this was ongoing albeit
some items were resolved. Regular meetings were held with FBU
representatives and every effort was being made to resolve all issues raised.
The FBU suspended their Action Short of Strike in March 2020. The Chief Fire
Officer stated Surrey Fire and Rescue Service’s (SFRS) desire to have good

Page 11

industrial relations with all unions, and it was encouraging more unions to
recruit members from SFRS for wider representation of the workforce.
2. A Member asked whether officers could provide trend data on SFRS’s
establishment data to show how it changed over the previous five-year period.
The Chief Fire Officer explained that the workforce was divided into four
categories: control staff, support staff, wholetime firefighters, and on call
firefighters, and the Service was now 100% across all those areas apart from
on call , which was 83.3% and subject to an ongoing recruitment drive. Prior
to 2019, there was no fixed establishment and from 2016-2018 SFRS
depended on overtime to provide the required staffing levels.
3. The Chief Fire Officer went onto say that there was an organisation
development department whose job it was to forecast the Service’s leaver
profile. This was being monitored and the Service encouraged retiring
frontline staff to transfer to other service departments, such as fire safety, to
retain experience Establishment figures were now fixed, and the risk of relying
on overtime significantly reduced. In 2016, the Service was funded to a
headcount of 646 on call and wholetime firefighters but, having undertaken
data and risk analysis, the Service now knew that it needed 595 firefighters.
4. SFRS was still able to meet its statutory requirements during the Covid-19
pandemic despite deploying staff into different service areas. Fulltime
firefighters who delivered statutory response functions were deployed less
frequently than parttime and volunteer service fire fighters. Most of the
community resilience activities (i.e. prevention and protection measures) were
impacted by the pandemic. Face to face Safe and Well visits to businesses
and residents’ homes and school visits ceased temporarily at the beginning of
the pandemic except for those safe and well visits for high risk vulnerable
persons which continued. The Youth Cadet Scheme was delayed until
September 2021 and community events and the Youth Engagement
Programmes were reduced or delayed. Community engagement and staff
engagement was also impacted by the pandemic and the Service undertook a
recovery review starting in June 2020 to understand all areas impacted by the
pandemic and develop a return to normal plan for catch up in those areas.
5. The Chairman asked whether some ways of working had fundamentally
changed due to Covid-19. The Chief Fire Officer responded that SFRS had
learned over the last year that there were effective ways of doing things
differently. Engagement with business post-Grenfell helped SFRS understand
different ways to engage with partners in the business and construction area.
The Service also expanded the way it carried out Safe & Well visits and
contacted residents - however high-risk groups were always contacted faceto-face. The Chief Fire Officer hoped that the new ways of working would
mean that more residents could be contacted in a variety of ways.
6. A future priority for SFRS was ‘reviewing and improving our culture’ and the
Select Committee wished to understand further what that entailed. The Chief
Fire Officer stated that the Service was dedicated to improving the trust and
honesty with its staff and to implement changes based on feedback. Staff

Page 12

training around management and leadership was underway and would
continue after lockdown. There was a plan in place that focused on improving
how the Service engaged with its workforce and how to continue positively
recognising the work of staff. The results of the culture survey were
forthcoming, and they would set Key Performance Indicators that the Service
would monitor improvement against. Tangible changes resulting from the
culture changes would be a more accountable and diverse workforce that
better represented the community it served.
Actions:
i.
Select Committee to receive the following information regarding SFRS
establishment:
 The current establishment of the SFRS
 In what Service areas there is a staff shortage
 Annual staffing of SFRS for the last ten-year period to give a longer
perspective of improvements made
 When the establishment figures changed
 How the composition of staffing has changed and for what reasons (for
example, changing priorities and workloads)
(Owner: Steve Owen-Hughes, Chief Fire Officer)
Recommendations:
I.
It is recommended that the Select Committee adopt the following points
identified by the Working Group as the basis for future scrutiny of the
SFRS:
•
•
•
•
•
8

Areas of ongoing improvement work that form part of the ‘Making
Surrey Safer’ Plan such as improving workforce diversity and
recruitment to on-call positions
Analysing comparative data showing the relative performance of SFRS
with other suitable peer Fire and Rescue Authorities
Analysis of incidents where the first appliance to critical incidents
exceeded 10 minutes
Analysis of satisfaction levels with the Service’s communications
Qualitative evidence from frontline staff on changes to the SFRS

SCRUTINY OF ALTERNATIVE BUDGET PROPOSAL [ITEM 8]
Key points raised during the discussion:
1. The Committee noted the report.
2. The Chairman and the proposer of the alternative budget were satisfied with
the scrutiny process of the alternative budget proposal and thanked officers
and Members for their contributions.

9

FORWARD WORK PROGRAMME AND RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER [ITEM
9]

Page 13

1. Members requested that the Select Committee review the council’s
streetlighting policy and implementation of the LED lighting.
2. Members requested that the Select Committee review the final Climate
Change Delivery Plan before its consideration at the June Cabinet meeting.

Meeting closed at 12:22

Page 14

Item 5
COMMUNITIES, ENVIRONMENT AND HIGHWAYS SELECT
COMMITTEE

THURSDAY, 16 SEPTEMBER 2021

South Western Railways Consultation

To inform the Committee of the South Western Railways Consultation for proposed
rail services in the county from December 2022 and to agree a response to this
consultation.
Introduction
1.

South Western Railway (SWR) is undertaking a strategic review of their rail
timetable with the aim of providing reliable train services that meet forecast
future passenger demands and offer value for money. This review will consider
service frequencies and train capacity, with changes planned to be introduced
in December 2022. The proposed new timetable will, SWR state, reflect the
predicted changes to travel pattern because of the pandemic. A consultation
was launched on 31 July 2021 and will close on 19 September 2021. Ahead of
any changes to services SWR are seeking the views of stakeholders. The SWR
December 2022 Timetable Consultation is appended as Annexe 1.

2.

Surrey County Council as a key stakeholder has been invited to comment. This
report provides a broad overview of the consultation including the impacts of the
proposals.

Background
3.

SWR operates a wide network of suburban and longer distance train services
across the South West Mainline. The whole SWR operating area is shown on
the map in Annexe 2.

4.

SWR were awarded the franchise to operate the South Western Mainline
network from August 2017. During Spring 2020 with passenger demand across
their network falling to some 10% of normal travel patterns the government
entered into an Emergency Management Agreement with SWR and this has
been in place since. With uncertainty around passenger fares revenues it is not
financially viable for the commercial private sector train operating companies to
continue with the pre-pandemic contracts. Thus, in June 2021 Great British

Page 15

Railways was formed by the government. This is a new public body that aims to
integrate the railways and to deliver a financially sustainable network.
5.

On 30 March 2021 the County Council’s Cabinet adopted a New Rail Strategy
for Surrey. This set out our future ambition and priorities for rail across the
county. The New Rail Strategy supports the council’s objective of growing a
sustainable economy, how we may help residents and businesses respond to
changing demands, and also supports the council’s priority objective of enabling
a greener future with net zero carbon a strong feature throughout.

6.

The New Rail Strategy for Surrey acknowledges that good rail services are vital
for maintaining and growing Surrey’s economy and whilst the council has no
statutory role in planning or delivering rail services it is important to continue to
engage with the rail industry and Government to ensure that our priorities are
reflected in rail service delivery and in planning for the future.

7.

The emerging Surrey Transport Plan sets out a bold ambition on how to
achieve a future-ready transport system that allows Surrey to lead the UK with a
low-carbon, economically prosperous, healthy, and inclusive county. The
Surrey Transport Plan proposes a hierarchy of modes and the ambition to shift
journeys from the private car to other more sustainable modes, including active
travel and public transport.

8.

Transport for the South East (TfSE), the sub national transport body for the
South East of England, has published a Transport Strategy. This focusses on
economic, environmental, and social priorities and identifies the need for
sustainable and attractive alternatives to the car, placing the passenger at the
heart of the local public transport network, including more frequent rail services.

9.

Improving rail services and supporting infrastructure to enhance access to and
from the rail network will help make the train a real and attractive choice for
residents, is something that features in our emerging Surrey Transport Plan, the
New Rail Strategy for Surrey and the Transport Strategy for the South East.
Improving public transport is critical to our commitment to sustainability and
delivering on the aims and ambitions of the council’s Greener Futures
programme of work and the delivery of the council’s 2030 Community Vision.
Proposals that seek to dimmish the public transport offer need, therefore, to be
closely scrutinised.

10. In formulating their response to the proposals, CEH Select Committee may, in
particular, wish to consider the following key points:


The robustness and relevance of the data SWR has used to inform the
draft December 2022 timetable service specification

Page 16



The impact on the communities affected by the proposed rail service
reductions, particularly those where off-peak service will only be hourly



The ability and flexibility within the rail network and SWR to respond to
increased capacity needs should this be necessary, noting the historically
long planning and implementation timescales for timetable changes



How these proposals align (or otherwise) with local and regional transport
strategies and policies, the climate change and sustainable transport
agendas, and housing growth.

SWR Proposals
11. SWR is seeking views on their proposals for the rail network from December
2022. This December 2022 timetable has been informed by the experiences
gained running the railway during the pandemic, customer feedback and the
arrival of new rolling stock (90 new high capacity Arterio trains).
12. Over the last 16 months while train frequencies have been reduced due to
COVID rail performance has increased i.e running fewer trains has improved
overall train service reliability. This is largely linked to less train paths travelling
through the rail “bottleneck” outside Waterloo Station. However, it is worth
noting that the number of platforms at Waterloo was increased during 2017 to
assist with train reliability and to accommodate growing passenger demand,
with the former Eurostar platforms re-commissioned.
13. Research data that SWR has obtained from customers suggest that commuting
passenger traffic will not exceed 60% of pre-pandemic levels. The same is
forecast for business travel. Leisure market travel is expected to return to the
same levels as before the pandemic.
14. SWR state that the anticipated service levels contained within this December
2022 timetable specification have sufficient excess capacity to accommodate
variations in demand. The introduction of 90 new higher capacity Arterio trains
across some of the network will offer more capacity as well as better reliability
and punctuality.
15. It should be noted that the proposals contained in the consultation for the
December 2022 timetable represent an outline specification for the future, with
detailed scheduling around specific journeys still to be carried out by SWR.
16. Across the SWR main suburban rail network proposed frequencies from
December 2022 remain similar to those that were provided with the May 2019
timetable.

Page 17

17. Service reductions are being proposed by SWR on the following lines/stations:
17.1

London Waterloo to Dorking: off peak frequency reduced from two
trains per hour to hourly. To reduce congestion on the inner parts of the
network, SWR propose to reduce frequency to Epsom and Dorking as
these stations are also served by Southern services from London Bridge
and London Victoria.

17.2

London Waterloo to Guildford via Leatherhead: off peak frequency
reduced from two trains per hour to hourly. To reduce congestion on the
inner parts of the network SWR propose not to reinstate previous services.
Passengers at Effingham Junction, Horsley, Clandon and London Road
can use the twice hourly services on the Cobham line. Bookham will be the
only station to receive one train per hour. SWR state that Bookham station
has relatively low usage off peak, with an average of 5 people using each
service in May 2019. It is worth noting that pre-pandemic there were over
320,000 passenger trips made at Bookham in 2018/19.

17.3

London Waterloo to Epsom: AM peak and off-peak frequency
reduced from four trains per hour to two trains per hour. Ewell West and
Stoneleigh will have a reduced service. Epsom is also served by Southern
services from London Bridge and London Victoria.

17.4

Fast lines from Woking/Surbiton: during the AM peak there will be a
reduction from 25 trains per hour to 21 trains per hour. During the off-peak
this will reduce from14 trains per hour to 13 trains per hour.

17.5

Windsor Line: during the AM peak there will be a reduction from 17
trains per hour to 16 trains per hour. During the off-peak this will reduce
from 12 trains per hour to 10 trains per hour.

17.6

London Waterloo – Portsmouth: during the AM peak there will be a
reduction from 8 trains per hour to 5 trains per hour. During the off-peak
this will reduce from 5 trains per hour to 4 trains per hour. The London
Waterloo to Haslemere stopping service in the peak and off-peak has been
withdrawn to improve resilience of the timetable between London and
Woking. The London Waterloo to Portsmouth (slow) service will now call at
all stations south of Guildford incorporating stops that were previously in
the Haslemere stopping service. The removal of these services will still
provide three trains per hour in the off-peak period at Guildford, Godalming
and Haslemere. SWR advise that these stations are also served by
alternative services with enough capacity to meet demand.

Page 18

Conclusions:
18. SWR are seeking the views of stakeholders on their consultation for the
December 2022 timetable. This timetable will form the future timetable
specification across the SWR network. As noted above and to help compensate
for the changes, 90 new Arterio trains will be introduced which are designed to
improve reliability and to ensure sufficient passenger capacity.
19. At a high level much of the SWR network across Surrey will maintain May 2019
service levels and frequencies. There are, however, some significant reductions
in train frequency affecting stations in Mole Valley and Epsom & Ewell.
Bookham will be the only station across the SWR network to be served by just
an hourly off-peak service. SWR have predicated the timetable revisions for
Dorking, Leatherhead, Ashtead and Epsom on alternative services being
provided by Southern. Of course, there may be a similar consultation on
Southern services in the future. Woking will see a reduction of 4 trains per hour
in the AM peak. To provide context, it is worth noting that the 07.42 ex Woking
to Waterloo was previously one of the most over-crowded trains in the country
as identified by the Department for Transport.
20. The ambition of improved train reliability and punctuality, and the introduction of
new rolling stock is welcome. However, the proposed reduction in service
frequencies is not consistent with the county council’s climate change ambitions
or the emerging Surrey Transport Plan and will provide significant detriment to
the communities affected, noting that the December 2022 timetable is the
blueprint for future services. The research undertaken by SWR to arrive at this
position is not comprehensive or fully informed. The driver for service
reductions, and consequently the impact on Mole Valley and Epsom & Ewell
appears to be around overall service reliability improvements across the whole
network and not about our local communities.
Recommendations:
21. The views and comments of the Communities, Environment and Highways
Select Committee are sought on the changes proposed by SWR through this
consultation so that these may be included in a formal response to SWR, as
part of the county council’s formal response to the consultation.
Next steps:
CEH Select Committee to provide a detailed commentary for inclusion in a formal
letter from the Cabinet Member for Transport & Infrastructure to SWR by the
deadline of 19 September 2021.

Page 19

Report contact
Paul Millin, Strategic Transport Group Manager, Highways and Transport
Contact details
07968 832573 paul.millin@surreycc.gov.uk
Sources/background papers
South Western Railway 2022 Timetable Consultation – Annexe 1
South Western Railway network map – Annexe 2
A New Rail Strategy for Surrey 2021
Surrey Local Transport Plan 4 (Draft)
Transport for the South East’s Transport Strategy

Page 20

Timetable
consultation
December 2022

Page 21

2 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

Contents
3
4
5
7
8
12

Foreword
About this consultation
South Western Railway
who we are and what we do
About Network Rail
Context
Passenger forecasts
Route by route specifications

14

39
41
42
43

16

Main Suburban routes

21

Windsor routes

27

Mainline routes

34

West of England routes

37

Island Line routes

37

Salisbury to Bristol Temple Meads

37

Heart of Wessex

Outcomes
FAQs
Feedback questions and how you can respond
What happens next?

Some images in this document were taken before Covid.

Page 22

3 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

Foreword
We are acutely aware that in the past we have
responded to ever growing customer demand
by increasing the number of trains on the South
Western Railway (SWR) network, often at the
expense of the performance and reliability of our
services. But, as we emerge from the Covid-19
pandemic, we have a unique opportunity to build
back a better railway for the future.
Since March 2020, we have been supported by
the Government to run a reduced service that has
kept key workers moving. This period has shown
that our performance improves significantly when
we are able to run fewer trains while still meeting
customer demand for our services. Customer
satisfaction has also increased in this period.
Even though passengers are now returning to
the railways, all the forecasts suggest they will
not return to pre-Covid levels for the foreseeable
future. While we have had to adapt our timetable
to changing circumstances at short notice over
the past 16 months, now is the time to start
planning for a long-term timetable that will retain
and build on the reliability improvements we’ve
made, meet the forecast demand and provide
value for the taxpayer while balancing other
local and national priorities.

SWR, Network Rail and the Department for
Transport are therefore undertaking a strategic
review of our timetable. We are proposing changes
which, while resulting in a slight reduction in
frequencies, will still deliver capacity at 93% of
pre-Covid levels and improve significantly on the
current timetable. This is well in excess of current
demand and the forecasts set out in this document.
We will do this by introducing 90 new Arterio trains,
which offer greater capacity and the promise of
better reliability, as well as providing additional
carriages on many of our existing services.
The result will be a more robust train service
across the SWR network that meets new travel
patterns as we emerge from the pandemic.
Before we commence any detailed timing work,
we are keen to consult with key stakeholders
across our network: elected representatives,
passenger groups, business organisations and
those working in the transport sector.
This is an opportunity to comment on the
approach we are taking as part of the strategic
review of our timetable. We invite you to read this
consultation document and share your views.

Claire Mann
Managing Director
South Western Railway

Mark Killick
Route Director Wessex
Network Rail

Page 23

4 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

About this consultation
We want to know what you think about our strategic
approach – this is not about the timetabling of
individual services, but about proposed frequencies,
route by route. These changes require us to consider
our whole network.
We are considering a specification for services
rather than specific trains or a timetable. It is for
that reason that we are consulting with a defined
set of organisations, which have a strategic
or representative role rather than the wider
community. You may wish, of course, to canvass
opinion before responding to this consultation.
This document provides more context to our
approach and sets out the planned frequencies
on each route.
There is a set of FAQs and also a number of
questions which we invite you to respond to.
You are welcome to tell us what else you think
we need to know, as we finalise our plans for
submission. Full details on how to respond are set
out later in this document.

Page 24

Between SWR and Network Rail, we are
committed to delivering the best service we can
for our customers and communities. We want
to make best use of our investment in new trains
that offer so much more in terms of capacity,
reliability and comfort.
We have a real opportunity now to make our
network fit for purpose – and we want you to help
us shape that future.
Please take the time to consider what we are
proposing and let us have your feedback by the
closing date of 19th September 2021.

5 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

South Western Railway
who we are and what we do

South Western Railway connects people and
communities across South West London and the
South West of England. Serving over 200 stations
every day, our network has historically been one of
the busiest in the UK.
A joint venture between two of the world’s leading
rail companies – FirstGroup and MTR – we focus
on delivering improvements for our customers
every day. Our network comprises urban,
suburban, regional, and long-distance routes, and
our customers are commuters as well as those
travelling for business and leisure. We support
access to jobs, training, and education, as well as
the leisure economy in many locations.
From London Waterloo to Weymouth, Windsor
to the Isle of Wight, SWR provides access to
the capital, regional centres, airports, ports,
tourist destinations, and major events, such
as Wimbledon and those at Twickenham.
With more than 5,000 colleagues, our people
are the key to doing so.
In May 2021, SWR was awarded a National
Rail Contract by the Department for Transport,
recognising the essential role we have to play
in building back better. Under this contract, we
are driving efficiency in our operation, while
encouraging customers to return to rail.

Page 25

As part of the contract, SWR is paid a
management fee to run the railway to a defined
budget each year, while all revenues are paid direct
to HM Government. We are incentivised to deliver
an excellent service to our customers and strive to
deliver the best possible value for the taxpayer.
At the same time, we are playing our role in
reducing carbon dioxide emissions across our
fleet and in our stations, running a railway that is
sustainable, as well as safe and efficient. Rail is
inherently more sustainable than other modes of
transport, but we are going further, investing in low
emissions technologies, and diverting zero waste
to landfill.
We are committed to helping build the economic
and social prosperity of the UK and the south
western communities we serve. Through our
Customer and Communities Improvement Fund
and Community Rail initiatives, we are investing
more than £5 million in the region.
We collaborate closely with partners, such as the
Department for Transport, the British Transport
Police and other stakeholders. Together, we work
hard to ensure that the people of the South West
get the most out of life.

6 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

CURRENT SWR NETWORK

Milton Keynes,
Birmingham and the North

London
Victoria

London
Waterloo

Watford Junction

Yarmouth

Witley

The
Watercress
Line

Alresford

Crawley

Three
Bridges

Pulborough

Havant
Bedhampton
Chichester
Hilsea

Redhill

Billingshurst

Petersfield
Rowlands Castle

Cosham

New
Addington

Horsham

Liss

Portchester

East
Croydon

Gatwick
Airport

Haslemere
Liphook

Elmers End

Ashtead
Leatherhead
Box Hill &
Westhumble
Dorking

Bookham

Beckenham
Junction

te
iga
Re
rth
wo
tch
Be

Swanage

Milford

Haywards
Heath

Arundel
Barnham

Bognor Regis

Worthing
Hove
Shoreham
Littlehampton

Eastbourne,
Hastings,
Ashford International
and the South East

Brighton

Fratton
Gosport
Cowes

Isle of
Wight

Ryde Pier Head

Portsmouth &
Southsea
Portsmouth Harbour
Southsea Hoverport

Wootton

Brading
Sandown
Lake
Shanklin

Ventnor

Page 26

Network Map
Connections to:

Ryde Esplanade
Ryde St. Johns Road

Isle of Wight Steam Railway
To Channel Islands
& France

Alton

Fareham

ld
fie

y
ole
rth
Po
wo
th
m
ea
Ha
nH
lto
m
Ho
ha
are
W

l
oo
n
W
o
t
re
ter
es
Mo
rch
Do outh
S
y
we
Up

Swanage
Railway

Farncombe
Godalming

Cobham &
Stoke D’Abernon

Effingham
Junction

Guildford

Bentley

Lymington Town
Lymington Pier

e
yn
Ra

n
ay
lto
l
Sw
Mi
ira
m
w
be
Ad
Ne
om
on
sc
ch
nt
Bo
ur
Hi
or
tch
nf
ris
ow
Ch
th
sd
ou
ke
Po
em
n
e
ur
Bo ksom
an
ne
Br
sto
rk
Pa

Bournemouth
Airport

Maiden
Newton

ok
ro
llb
ge
Mi
rid
st)
re
db
Fo
Re
n
w
e
tto
(N
To
d
rst
oa
hu
u R st
As
lie
ur
au
nh
Be
ke
oc
Br

Thornford

Swaythling
Bitterne
Hedge End
Woolston
Town
Sholing
Quay
Netley
Botley
Hamble
Bursledon
Hythe
Swanwick

Farnham

y
on
nd
rsle
Ho
Cla

)
ing ne
rk de
Do eep
(D
ing
rk
Do est
W

Romsey

Basingstoke

Worplesdon
ad
Ro )
on ord
nd f
Lo (Guild

all
sh
m
Go
th
or
ilw
Ch
d
or
alf
Sh

Southampton
Airport Parkway

Southampton
Central

Ash Vale
mp
Ash
Ca
rth
No
Wanborough
Hook
Aldershot

Micheldever
Winchester
Shawford
Eastleigh

Chandler’s Ford

St. Denys

Yetminster

Weymouth

Dean

Mottisfont &
Dunbridge

Exmouth

Chetnole

ton
er
Ov
ch
ur
ch
hit
W
r
ve
do
An
ley
ate
Gr

Sherborne

Exeter Airport

Dorchester
West

y
ur
sb
ali

e
rn
ke
ew
Cr
ter
ins
m
Ax ton
ni
Ho

Yeovil
Pen Mill

Yeovil
Junction

on
nit
Fe
ple
him
k
W
oo
br
an
Cr
e
ho
Pin
r
ete al
Ex entr
C

Paignton,
Plymouth and
Penzance

Yeovil
Bus Station

Tiverton
Parkway

Exeter
St. Davids

Castle Cary

Farnborough North
Fleet
Winchfield

Warminster

S
ry
bu
Tis
am
gh
llin
Gi mbe
co
ple
m
Te

Bruton

Blackwater

Bramley

Frome

Taunton

Okehampton
and North Devon

Mortimer

Frimley

d
oo
kw
oo
Br

Newbury

Bristol Airport

Camberley

Sandhurst

gh
rou
bo
rn
Fa

rk
Pa

y
ur
tb
es
W
e
idg
br
ow
Tr
dfor
ad on
Br n-Av
o
a
Sp
th
Ba

am
sh
yn
Ke

eld
dfi
Ol

Bristol
Temple Meads

Reading West

Kensington
ick
isw
e (Olympia)
Vauxhall
Ch
idg
Br
s
h
rne
Queenstown
ort
Ba s
w
y
s
Road
rne tne nd wn
Ba Pu Wa To
Clapham
Junction

Mortlake Wimbledon
Strawberry
ck
Hill
Wi
ton
n
ton
ton
ing
sto
p
d
g
rbi
d
m
Kin
Te
No
Ha
New
Malden
Hampton Court
Berrylands
Thames Ditton
Chertsey
Motspur
Surbiton
Esher
Park
Hersham
Addlestone Walton-onThames
Worcester
Hinchley
Park
Wood
Byfleet &
Weybridge
New Haw
Stoneleigh
Claygate Chessington
Ewell
West Byfleet
South
West
West
Woking
Croydon
Oxshott
Epsom

Bagshot

Crowthorne

Reading

Shepherd’s Bush

rls link
Ea
am
ark
Tr
sP

Bath, Bristol, South Wales
and the West Country

ts
n
m
ee
ha rgare ond
Sh
en
ick t. Ma ichm orth
R
N
Tw
S

Staines Ashford
Feltham
rk
ord
Pa
llif
on
Ha
ry
ert
ton
ton
ell
er
bu
pp
p
mp
e
n
mp
lw
Fu
Sh
Up
Su
Ke
Ha

Reading to Gatwick Airport

South Wales, Birmingham
and the North

n
itto
Wh

Wraysbury

w
Ke

e
idg
Br

n
lde or
Ma an h
M rt
o
lw
n
To
gto th
sin or
es N
Ch

n
ro
He
ns
ell
rti
kn
Ma
ac
m
Br
ha
ing
sh
ok
er
W
inn
W
gle
ian
Tr
y
sh
rle
er
Ea
inn
W

m
ha
Eg
r
ate
W
ia
s
gin
s
Vir
cro
ng
le
Lo
da
ing
t
nn
co
Su
As

Sunnymeads

rd
tfo
en
Br

Heathrow
Airport

Datchet

Oxford, Birmingham
and the North

ne
La
on
th
Sy
or
ew
w
Isl
slo
un
Ho

Windsor &
Eton Riverside

Smallbrook
Junction

To France & Spain

Other services

London Underground

Bus links

London Overground

Ferry links and
Hovercraft links

Tramlink

Heritage Railways

7 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

About Network Rail
Network Rail owns, operates and develops Britain’s
railway infrastructure. That’s 20,000 miles of
track, 30,000 bridges, tunnels and viaducts and the
thousands of signals, level crossings and stations.
Across the Wessex route we look after 1,300 miles
of track and manage three key stations including
Britain’s busiest, London Waterloo.
We exist to get people and goods where they
need to be and to support our country’s economic
prosperity and our role is to run a safe, reliable
and efficient railway, serving customers and
communities.
Our vision is ‘Putting Passengers First’.
We’re becoming a company that is on the side
of passengers and freight users; that is easy to
engage with and is an efficient and dependable
partner; a company people are proud to work for;
instinctively recognised as an industry leader.
We also want to make sure our railway is green,
resilient to climate change, and able to provide
an excellent service for years to come. As well
as improving the lives of millions every day, rail
has a vital role to play in supporting sustainable
economic recovery and growth while also helping
Government to meet ambitious zero-carbon
targets. We’re already on the journey towards
becoming a truly sustainable railway and have
published our 30-year environmental sustainability
strategy. Our commitment to wider sustainable
development goals, including social value, are also
very important to us; there are social benefits
to everything we do, and we are committed to
supporting our local communities.

Page 27

Passengers are at the heart of our decision
making. We run the company through routes that
understand how to meet the needs of the areas
they serve. They operate, maintain and renew
infrastructure to deliver a safe and reliable railway
for passengers and freight customers. Our regions
encompass multiple routes and transport hubs
to better align operations with passengers’ and
communities’ needs.
We work in close collaboration with South Western
Railway and other industry stakeholders to deliver
the best possible customer experience. Working
together, we aim to make the right decisions to
create a railway that is efficient, effective and
embedded in the communities we serve.

8 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

Context
This consultation document sets out our plans for
running a more robust train service across the SWR
network, that meets the new travel patterns as we
emerge from the pandemic. This section sets out
what we need to consider in managing our network,
the current performance of the network, and how
the December 2022 timetable can build on this.
A balanced approach
In running the network, SWR and Network Rail work in collaboration with the Department for Transport
to balance a number of key priorities.
Between us we have agreed six key objectives for delivering railway services across the region.
These have guided our thinking as we have developed our proposals for the December 2022 timetable:

Meeting demand
ensuring our services provide sufficient capacity
to meet current and forecast demand

Making efficient use of resources
continually driving best value for the taxpayer in the service we deliver

Maximising revenue
encouraging and facilitating the return of customers to the railway

Improving performance
planning services that can be routinely delivered
on time and recover quickly from disruption

Ensuring infrastructure maintainability and capability
running a service that matches the capability of the
infrastructure and facilitates ongoing maintenance

Responding to stakeholder input
taking into account the views of stakeholders across our network

Page 28

9 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

Background
Network Rail will publish in July 2021 the South
West Main Line Strategic Study, which sets out the
future strategy for Main Line services into London
Waterloo in the period to 2050. This study looks
at several demand scenarios, including before the
pandemic, and for potential low, medium and high
demand afterwards. It is recognised in the study
that service levels had been reduced during the
pandemic and there is still uncertainty around
long-term travels patterns as customers return.
The study also recognises that, pre-Covid, the
need to squeeze additional services into what
has historically been the UK’s busiest network to
meet ever-growing demand on the Main Line into
London Waterloo had led to poor performance and
passenger overcrowding issues over a sustained
period. During the pandemic, we have been
supported by the Government to run a reduced
service that has kept key workers moving.
This period has shown that performance and

customer satisfaction improve significantly
when we are able to run fewer trains while still
meeting demand for our services.
We have also been able to improve performance
during the pandemic as Network Rail has reduced
the number of speed restrictions on the network.
These can be imposed for a variety of reasons,
but can all have an impact on the performance of
the service. Work has involved both carrying out
preventative activities at key sites and being more
responsive to any new restrictions imposed.
Overall, Network Rail removed 23% more speed
restrictions in 2020/21 than in 2019/20 and the
number of restrictions impacting the train service
reduced significantly by 37%. Running fewer
trains reduces the pressure on our infrastructure,
resulting in fewer infrastructure-related incidents.
This means that we don’t need to impose as many
speed restrictions onto our network.

Customer satisfaction: We understand that a consistently delivered, high performing
timetable is a key driver of satisfaction for our customers. While there are other factors
that influence our scores, it is notable that overall customer satisfaction improved by
22% between the start of the pandemic in March 2020 and March 2021, coinciding
with the improved performance shown by the graph below.

Historic PPM trend
94%
92%
Moving annual average (MAA)
90%
88%
86%
84%
82%
80%
2013

2014

2015

2016

2017

2018

2019

2020

2021

2022

Financial year and rail period
The table above shows SWR’s historic downward trend against the published public performance measures as
additional services were added to the network and the dramatic improvement during the pandemic.

Page 29

10 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

As passengers return to the railway, it is essential
that measures to ensure that the service can be
operated robustly and resiliently are identified
and implemented.

While we don’t want to return to the overcongested infrastructure we saw before the
pandemic, it is important that the railway is able
to adapt to changing patterns in demand.

This post-Covid period of expected lower demand
provides an opportunity to reintroduce trains as
required, in a way that better balances capacity
and performance.

The service levels set out in this document leave
us some capability to introduce additional new
train paths at a later date and SWR and Network
Rail will work with the Department for Transport to
continually review our timetable in the future.

The December 2022 timetable is therefore seen
as the base for our long-term service provision,
from which demand will grow as more passengers
return to the railway.

Adapting to future growth
Along with the rest of the rail industry, SWR and NR are working hard to reassure our
customers and encourage them to return to the railways when they are ready.
The timetable we are specifying for December 2022 will leave some space for additional
train paths to be introduced to accommodate future growth as it is needed.
We are committed to working with our local communities and stakeholders to match
capacity to demand in the future, based on robust business cases that can demonstrate
value for the taxpayer.

Page 30

11 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

What this means for the December 2022 timetable
Taking this into account, our proposals for the
December 2022 timetable have been informed
by three key considerations:

often have wide-reaching impacts. It also reduces
the pressure on our infrastructure, helping us to
maintain its resilience.

•

Our experience of running the railway during
the pandemic;

•

What our customers are telling us about their
future travel patterns;

•

The arrival of our new Arterio trains.

This position is supported by what our customers
are telling us – as set out in the following section
our research data reveals that commuter travel is
likely to recover to just 60% of pre-Covid demand.
The number is similar for business travellers,
while leisure travel is forecast to bounce back
to the same levels as before the pandemic.
The service levels we have included in this
specification leave sufficient excess capacity
to accommodate variations in daily and peak
demand as customers return.

Prior to the pandemic, the performance of our
train service too often fell short of our customers’
expectations as we sought to meet demand by
providing additional services on already very
busy tracks. The past 16 months have confirmed
in practice what we already knew to be the case
in theory: running fewer trains increases overall
reliability and there is now an opportunity to
embed this in our future timetabling.
The slight extension of gaps between services
provides us with a more robust buffer for when we
experience delays on our network. With a more
densely packed timetable, very minor delays can

We have invested £1 billion in our new trains,
known as Arterio. This brand new fleet of 90
trains, which is replacing some of the oldest
rolling stock on the network, will transform
travel on our Reading, Windsor and West
London suburban routes. The new fleet will
offer more capacity, as well as better reliability
and punctuality for our customers.

Arterio
Our brand new fleet of 90 trains is set to
transform travel on our Reading, Windsor
and West London suburban routes.
Our investment of £1 billion in these trains
will result in improved performance for
hundreds of thousands of customers.
The 750-carriage fleet can carry more people,
whilst larger, driver operated doors can allow
customers to board and alight more easily.
These trains are more sustainable than the
current fleet serving the suburban network.
Regenerative braking means that they use up to
30% less energy, with electricity sent back into
the conductor rail during braking.

Page 31

The fleet offers free onboard Wi-Fi and live
on-train customer information systems will
deliver real-time travel updates. This will allow
our customers to plan their onward journeys
whilst still onboard.
The fleet also delivers greater comfort
and convenience for customers, with air
conditioning, improved toilet facilities and
dedicated cycle racks available across the fleet.
For every five-car train, three bike spaces will
be made available for customers, and six spaces
on every ten-car train.

12 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

12 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

Passenger forecasts
Assessing the needs and likely demand from our
customers is a core element in developing our
future timetable design. At each stage of the
process, we have incorporated our anticipated
levels of future demand across the SWR network
for all the customers who travel with us.
Our customers use SWR services for many
different reasons, be that commuting, business
travel to commercial centres or to make leisure
journeys, such as visiting friends and relatives
or day trips to the beach or one of the many
attractions we serve.

To inform decision making across our business,
SWR commissioned multiple waves of detailed
research with our customers to understand
their needs as we emerge from the pandemic,
referencing the different journeys they take –
commuting, business and leisure1 .

Our approach to assessing the likely future
demand for SWR services has taken into account
that our current situation in the midst of the
pandemic is not representative of the anticipated
long-term demand for our services. The Office
for Budget Responsibility’s latest forecasts
indicate that we expect to be in a stable (‘new
normal’) position by the end of 2022 when this
timetable launches. Therefore, our focus has been
to understand in detail what the demand for our
services is likely to be at the end of 2022, into 2023
and beyond.

A critical output of this research has been to
understand our customers’ preferences for
travelling in the future, particularly during the
morning and evening peaks where historically our
services have been heavily crowded. The research
considers the whole network – in practice, figures
will vary from route to route.

1

KSBR BrandFutures for South Western Railway, May 2020, October 2020 and January 2021

Page 32

13 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

The headlines from this research demonstrate that, whilst our leisure customers expect to get back
to normal soon, in line with recent evidence from them returning to the network, our commuter and
business traveller expectations have shifted markedly. The pandemic has dramatically accelerated
the long-term trend of decline in the traditional Monday to Friday commute2. Our research indicates
that future travel expectations for our commuting and business customers are significantly below
their pre-pandemic levels:

Pre-Covid

Short-term

Post-vaccine

Commuted

Expected to commute

Expect to commute

4.3

Commuter

2.3

days a week by SWR

days a week

54%

Travelled for business
purposes

58.6

Business

pre-Covid level

Expect to travel for
business purposes

Expect to travel for
business purposes

times a year

52%

Travelled for leisure
purposes

36.5

times a year

62%

of pre-Covid level

of pre-Covid level

Expect to travel for leisure
purposes

Expect to travel for leisure
purposes

8.7

21.4

Leisure

60%

of pre-Covid level

30.6

times a year

2.6

days a week

times a year

times a year

41%

of pre-Covid level

22.4

times a year

105%

of pre-Covid level

Within the timetable planning process, we have incorporated anticipated future demand by
combining the data from our research with the demand we saw for our services in 2019 to
produce a future demand model.
Prior to Covid, our customer mix was made up of 53% commuter journeys, 12% business journeys
and 35% leisure journeys. By matching this journey mix to the forecasts above, we are able to predict
that total journeys across our network will return to around 76% of our pre-pandemic level.
This compares to the overall capacity provision set out in this specification of 93%, leaving headroom
for additional growth and variations in daily and hourly demand as new patterns of travel emerge.
We have used our future demand model to set the specifications of our peak and off peak services
by line of route to ensure that it will meet the needs of our customers, balanced against our other
requirements, such as taxpayer value. The next section sets out how this will work by line of route.

2

DfT Commuting trends in England, 1988 – 2015 (published in November 2017)

Page 33

14 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

14 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

Route by route specifications
In this section, we have set out the proposed frequency specification by individual
line of route, together with an explanation for this, where it differs from the previous
May 2019 timetable.
We divide our lines of route into four areas – the Main Suburban routes, Windsor routes,
Mainline routes and the West of England. On top of this, we operate Island Line on the
Isle of Wight, which is also referenced in this document.
These routes serve different parts of our region and have different characteristics.
The Main Suburban routes, for example, principally serve London and its suburbs
and have a metro character, while the Mainline routes cross a large part of southern
England and support longer journeys.
There are also places where these routes overlap – particularly as they approach
London. These have historically been the places where our network becomes most
congested, impacting performance and reliability. The changes we are proposing to
specific lines of route within each area are designed to reduce pressure at these points.
Throughout the document we are comparing our service levels to two points in time
– the May 2019 timetable that was in place pre-Covid and the May 2021 timetable
that is in place today.

Summary of high peak capacity into London Waterloo
The capacity arriving into London Waterloo in the high peak hour will remain broadly
the same as pre-Covid levels. The specification set out below covers Monday to
Saturday services. The Sunday service pattern is not included in this consultation.

December 2022 AM
high peak hour capacity

December 2022 AM high peak hour capacity as % of
May 2019

May 2021

Mainline

15,776

98%

118%

Main Suburban

25,537

100%

138%

West of England

1,624

100%

106%

Windsor Lines

19,504

98%

144%

Total

62,441

96%

133%

December 2022 AM
high peak hour seats

December 2022 AM high peak hour seats as % of
May 2019

May 2021

Mainline

11,320

93%

117%

Main Suburban

12,054

86%

120%

West of England

1,235

100%

106%

Windsor Lines

8,736

92%

123%

Total

33,345

90%

119%

*High peak hour is defined as arrivals into London Waterloo between 0800 and 0859. High peak hour seats includes only seating capacity,
whilst high peak capacity also includes an allowance for standing.

Page 34

15 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

15 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

Easing congestion into London Waterloo
As our services approach London Waterloo, they merge and operate over three pairs
of lines: Fast Lines, Slow Lines, and Windsor Lines.
This is the point on our network that is most congested and requires a complex set
of interactions and crossing moves to allow trains to reach the correct platforms.
Our approach to the December 22 timetable has been to reduce the number of
services operating to Waterloo on each of the pairs of lines, to allow this pinch point
to flow more freely thereby making the timetable more resilient.
The tables below show the specification for each of the pains of Fast Lines,
Slow Lines and Windsor Lines.
AM high peak trains per hour to London
May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

Fast lines from Woking & Surbiton

25

18

21

Slow Lines from Wimbledon

18

14

16

Windsor Lines through Putney

17

13

16

Total

60

45

53

Off peak trains per hour to London
May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

Fast lines from Woking & Surbiton

14

10

13

Slow Lines from Wimbledon

16

14

14

Windsor Lines through Putney

12

8

10

Total

42

32

37

Page 35

16 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

16 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

MAIN SUBURBAN ROUTES
The Main Suburban routes serve London, its suburbs and the
surrounding towns. Historically, they have seen large volumes of
travel by commuters and business customers. As routes converge
on London, there are specific points in the network that can
become easily congested – particularly between London Waterloo
and Wimbledon.
We are therefore proposing to not to reinstate certain services where usage is lower
or there is alternative provision to reduce congestion at these points, whilst aiming
to maintain a two trains per hour (tph) frequency for most routes. For example, in the
off-peak we are proposing not to reinstate certain services between London Waterloo,
Epsom, and Leatherhead from four to two per hour. This involves reducing services
to Dorking from two to one per hour as customers for station between Epsom and
Dorking are able to use alternative services to London provided by Southern.
Also, we are proposing not to reinstate one of the two previous Guildford via
Leatherhead services; this will leave Bookham with an hourly service, however, this
station has relatively low off-peak usage with an average of five people per train in the
May 2019 timetable.
Customers between Effingham Junction and Guildford have alternative faster
services via Cobham. Similarly in the peak, we are proposing not to reinstate two of the
six previous services per hour.
In the AM peak our Woking to London Waterloo stopping services suffered from poor
reliability as they involved a complex operation involving a crossing move from the
slow lines to the fast lines at Surbiton. This had a detrimental effect on performance
across the network. We are therefore proposing not to reinstate one of the five previous
services per hour.
We recognise these were busy trains, so we will alter some trains that previously
ran through Kingston to instead start from Surbiton and run to London Waterloo
on the slow lines. This has the added benefit of providing additional direct journey
opportunities from Surbiton to Wimbledon and Clapham Junction while maintaining
frequency for intermediate stations.
By reducing congestion between London Waterloo and Wimbledon, we will aim to
improve performance and reliability. Overall, we will be running two fewer trains in the
off-peak period and three fewer in the peak period – but the majority of routes will
retain the same peak and off-peak frequency as before the pandemic. Services will
also be formed by 10 car Arterio trains, which will offer more capacity.

Page 36

17 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

17 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

Outline specification – Main Suburban AM peak
AM high peak trains per hour to London
May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

Chessington South

2

2

2

Dorking & Epsom

4

2

2

Guildford via Leatherhead

2

2

2

Guildford via Cobham

3

2

3

Hampton Court

2

2

4

Shepperton (via Wimbledon)

2

2

2

Teddington via Wimbledon and Kingston
(excl. Shepperton trains)

4

2

2

Woking

5

3

4

Total

24

17

21

Outline specification – Main Suburban off peak
Off peak trains per hour to London
May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

Chessington South

2

2

2

Dorking

2

1

1

Guildford via Leatherhead

2

1

1

Guildford via Cobham

2

2

2

Hampton Court

2

2

2

Shepperton (via Wimbledon)

2

2

2

Teddington via Wimbledon and Kingston
(excl. Shepperton trains)

2

2

2

Woking

2

2

2

Total

16

14

14

Page 37

18 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

18 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

London Waterloo to Chessington South
Clapham
Junction

London
Waterloo

Motspur
Park

Wimbledon

Vauxhall

Raynes
Park

Earlsfield

Chessington
South

Tolworth

Malden
Manor

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

All stations.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.

Chessington
North

London Waterloo to Dorking
Clapham
Junction

London
Waterloo

Vauxhall

Motspur
Park

Wimbledon

Worcester
Park

Raynes
Park

Earlsfield

Epsom
(Surrey)

Stoneleigh

Dorking
(Main)

Leatherhead

Ewell
West

Ashtead

Box Hill &
Westhumble

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Off peak frequency

One train per hour to/from London.

Calling at

All stations.

Rationale

In order to reduce congestion on the inner parts of the network we propose to reduce
frequency to Epsom and Dorking as these stations are also served by Southern services
from London Bridge and London Victoria.

London Waterloo to Guildford via Leatherhead
London
Waterloo

Clapham
Junction

Vauxhall

Wimbledon

Earlsfield

Raynes
Park

Motspur
Park

Epsom
(Surrey)

Stoneleigh

Worcester
Park

Ewell
West

Leatherhead

Ashtead

Effingham
Junction

Bookham

Horsley

Clandon

Guildford

London Road
(Guildford)

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour hourly to/from London.

Off peak frequency

One train per hour to/from London.

Calling at

All stations.

Rationale

In order to reduce congestion between London Waterloo and Wimbledon we propose not
to reinstate certain services from Guildford via Leatherhead. As above the Epsom line is
also served by Southern services from London Bridge and London Victoria, while stations
between Effingham Junction and London Road (Guildford) are served by services via
Cobham, which is the faster route to London.
Bookham will therefore be the only station to receive one train per hour. This station has
relatively low use off peak, with an average of 5 people using each service in May 2019.

Page 38

19 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

19 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

London Waterloo to Guildford via Cobham
Clapham
Junction

London
Waterloo

Vauxhall

Hinchley
Wood

Wimbledon

Earlsfield

Oxshott

Cobham &
Stoke d’Abernon

Claygate

Surbiton

Effingham
Junction

Clandon

Guildford

London Road
(Guildford)

Horsley

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London plus an additional fast service.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

Calling at Vauxhall, Clapham Junction, Earlsfield, Wimbledon, Surbiton and then all stations.
One additional AM and PM peak service into London running fast from Surbiton to
London Waterloo.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.

London Waterloo to Hampton Court
Clapham
Junction

London
Waterloo

Vauxhall

New
Malden

Wimbledon

Raynes
Park

Earlsfield

Hampton
Court

Surbiton

Thames
Ditton

Berrylands

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London with 3 additional services across both peaks running
between Surbiton and London.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

Calling at all stations. An additional, three trains into London over the AM peak starting at
Surbiton and calling at all stations except Berrylands.

Rationale

Additional services operate to Surbiton to compensate for the removal of some peak services
to Woking and provide additional stopping services from Surbiton to London Waterloo.

London Waterloo to Shepperton (via Wimbledon)
Clapham
Junction

London
Waterloo

Vauxhall

New
Malden

Wimbledon

Earlsfield

Raynes
Park

Kingston

Norbiton

Hampton
(London)

Teddington

Hampton
Wick

Fulwell

Sunbury

Kempton
Park

Shepperton

Upper
Halliford

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

Calling at all stations during the peak.
Calling at all stations except Earlsfield during the off peak and at weekends.

Rationale

These services have a tight turnaround at each end of the route and removing Earlsfield in
the off peak improves the resilience of these services. Direct services are maintained from
Earlsfield to Kingston. Earlsfield is a heavy commuter station and still maintains 12 trains
per hour off peak from London.
Norbiton, Kingston, Hampton Wick, Teddington are also served by London to Teddington
via Wimbledon and Kingston services.

Page 39

20 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

20 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

London Waterloo to Teddington via Wimbledon and Kingston
London
Waterloo

Clapham
Junction

Earlsfield

Vauxhall

New
Malden

Wimbledon

Raynes
Park

Teddington

Kingston

Hampton
Wick

Norbiton

Strawberry
Hill

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

Calling at all stations.

Rationale

A small number of AM peak services that previously serviced Kingston will instead start
from Surbiton. This will allow an increase in capacity and provide additional direct journeys
in the AM peak from Surbiton to Wimbledon and Clapham Junction while maintaining
frequency for intermediate stations.
Norbiton, Kingston, Hampton Wick, Teddington are also served by London to
Shepperton services.

London Waterloo to Woking (stopping services)
Clapham
Junction

London
Waterloo

Vauxhall

Wimbledon

Earlsfield

Walton-onThames

Esher

Surbiton

Hersham

Byfleet &
New Haw

Weybridge

Woking

West
Byfleet

Peak frequency

Four trains per hour.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

Calling at Vauxhall, Clapham Junction, Earlsfield, Wimbledon, Surbiton and then all stations.
AM Peak services fast from Surbiton to London Waterloo.
Two PM peak services per hour fast from London Waterloo to Surbiton. The other two have
the off peak calling pattern.

Rationale

As set out above, to improve operational resilience we will not reinstate one of the previous
Woking stopping services in the peak. This will be off-set by additional stopping services
from Surbiton to London Waterloo.

Page 40

21 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

21 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

WINDSOR ROUTES
The Windsor routes include services between south-west London,
Windsor and Reading. This means that it takes in a number of
routes which run cross-country, such as that between Ascot to
Frimley. Reading is an important regional centre, which attracts
commuter and business journeys. We respond to this through the
new specification – for example, we will run an additional peak
service between Ascot and Reading to meet this demand.
As with the Main Suburban routes, many of the journeys that take place on these
routes are to and from London. Historically, there have been high proportions of
commuters and business customers. This means that the Windsor routes have also
suffered from the effects of congestion between London Waterloo and Staines.
We will directly address sources of congestion in the new timetable. There is a major
pinch-point at Queenstown Road where the tracks reduce from four to three lines – this
has historically led to delays. We will therefore not reinstate four of the eight previous
trains calling at this station, improving the flow of services through the area.
Services to Kingston (via Richmond) and Weybridge (via Brentford) will continue to call
at Queenstown Road, maintaining westbound services to stations previously served.
The Northern line extension to Battersea Power Station is due to open in Autumn 2021
and will provide an alternative route to Central London.
To alleviate congestion between Richmond and London in the peak we are not
reinstating one of the four previous direct Reading to London Waterloo services. The
majority of stations on the corridor are served by alternative services from Aldershot
(via Ascot) and Windsor. All services will be operated by our new, higher capacity
Arterio trains.
We are also proposing not to reinstate services where there has been low usage or
where there is alternative provision. Currently, trains running along the Hounslow loop
run from London Waterloo, to Hounslow, and back. In the off-peak period, services will
only run between London Waterloo and Twickenham via Hounslow. This will improve
the resilience of the timetable between Richmond and London.
Overall, these changes would see us not reinstate 2 of the previous 12 trains per hour
in the off-peak period and 1 of the previous 17 trains per hour in the peak period on the
Windsor lines. However, the new Arterio trains have greater capacity than the trains
they replace, allowing us to reduce costs and improve performance. We also expect
that addressing congestion at Queenstown Road will significantly improve the reliability
of services on the Windsor routes.

Page 41

22 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

22 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

Outline specification – Windsor peak
AM high peak trains per hour to London
May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

Reading

4

2

3

Windsor

2

2

2

Weybridge via Brentford

2

2

2

Kingston via Richmond

2

2

2

Shepperton via Twickenham

2

2

2

Hounslow via Richmond

0

0

1

Hounslow via Brentford

3

2

2

Aldershot via Ascot

2

1

2

Total

17

13

16

Outline specification – Windsor off peak
Off peak trains per hour to London
May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

Reading

2

2

2

Windsor

2

2

2

Weybridge via Brentford

2

2

2

Kingston via Richmond

2

2

2

Hounslow via Richmond

2

0

0

Hounslow via Brentford

2

0

2

Total

12

8

10

Page 42

23 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

23 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

London Waterloo to Reading
Clapham
Junction

London
Waterloo

Vauxhall

Twickenham

Richmond
(London)

Virginia
Water

Staines

Feltham

Egham

Sunningdale

Longcross

Ascot
(Berks)

Martins
Heron

Wokingham

Bracknell

Winnersh
Triangle

Winnersh

Reading

Earley

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London with an additional high peak hour service.
We are running an additional peak service between Ascot and Reading to
service demand to Reading.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

Calling at Vauxhall, Clapham Junction, Richmond, Twickenham, Feltham, Staines
and all stations.
Longcross will continue to have stations calls within the current hours of operation.

Rationale

Reading services will call at Vauxhall all day, improving connectivity to TfL services
and the West End.
To alleviate congestion between Richmond and London Waterloo in the peak we are not
reinstating one of the four previous direct Reading to London Waterloo services.
The route will be served by our new higher capacity Arterio trains and we will aim to even
out the gaps in fast services London to Richmond, Feltham, and Staines.

London Waterloo to Windsor & Eton Riverside
Clapham
Junction

London
Waterloo

Vauxhall

Richmond
(London)

Putney

Whitton
(London)

Twickenham

Ashford
(Surrey)

Feltham

Wraysbury

Staines

Sunnymeads

Datchet

Windsor &
Eton Riverside

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

Calling at Vauxhall, Clapham Junction, Putney, Richmond, Twickenham, Whitton, Feltham,
Ashford, Staines, Wraysbury, Sunnymeads, and Datchet.

Rationale

The route will be served by our new higher capacity Arterio trains and we will aim to even
out the gaps in fast services from London Waterloo to Richmond, Feltham, and Staines.

Page 43

24 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

24 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

London Waterloo to Weybridge via Hounslow
Queenstown Wandsworth
London
Town
Waterloo Road (Battersea)

Clapham
Junction

Vauxhall

Barnes

Putney

Chiswick

Barnes
Bridge

Brentford

Kew
Bridge

Isleworth

Syon
Lane

Feltham

Virginia
Water

Staines

Ashford
(Surrey)

Hounslow

Egham

Addlestone

Chertsey

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

Calling at all stations.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.
Stations between London Waterloo and Hounslow are also served by London Waterloo
to Hounslow via Brentford services.

Weybridge

London Waterloo to Kingston via Richmond
Queenstown
Road (Battersea)

London
Waterloo

Wandsworth
Town

Clapham
Junction

Vauxhall

North
Sheen

Barnes

Richmond
(London)

Mortlake

Putney

St Margarets
(London)

Strawberry
Hill

Twickenham

Hampton
Wick

Teddington

Kingston

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

Calling at all stations.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.
Kingston, Hampton Wick, and Teddington are also served by services from London Waterloo
to Teddington via Wimbledon and Kingston on the Main Suburban routes.

London Waterloo to Shepperton via Twickenham
Clapham
Junction

London
Waterloo

Vauxhall

Putney

Wandsworth
Town

Richmond
(London)

Mortlake

Barnes

North
Sheen

Twickenham

St Margarets
(London)

Fulwell

Strawberry
Hill

Kempton
Park

Hampton
(London)

Upper
Halliford

Sunbury

Shepperton

Peak frequency

Three trains during the AM and PM peaks.

Off peak frequency

Nil.

Calling at

To London Waterloo: two services calling at all stations except Queenstown Road; one service
calling at all stations to Twickenham, Richmond, Clapham Junction and Vauxhall.
From London Waterloo: all three services calling at Vauxhall, Clapham Junction, Putney,
Richmond, Twickenham and then all stations.

Rationale

There is a major pinch-point at Queenstown Road where the tracks reduce from four to three
lines – this has historically led to delays. We therefore propose to remove the Queenstown Road
call from these services improving the flow of services through the area.
Additional services will operate between London Waterloo and Shepperton via Kingston
in the Main Suburban routes.

Page 44

25 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

25 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

London Waterloo to Hounslow via Brentford
Clapham
Junction

London
Waterloo

Wandsworth
Town

Vauxhall

Barnes
Bridge

Putney

Kew
Bridge

Chiswick

Barnes

Syon
Lane

Brentford

Hounslow

Isleworth

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour with most services continuing to London Waterloo via Twickenham.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour with most services continuing to Twickenham.

Calling at

Calling at all stations except Queenstown Road.

Rationale

There is a major pinch-point at Queenstown Road where the tracks reduce from four to three
lines – this has historically led to delays. We therefore propose to remove the Queenstown Road
call from these services improving the flow of services through the area.
Stations between London Waterloo and Hounslow are also served by London Waterloo to
Weybridge via Hounslow services.

London Waterloo to Hounslow via Richmond
Clapham
Junction

London
Waterloo

Vauxhall

Putney

Wandsworth
Town

Mortlake

Barnes

Richmond

North
Sheen

Twickenham

St Margarets
(London)

Hounslow

Whitton
(London)

Peak frequency

In the AM peak, some of these trains will start from Shepperton, with one high peak hour
train starting from Hounslow.
PM peak; two per hour with most services continuing to London Waterloo via Hounslow.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour off-peak from Twickenham to Hounslow. There are some gaps
mid-morning and late afternoon.

Calling at

Calling at all stations except Queenstown Road.

Rationale

There is a major pinch-point at Queenstown Road where the tracks reduce from four to three
lines – this has historically led to delays. We therefore propose to remove the Queenstown
Road call from these services when they operate to London in the peak improving the flow of
services through the area.
Off-peak services will only run between Twickenham and London Waterloo (via Hounslow) to
improve the resilience of the timetable between Richmond and London Waterloo.

Page 45

26 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

26 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

Aldershot to Ascot (including through trains to London)
Frimley

Aldershot

Bagshot

Ash Vale

Ascot
(Berks)

Camberley

Peak frequency

Three through services will operate to London in the AM peak and from London in the
PM peak via Richmond.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour.

Calling at

Calling at all stations.
Through London services calling at all stations between Aldershot and Feltham, plus
Twickenham, Richmond, Clapham Junction, Vauxhall.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.

Guildford to Farnham
Guildford

Farnham

Ash

Wanborough

Aldershot

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour.

Calling at

Calling at all stations.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.

Page 46

27 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

27 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

MAINLINE ROUTES
The Mainline routes include those running west of Woking and
onwards towards Portsmouth, Southampton and Weymouth.
They typically support a wider range of journeys than the Main
Suburban and Windsor routes. Historically, a larger proportion of
customers on these routes have been travelling for leisure purposes.
Forecasts show that demand for leisure travel is likely to return to levels seen before
the pandemic. We have therefore sought to maintain and enhance the services on the
Mainline routes which support this travel as much as possible. Many off-peak services
will run with 8, 10 or 12 carriages to support this leisure demand.
We are proposing, to restore the Weymouth services to two trains an hour in both
off-peak and peak periods providing additional journey opportunities for leisure travel.
Additionally, one of the Weymouth portions will divide at Bournemouth to form a
portion to Poole providing a more even frequency at Branksome and Parkstone as well
as additional journey opportunities on fast services to London.
To improve the efficiency of our service, the London Waterloo to Poole stopping
service will be split into a London Waterloo to Southampton Central semi-fast service
and a Southampton Central to Bournemouth stopping service. This allows the removal
of complex and slow overtaking moves at Brockenhurst and allows us to better match
our capacity to demand.
As the Mainline routes travel into London, they suffer from the same effects of
congestion as the Main Suburban and Windsor routes. We are proposing to remove
the stopping service between London Waterloo and Haslemere to help improve the
resilience of services between London and Woking. The removal of these services
will still provide three trains per hour in the off-peak period at Guildford, Godalming
and Haslemere. These stations are also served by alternative services with enough
capacity to meet demand.
Our forecasts show that there is likely to be less demand in the Haslemere corridor
in peak periods than before the pandemic. We will therefore not reinstate four of the
previous six services per hour in the peak period.
These changes respond to demand expected after the pandemic. Where our forecasts
show demand will return or grow, as for leisure travel, we are proposing to maintain and
enhance services. Where they show reduced demand, we are taking the opportunity to
improve performance and reliability.

Page 47

28 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

28 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

Outline specification – Mainline peak
AM high peak trains per hour to London
May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

Alton

2

2

2

Basingstoke

4

3

4

Portsmouth Direct

6

4

4

Portsmouth via Eastleigh

2

2

1

Southampton & Eastleigh

3

2

3

Total

17

13

14

Outline specification – Mainline off peak
Off peak trains per hour to London
May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

Alton

2

2

2

Basingstoke

2

2

2

Portsmouth Direct

4

2

3

Portsmouth via Eastleigh

1

1

1

Southampton & Eastleigh

3

2

3

Total

12

8

11

Page 48

29 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

29 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

London Waterloo to Alton
London
Waterloo

Surbiton

Clapham
Junction

Woking

West Byfleet

Ash Vale

Farnham

Bentley
(Hants)

Aldershot

Brookwood

Alton

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

To London Waterloo (peak): calling at all stations to Woking and then London Waterloo.
From London Waterloo (peak): calling at Woking then all stations.
Off peak: calling at Clapham Junction (one train per hour), Surbiton, West Byfleet
then all stations.
Bentley is served by one train per hour.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.

London Waterloo to Basingstoke
London
Waterloo

Surbiton

Clapham
Junction

Weybridge

Walton-onThames

Brookwood

Woking

Fleet

Farnborough
(Main)

Hook

Winchfield

Basingstoke

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London plus two additional trains.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

AM peak: calling at all stations to Woking then London Waterloo; plus, two trains during
the peak that call at all stations to Farnborough then London Waterloo.
PM peak: calling at Surbiton, Woking then all stations to Basingstoke; plus two trains
during the peak that call at Brookwood then all stations to Basingstoke.
Off-peak: calling at Clapham Junction (one train per hour), Surbiton, Walton-on-Thames,
Weybridge, Woking then all stations.

Rationale

The off-peak service levels reflect as the May 2019 timetable. Some shoulder peak trains
are withdrawn to reflect reduced commuter demand and to reduce costs.

Page 49

30 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

30 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

London Waterloo to Portsmouth via Guildford (fast)
London
Waterloo

Guildford

Woking

Godalming

Petersfield

Farncombe

Portsmouth
Harbour

Fratton

Portsmouth
& Southsea

Havant

Haslemere

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

To London Waterloo (peak): calling at Fratton, Havant, Petersfield, Haslemere, Godalming,
Guildford and London Waterloo.
From London Waterloo (peak): calling at Woking, Guildford, Godalming, Haslemere,
Petersfield, Havant, Fratton, Portsmouth & Southsea, and Portsmouth Harbour.
Off-peak: calling at Woking, Guildford, Farncombe (one per hour), Godalming, Haslemere,
Petersfield, Havant, Fratton, Portsmouth & Southsea, and Portsmouth Harbour.

Rationale

Farncombe gains a call in one of the fast services so it continues to receive two trains
per hour in the off-peak. This is following the removal of the Waterloo to Haslemere
stopping service.

London Waterloo to Portsmouth via Guildford (slow)
London
Waterloo

Woking

Clapham
Junction

Guildford

Worplesdon

Godalming

Farncombe

Milford
(Surrey)

Witley

Liphook

Haslemere

Petersfield

Liss

Havant

Rowlands
Castle

Hilsea

Bedhampton

Portsmouth
& Southsea

Fratton

Portsmouth
Harbour

Peak frequency

One train per hour to/from London.

Off peak frequency

One train per hour to/from London.

Calling at

From London Waterloo (peak): calling at Guildford then all stations.
From London Waterloo (off peak): calling at Clapham Junction, Woking, then all stations.

Rationale

The London Waterloo to Haslemere stopping service in the peak and off-peak has been
withdrawn to improve resilience of the timetable between London and Woking.
The London Waterloo to Portsmouth (slow) service will now call at all stations south of
Guildford incorporating stops that were previously in the Haslemere stopping service.

Page 50

31 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

31 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

London Waterloo to Portsmouth via Eastleigh
London
Waterloo

Farnborough
(Main)

Woking

Micheldever

Basingstoke

Hedge
End

Shawford

Winchester

Eastleigh

Fareham

Botley

Cosham

Portchester

Portsmouth
Harbour

Fratton

Hilsea

Portsmouth
& Southsea

Peak frequency

One train per hour to/from London.
Additional, hourly, peak services will operate between Winchester and Portsmouth.
Combined with the London trains this will provide two trains per hour on this corridor.

Off peak frequency

One train per hour to/from London.

Calling at

AM peak: calling at all stations to Basingstoke, Woking, and London Waterloo.
PM peak: calling at Woking, Basingstoke, Micheldever, Winchester, Eastleigh then
all stations to Portsmouth.
Off peak: calling at Woking, Farnborough, Basingstoke, Micheldever, Winchester,
Eastleigh then all stations.

Rationale

The off-peak service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.
We propose to only operate one peak service per hour from London Waterloo. The other
peak service will operate between Winchester and Portsmouth. This ensures we still
maintain frequency for local journeys, but allows us to improve the resilience of the
timetable on the congested section to London Waterloo and reduce costs.
Portsmouth is also served by London to Portsmouth via Guildford (fast) services.

London Waterloo to Southampton (semi-fast)
London
Waterloo

Woking

Clapham
Junction

Micheldever

Fleet

Farnborough
(Main)

Basingstoke

Winchester

Shawford

Southampton
Airport Parkway

Eastleigh

Shawford

St Denys

Southampton
Central

Peak frequency

One train per hour to/from London with some AM peak services starting at Eastleigh.

Off peak frequency

One train per hour to/from London.

Calling at

AM peak: calling at all stations to Basingstoke, Woking, London Waterloo.
PM peak: calling at Woking, Basingstoke then all stations.
Off peak: calling at Clapham Junction, Farnborough, Fleet, Basingstoke, Winchester,
Shawford, Eastleigh, and Southampton Airport Parkway.

Rationale

To improve the efficiency of our service the London Waterloo to Poole stopping
service will be split into a London Waterloo to Southampton Central semi-fast service
and a Southampton Central to Bournemouth stopping service. This allows the removal
of complex and slow overtaking moves at Brockenhurst and allows us to better match
our capacity to demand.
Additional services operate between London Waterloo, Winchester, and Southampton
on our London to Bournemouth, Poole, and Weymouth route.

Page 51

32 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

32 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

London Waterloo to Bournemouth, Poole, and Weymouth
London
Waterloo

Weymouth

Clapham
Junction

Upwey

Woking

Dorchester
South

Basingstoke

Moreton
(Dorset)

Winchester

Wool

Southampton Southampton
Brockenhurst
Airport Parkway
Central

Wareham

Holton
Heath

Hamworthy

Poole

New Milton

Parkstone

Christchurch

Pokesdown

Branksome Bournemouth

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour to/from London.

Calling at

AM peak:
• Trains call at all stations to Bournemouth, Southampton Central, Southampton Airport
Parkway, Winchester and London Waterloo. These trains join at Southampton Central
with a service from Bournemouth which has called at all stations to Brockenhurst,
Ashurst and Totton.
PM peak:
• One train per hour: Basingstoke, Winchester, Southampton Airport Parkway,
Southampton Central, Bournemouth, Branksome, Parkstone, Poole, Hamworthy,
Holton Heath, Wareham, Wool, Moreton, Dorchester South, Upwey and Weymouth.
This train divides at Southampton to form a service to Bournemouth calling at
Totton, Ashurst, Brockenhurst then all stations.
• One train per hour: Winchester, Southampton Airport Parkway, Southampton Central,
Bournemouth, Branksome, Parkstone, Poole, Hamworthy, Holton Heath, Wareham, Wool,
Moreton, Dorchester South, Upwey and Weymouth. This train divides at Southampton to
form a service to Poole calling at Totton, Ashurst, Brockenhurst then all stations.
Off peak:
• One train per hour calling at Woking, Winchester, Southampton Airport Parkway,
Southampton Central, Brockenhurst, Bournemouth, Branksome, Parkstone, Poole,
Hamworthy, Wareham, Dorchester South and Weymouth.
• One train per hour calling at Clapham Junction, Basingstoke, Winchester, Southampton
Airport Parkway, Southampton Central, Brockenhurst, New Milton, Christchurch,
Pokesdown, Bournemouth, Poole, Hamworthy, Holton Heath, Wareham, Wool, Moreton,
Dorchester South, Upwey and Weymouth. This train divides at Bournemouth to form a
service to Poole calling at Branksome, Parkstone and Poole.

Rationale

We are proposing to restore the Weymouth services to two trains an hour in both off-peak
and peak periods providing additional journey opportunities for leisure travel. Additionally,
one of the Weymouth portions will divide at Bournemouth to form a portion to Poole
providing a more even frequency at Branksome and Parkstone, as well as additional journey
opportunities on fast services to London.

Page 52

33 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

33 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

Southampton to Bournemouth (slow)
Ashurst
(New Forest)

Southampton

Totton

New
Milton

Brockenhurst

Beaulieu Road

Christchurch

Hinton
Admiral

Sway

Bournemouth

Pokesdown

Peak frequency

Operates as part of through services from London.

Off peak frequency

One train per hour.

Calling at

Calling at Totton, Ashurst (New Forest), Brockenhurst then all stations.
Some services call additionally at Beaulieu Road reflecting May 2019 levels.

Rationale

To improve the efficiency of our service the London Waterloo to Poole stopping
service will be split into a London Waterloo to Southampton Central semi-fast service
and a Southampton Central to Bournemouth stopping service. This allows the removal
of complex and slow overtaking moves at Brockenhurst and allows us to better match
our capacity to demand.

Portsmouth to Southampton
Portsmouth &
Southsea

Portsmouth
Harbour

Fratton

Hilsea

Portchester

Cosham

Swanwick

Fareham

Hamble

Bursledon

Peak frequency

One train per hour.

Off peak frequency

One train per hour.

Calling at

Calling at all stations.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.

Sholing

Netley

Bitterne

Woolston

Southampton
Central

St Denys

Brockenhurst to Lymington
Lymington
Pier

Brockenhurst

Lymington
Town

Peak frequency

Two trains per hour.

Off peak frequency

Two trains per hour.

Calling at

Calling at all stations.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.

Page 53

34 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

34 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

WEST OF ENGLAND ROUTES
The West of England routes serve stations west of Basingstoke,
towards Exeter. It includes areas at one of the edges of our network
and therefore there is some overlap with services operated by
other providers, particularly Great Western Railway (GWR).
The new specification provides an opportunity to look at these
areas of overlap, in the interests of efficiency and effectiveness.
The core service on the West of England line is two trains per hour from London
Waterloo to Salisbury with alternate services extending through to Exeter St Davids.
We have removed a small number of lightly used off-peak services between Salisbury
and Yeovil (via Sherborne). These changes reduce the number of services over the
congested single line sections between Salisbury and Yeovil allowing us to deliver
a more resilient service.
Additionally, SWR will not be reinstating the additional afternoon peak services
between Exeter and Honiton/Axminster. These are an inefficient use of resources
and in some cases have had a negative impact on the performance on the single
line section between Pinhoe and Honiton. SWR will aim instead to provide sufficient
capacity and suitable calling patterns on the existing Waterloo services.
GWR is looking to provide limited extra services between Exeter and Axminster to
supplement the core SWR Exeter – Waterloo service. These would be the basis upon
which to build the Devon Metro aspiration of a two trains per hour frequency between
Exeter and Axminster. This requires investment in additional track capacity between
Pinhoe and Honiton.
The West of England routes include the Heart of Wessex line and the Salisbury to
Bristol Temple Meads line. We discuss these in more detail later in this document.

Outline specification – West of England
Off peak trains per hour from London
London from
West of England

May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

2

1

2

Outline specification – West of England
AM high peak trains per hour to London
London from
West of England

May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

2

2

2

Page 54

35 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

35 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

London Waterloo to Exeter St Davids
London
Waterloo

Woking

Clapham
Junction

Overton

Basingstoke

Andover

Whitchurch
(Hants)

Salisbury

Grateley

Gillingham
(Dorset)

Tisbury

Sherborne

Templecombe

Crewkerne

Yeovil
Junction

Honiton

Axminster

Whimple

Feniton

Pinhoe

Cranbrook

Exeter
St Davids

Exeter
Central

Peak frequency

One train per hour.

Off peak frequency

One train per hour.

Calling at

Calling at: Clapham Junction, Woking, Basingstoke, Andover, Salisbury, all to Honiton,
Cranbrook, Pinhoe, and Exeter Central.
Alternate services call at Feniton and Whimple.
Peak services do not call at Clapham Junction and Woking, but do call at Overton,
Whitchurch, and Grateley.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable with some changes to peak calls.
The Honiton and Axminster shuttles have been removed to improve performance whilst
retaining capacity.

London Waterloo to Salisbury
London
Waterloo

Woking

Clapham
Junction

Overton

Andover

Whitchurch
(Hants)

Basingstoke

Salisbury

Grateley

Peak frequency

One train per hour. Peak services extend to Yeovil Junction or Pen Mill via Sherborne.

Off peak frequency

One train per hour.

Calling at

Calling at: Clapham Junction (from London only), Woking, Basingstoke then all stations.
Peak services do not call at Clapham Junction and Woking.

Rationale

The service levels remain broadly the same as the May 2019 timetable. However, these
services will no longer extend beyond Salisbury in off-peak. These services were lightly
used and their removal allows us to improve the resilience of the single line sections
between Salisbury and Yeovil.

Page 55

36 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

36 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

Salisbury to Romsey via Southampton
Mottisfont
& Dunbridge

Salisbury

Dean
(Wilts)

Southampton
Central

Redbridge

Romsey

Swaythling

St Denys

Millbrook

Eastleigh

Southampton
Airport Parkway

Romsey

Chandlers
Ford

Peak frequency

One train per hour.

Off peak frequency

One train per hour.

Calling at

Calling at: all stations. Runs Salisbury-Southampton-Eastleigh-Romsey.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.

Salisbury to Yeovil via Westbury
Westbury
(Wilts)

Salisbury

Warminster

Yeovil
Pen Mill

Bruton

Castle
Cary

Frome

Yeovil
Junction

Frequency

Three trains per day to Yeovil; six trains per day from Yeovil.

Calling at

Calling at: all stations via Westbury, except Dilton Marsh.
These services will operate between Yeovil Pen Mill and Yeovil Junction.

Rationale

The service levels reflect the May 2019 timetable.

Reading to Salisbury
Reading

Overton

Basingstoke

Andover

Whitchurch
(Hants)

Salisbury

Grateley

Frequency

Three trains per day in the evening after the PM peak (Mon-Thu), in each direction,
replacing London Waterloo to Salisbury services.

Calling at

Calling at Basingstoke, Andover, and Salisbury. Services in the opposite direction
call at all stations to Basingstoke then Reading.

Rationale

Operating these services to Reading allows us to maintain crew competency over
this route which can be used during disruption or planned engineering work to
divert services to Reading.

Page 56

37 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

37 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

ISLAND LINE ROUTES
The Island Line provides services on the Isle of Wight. Following the transformation of
Island line, due for completion in summer 2021, it will open with a twice hourly frequency.

Island Line
Ryde St
Johns Road

Ryde Pier
Head

Ryde
Esplanade

Brading

Smallbrook
Junction

Lake

Sandown

Frequency

Two trains per hour.

Calling at

All stations, except not all trains will call at Smallbrook Junction.

Rationale

The service levels remain the same as the new timetable introduced in summer 2021.

Shanklin

SALISBURY TO BRISTOL TEMPLE MEADS
The route between Salisbury and Bristol Temple Meads has historically been served by
both SWR and Great Western Railway, with SWR running five of the average 25 daily
services in the May 2019 timetable.
Following a separate review with the Department for Transport, SWR will withdraw its
current three daily services from December 2021 as duplicating services between the
two operators does not provide good value for the taxpayer.
Great Western Railway will continue to meet demand on the line and services will
connect into London bound trains at Salisbury, Bath and Westbury.

HEART OF WESSEX
SWR has previously trialled a Special Saturday Service from Salisbury to
Weymouth via Yeovil, providing one train in each direction on Saturdays during
the summer peak season.
Due to the disproportionate cost of running these services that could not be
sustained by the revenue they generated, there are no plans to reintroduce this
special service in the future.

Page 57

38 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

PROPOSED SWR NETWORK

Milton Keynes,
Birmingham and the North

London
Victoria

London
Waterloo

Watford Junction

Yarmouth

Witley

The
Watercress
Line

Alresford

Crawley

Three
Bridges

Pulborough

Havant
Bedhampton
Chichester
Hilsea

Redhill

Billingshurst

Petersfield
Rowlands Castle

Cosham

New
Addington

Horsham

Liss

Portchester

East
Croydon

Gatwick
Airport

Haslemere
Liphook

Elmers End

Ashtead
Leatherhead
Box Hill &
Westhumble
Dorking

Bookham

Beckenham
Junction

te
iga
Re
rth
wo
tch
Be

Swanage

Milford

Haywards
Heath

Arundel
Barnham

Bognor Regis

Worthing
Hove
Shoreham
Littlehampton

Eastbourne,
Hastings,
Ashford International
and the South East

Brighton

Fratton
Gosport
Cowes

Isle of
Wight

Ryde Pier Head

Portsmouth &
Southsea
Portsmouth Harbour
Southsea Hoverport

Wootton

Brading
Sandown
Lake
Shanklin

Ventnor

Page 58

Network Map
Connections to:

Ryde Esplanade
Ryde St. Johns Road

Isle of Wight Steam Railway
To Channel Islands
& France

Alton

Fareham

ld
fie

y
ole
rth
Po
wo
th
m
ea
Ha
nH
lto
m
Ho
ha
are
W

l
oo
n
W
o
t
re
ter
es
Mo
rch
Do outh
S
y
we
Up

Swanage
Railway

Farncombe
Godalming

Cobham &
Stoke D’Abernon

Effingham
Junction

Guildford

Bentley

Lymington Town
Lymington Pier

e
yn
Ra

n
ay
lto
l
Sw
Mi
ira
m
w
be
Ad
Ne
om
on
sc
ch
nt
Bo
ur
Hi
or
tch
nf
ris
ow
Ch
th
sd
ou
ke
Po
em
n
e
ur
Bo ksom
an
ne
Br
sto
rk
Pa

Bournemouth
Airport

Maiden
Newton

ok
ro
llb
ge
Mi
rid
st)
re
db
Fo
Re
n
w
e
tto
(N
To
d
rst
oa
hu
u R st
As
lie
ur
au
nh
Be
ke
oc
Br

Thornford

Swaythling
Bitterne
Hedge End
Woolston
Town
Sholing
Quay
Netley
Botley
Hamble
Bursledon
Hythe
Swanwick

Farnham

y
on
nd
rsle
Ho
Cla

)
ing ne
rk de
Do eep
(D
ing
rk
Do est
W

Romsey

Basingstoke

Worplesdon
ad
Ro )
on ord
nd f
Lo (Guild

all
sh
m
Go
th
or
ilw
Ch
d
or
alf
Sh

Southampton
Airport Parkway

Southampton
Central

Ash Vale
mp
Ash
Ca
rth
No
Wanborough
Hook
Aldershot

Micheldever
Winchester
Shawford
Eastleigh

Chandler’s Ford

St. Denys

Yetminster

Weymouth

Dean

Mottisfont &
Dunbridge

Exmouth

Chetnole

ton
er
Ov
ch
ur
ch
hit
W
r
ve
do
An
ley
ate
Gr

Sherborne

Exeter Airport

Dorchester
West

y
ur
sb
ali

e
rn
ke
ew
Cr
ter
ins
m
Ax ton
ni
Ho

Yeovil
Pen Mill

Yeovil
Junction

on
nit
Fe
ple
him
k
W
oo
br
an
Cr
e
ho
Pin
r
ete al
Ex entr
C

Paignton,
Plymouth and
Penzance

Yeovil
Bus Station

Tiverton
Parkway

Exeter
St. Davids

Castle Cary

Farnborough North
Fleet
Winchfield

Warminster

S
ry
bu
Tis
am
gh
llin
Gi mbe
co
ple
m
Te

Bruton

Blackwater

Bramley

Frome

Taunton

Okehampton
and North Devon

Mortimer

Frimley

d
oo
kw
oo
Br

Newbury

Bristol Airport

Camberley

Sandhurst

gh
rou
bo
rn
Fa

rk
Pa

y
ur
tb
es
W
e
idg
br
ow
Tr
dfor
ad on
Br n-Av
o
a
Sp
th
Ba

am
sh
yn
Ke

eld
dfi
Ol

Bristol
Temple Meads

Reading West

Kensington
ick
isw
e (Olympia)
Vauxhall
Ch
idg
Br
s
h
rne
Queenstown
ort
Ba s
w
y
s
Road
rne tne nd wn
Ba Pu Wa To
Clapham
Junction

Mortlake Wimbledon
Strawberry
ck
Hill
Wi
ton
n
ton
ton
ing
sto
p
d
g
rbi
d
m
Kin
Te
No
Ha
New
Malden
Hampton Court
Berrylands
Thames Ditton
Chertsey
Motspur
Surbiton
Esher
Park
Hersham
Addlestone Walton-onThames
Worcester
Hinchley
Park
Wood
Byfleet &
Weybridge
New Haw
Stoneleigh
Claygate Chessington
Ewell
West Byfleet
South
West
West
Woking
Croydon
Oxshott
Epsom

Bagshot

Crowthorne

Reading

Shepherd’s Bush

rls link
Ea
am
ark
Tr
sP

Bath, Bristol, South Wales
and the West Country

ts
n
m
ee
ha rgare ond
Sh
en
ick t. Ma ichm orth
R
N
Tw
S

Staines Ashford
Feltham
rk
ord
Pa
llif
on
Ha
ry
ert
ton
ton
ell
er
bu
pp
p
mp
e
n
mp
lw
Fu
Sh
Up
Su
Ke
Ha

Reading to Gatwick Airport

South Wales, Birmingham
and the North

n
itto
Wh

Wraysbury

w
Ke

e
idg
Br

n
lde or
Ma an h
M rt
o
lw
n
To
gto th
sin or
es N
Ch

n
ro
He
ns
ell
rti
kn
Ma
ac
m
Br
ha
ing
sh
ok
er
W
inn
W
gle
ian
Tr
y
sh
rle
er
Ea
inn
W

m
ha
Eg
r
ate
W
ia
s
gin
s
Vir
cro
ng
le
Lo
da
ing
t
nn
co
Su
As

Sunnymeads

rd
tfo
en
Br

Heathrow
Airport

Datchet

Oxford, Birmingham
and the North

ne
La
on
th
Sy
or
ew
w
Isl
slo
un
Ho

Windsor &
Eton Riverside

Smallbrook
Junction

To France & Spain

Other services

London Underground

Bus links

London Overground

Ferry links and
Hovercraft links

Tramlink

Heritage Railways

39 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

39 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

Outcomes
The changes we have proposed in this document are
rooted in our experience of running the network and
the ways that our customers have told us they are
likely to use the railway in the future.
The outcome of our strategic review of the timetable has seen us create a specification which
delivers enough capacity to meet our anticipated future demand and provides room for growth,
whilst maintaining the connections and service levels our customers expect.
We believe that the changes will strike a better balance between our six objectives, retaining the
reliability improvements we’ve made during the pandemic, meeting the forecasted demand and
providing value for the taxpayer:
Meeting demand: The specification we have
set out see us provide 93% of our pre-Covid
capacity, against forecast customer journeys of
76%, meeting the expected demand and leaving
some headroom to accommodate daily and hourly
fluctuations as new travel patterns emerge. Where
leisure demand is predicted to grow, we have
broadly maintained our off-peak services, which
in any case have historically had space for more
customers. The December 2022 timetable will
be the base for our long-term service provision,
leaving some space to introduce additional
train paths in the future. We will work with our
customers, communities and stakeholders to build
additional capacity where it is most needed, based
on robust business cases that can demonstrate
value to the taxpayer.
Making efficient use of resources: Rationalising
the frequencies in our services and removing
duplication will save millions of pounds worth of
operational costs every year, delivering better
value to the taxpayer while still meeting demand.
The specification will maximise the impact of our
new fleet of Arterio trains while avoiding the need
to incur significant costs on additional new rolling
stock in the near future, at a time when public
finances are increasingly stretched.
Maximising revenue: The proposed specification
will provide sufficient capacity to meet the
forecast demand, particularly catering for off-peak
leisure travel which is expected to return quickest.
In addition, better performance and increased

reliability across the network will help encourage
regular and occasional customers back to our
services in the medium term.
Improving performance: The need to squeeze
additional train services onto the most congested
parts of our network to meet ever growing demand
has historically undermined our performance.
With a more densely packed timetable, even
very minor delays can often have wide-reaching
impacts and make it harder to recover. As we
have shown, de-stressing the network during
the pandemic has significantly improved the
reliability of our service. The proposed reductions
in frequency in this specification will consolidate
these performance improvements by adding small
extensions to the gaps between trains, providing a
more robust buffer for when we experience delays.
Ensuring infrastructure maintainability and
capability: Running fewer trains also reduces
the pressure on our infrastructure, helping us to
more effectively maintain its resilience. This will
contribute towards fewer infrastructure-related
incidents, which can cause delays on our network.
Responding to stakeholder input: SWR and
Network Rail have a built strong relationships with
the communities we serve and have used our local
knowledge to inform the proposed specification.
This consultation provides our stakeholders with
a formal opportunity to input into our decisionmaking process and we look forward to receiving
your feedback.

Taken together, we think we can meet the six key objectives set out above, while providing 93% of
pre-Covid total capacity across the whole network. Some reductions in train service compared to the May
2019 timetable are proposed, but due to the performance challenges in running this level of service, the
original full timetable was rarely delivered to this specified level.
Our plans will deliver an increase in performance and reliability and reduce the overall burden to the
taxpayer, while maintaining capacity to meet our forecast demand.

Page 59

40 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

40 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

Key frequencies
The tables below show how frequently trains will call at key stations in the network under the new timetable.

Arrivals at Waterloo 0800-0859
May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

Basingstoke (fast trains)

4

4

4

Epsom

6

4

4

Guildford (fast trains)

6

4

4

Putney

10

10

10

Richmond (fast trains)

8

5

8

Staines (fast trains)

8

5

7

Surbiton

10

7

11

Wimbledon

18

14

16

Winchester (fast trains)

5

4

4

Woking (fast trains)

12

10

11

Off peak arrivals at Waterloo per hour
May 2019

May 2021

December 2022

Basingstoke (fast trains)

5

3

5

Epsom

4

2

2

Guildford (fast trains)

4

3

3

Putney

10

6

8

Richmond (fast trains)

4

4

4

Staines (fast trains)

4

4

4

Surbiton

10

10

10

Wimbledon

16

14

14

Winchester (fast trains)

4

3

4

Woking (fast trains)

12

10

11

Page 60

41 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

41 | Stakeholder Annual Report 2018

FAQs
When will a timetable, based on these frequencies, be available to view?
Final timetables are expected to be published in September 2022, 12 weeks before the
start of the timetable, in accordance with industry practice.

How can you restore capacity if frequencies are being reduced?
Through the introduction of the Arterio trains on the Windsor routes, and where possible
by maximising the use of 10 car formations (12 on the mainline in the peak) across our
network, we will restore overall capacity to 93% of pre-Covid levels.
For our customers, punctuality and reliability are key.

How will you respond if passenger numbers recover more quickly, or new
patterns of travelling emerge, before December 2022?
Our comprehensive customer research does not suggest that this is likely. However, we
view this outline specification as a baseline for the future and, working within the set
parameters for timetable changes, SWR and Network Rail will discuss how best to respond
to emerging travel patterns with the Department for Transport.

How will you measure improvements in performance and reliability?
SWR and Network Rail have has a robust set of measurement tools to track performance
and reliability, which are published on our respective websites.

What is meant by peak, off peak and high peak?
These vary depending on the line of route and are defined as when most people travel.
Local flows, such as school traffic, may result in slightly different patterns on individual
lines of route.

How have you accounted for school and college journeys?
Throughout the pandemic, SWR has developed a close working relationship with the
schools on our network and a good understanding of their specific requirements. As we go
through the process of turning the specification into a timetable, we will work with those
schools to ensure we are supplying the best possible service to meet their demand.

How frequently do timetable reviews take place?
While the timetable has been changed frequently during the Covid-19 pandemic, there are
usually two opportunities to bid for timetable changes per year, in December and May.

Will the results of this consultation be published?
The responses received will be reviewed by SWR’s timetabling team and will inform the
timetable bid. We plan to publish a summary of all the feedback later this year, in which we
will identify key themes and respond to them.

Why are you only asking stakeholders to participate?
This consultation is strategic in nature: it relates to a specification for services rather
than to specific trains or timetable items. As such, we are keen to hear the views from our
key stakeholders, including elected representatives, passenger and accessibility groups,
business and transport sectors. You may wish, of course, to canvass opinion before
responding to this consultation.

Why can’t these changes be introduced earlier than December 2022?
The proposals outlined in this consultation require a significant reworking of the SWR
service patterns and Network Rail will need to assess and deconflict them with the
requirements of other train operators in the region. This will take time to work through into
a robust and resilient timetable as part of the established industry-wide process.

Page 61

42 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

Feedback questions
and how you can respond

We are keen to hear what you think about our plans.
All comments received will be thoroughly reviewed
by the timetabling team and, where possible
and appropriate, we will look to incorporate your
suggestions into our final proposals.
We have a quite unique opportunity to shape
future travel patterns and deliver a step change in
performance for our customers and communities.
We also have a duty to strike a balance between
the objectives SWR and Network Rail have agreed
with the Department for Transport (see page 8).

1.

Which category would best describe
your organisation?
•

Elected representative

•

Local authority

•

Passenger group

•

Accessibility group

•

Business organisation

•

Transport operator/provider

•

Other

2.

Do you have an interest in a particular
station or route? If so, which one?

3.

Overall, what do you think of our
proposed specification for the Main
Suburban routes?

4.

Overall, what do you think of our
proposed specification for the
Mainline routes?

You can contact us by emailing

While we would ask you to respond to the
questions below in the first instance, we
understand that there may be other concerns
and suggestions that you would like to raise with
us. You are welcome to provide these further
comments in an open format.

5.

Overall, what do you think of our
proposed specification for the Windsor
routes?

6.

Overall, what do you think of our
proposed specification for the West of
England routes?

7.

Do you agree with our strategic
approach that seeks to balance future
performance with cost control?

8.

Do you agree that a return to capacity
at 93% of pre-Covid levels is an
appropriate target?

9.

Do you agree with our approach of
maximising capacity while running a
slightly reduced frequency of service, if
that results in better reliability?

10. Do you have concerns at what we are
proposing? If so, what are they?

The consultation will run for eight weeks
and close on 19th September 2021.

dec22consultation@swrailway.com

All responses received by that time will
be reviewed and carefully considered to
help shape our final proposals.

Page 62

43 | Timetable Consultation December 2022

What happens next?
The timeline below shows our next steps:
Consultation period opens

26th July 2021

Consultation period closes

19th September 2021

Timetable published

September 2022

Timetable operational

December 2022

Page 63

Page 64

Milton Keynes,
Birmingham and the North

London
Victoria

London
Waterloo

Watford Junction

Dorchester
West

Swanage
Railway

Swanage

To Channel Islands
& France

eld
lsfi

Maiden
Newton

Beckenham
Junction
Elmers End
East
Croydon

New
Addington

Swaythling
Bitterne
Hedge End
Woolston
Town
Sholing
Quay
Netley
Botley
Hamble
Bursledon
Hythe
Swanwick

Yarmouth

Liphook

Crawley

Three
Bridges

Horsham

Liss

Billingshurst

Petersfield
Rowlands Castle

Pulborough

Havant
Bedhampton
Chichester

Portchester

Fareham

Gatwick
Airport

Haslemere

Alresford

Cosham

Hilsea

Haywards
Heath

Arundel
Barnham

Bognor Regis

Worthing
Hove
Shoreham
Littlehampton

Eastbourne,
Hastings,
Ashford International
and the South East

Brighton

Fratton

Lymington Town
Lymington Pier

Witley

The
Watercress
Line

Redhill

te
iga
Re
rth
wo
tch
Be

Chetnole

k
r
lin
Ea
am
rk
Tr
Pa

n
ay
ilto
Sw
al
r
M
i
m
w
be
m
Ad
Ne
co
on
ch
os
nt
ur
Hi
rB
o
tch
nf
ris
ow
Ch
th
sd
ou
ke
m
Po
ne
e
ur
Bo ksom
an
ne
Br
sto
rk
Pa
y
ole
rth
Po
wo
ath
m
He
Ha
n
lto
m
Ho
ha
are
W
l
oo
W
ton er
re
t
Mo ches
r
Do th
u
So ey
w
Up

Bournemouth
Airport

es
yn
Ra

Yetminster

ok
ro
e
llb
idg
Mi
r
st)
re
db
Fo
Re
n
w
e
tto
(N
To
d
rst
oa
hu
u R st
As
e
i
l
ur
au
nh
Be
ke
oc
Br

Exeter Airport

Southampton
Central

)
ing ne
rk de
Do eep
(D
ing
rk
Do est
W

Romsey

n
lde or
Ma n
Ma rth
o
lw
n
To
gto th
sin or
es N
Ch

St. Denys

Exmouth

Ashford
Feltham
rd
rk
o
f
Pa
lli
on
t
a
n
r
y
ton
to
rH
ur
pe
ell
pe
mp
ep
nb
mp
lw
a
p
e
h
u
S
U
Fu
S
K
H

all
sh
m
Go
th
or
ilw
Ch
d
or
alf
Sh

Mottisfont &
Dunbridge

Kensington
ick
(Olympia)
isw
e
h
Vauxhall
g
C
rid
B
s
h
rne
Queenstown
ort
Ba s
y dsw n
Road
e
e
n
n
n
t
r
w
a
Ba Pu W To
Clapham
Junction

d
oo
kw
oo
Br

Dean

Staines

gh
rou
bo
rn
Fa

Sherborne

Wraysbury

s
n
am
ret nd
ee
nh arga
o h Sh
e
k
m
M
h
ic
rt
Ric No
Tw
St.

Shepherd’s Bush

ton
er
Ov
ch
ur
ch
hit
W
r
ve
do
An

Yeovil
Junction

ley
ate
Gr

Yeovil
Pen Mill

Thornford

Weymouth

y
ur
sb
ali

e
rn
ke
ew
Cr
ter
ins
m
Ax ton
ni
Ho

on
nit
Fe
ple
him
k
W
oo
br
an
Cr
e
ho
Pin
r
ete al
Ex entr
C

Page 65

Yeovil
Bus Station

Tiverton
Parkway

Exeter
St. Davids

Castle Cary

Warminster

S
ry
bu
Tis
am
gh
llin
Gi mbe
co
ple
m
Te

Bruton

m
ha
Eg
r
ate
W
ia
s
gin
s
Vir
cro
ng
le
a
Lo
d
ing
t
nn
co
Su
As

Frome

Taunton

Paignton,
Plymouth and
Penzance

Reading West

Newbury

Bristol Airport

Okehampton
and North Devon

Reading

y
ur
tb
es
W
e
idg
br
ow
Tr
dfor
ad on
Br Av
on
a
Sp
th
Ba

rk
Pa
eld
dfi
Ol
am
sh
yn
Ke

Bristol
Temple Meads

Bath, Bristol, South Wales
and the West Country

n
itto
h
W

w
Ke

e
idg
Br

Mortlake Wimbledon
Strawberry
k
c
i
Hill
ton
n W ton
ton
ing
s
pto
d
rbi
d
m
ng
o
i
a
K
Te
N
H
New
Malden
Hampton Court
Berrylands
Thames Ditton
Chertsey
Motspur
Surbiton
Reading to Gatwick Airport
Esher
Park
Bagshot
Hersham
Addlestone Walton-onCrowthorne
Thames
Worcester
Hinchley
Camberley
Park
Wood
Byfleet &
Weybridge
New
Haw
Stoneleigh
Sandhurst
Frimley
Claygate Chessington
Ewell
West Byfleet
South
West
Mortimer
Blackwater
West
Woking
Bramley
Croydon
Oxshott
Epsom
Farnborough North
Worplesdon
Fleet
Ashtead
Cobham &
ad
Ro rd)
Winchfield
Stoke
D’Abernon
n
p
Ash Vale
n
o o
ley
do
am
nd df
Ash
Leatherhead
Lo (Guil
ors
lan
hC
t
H
C
r
No
Box Hill &
Basingstoke
Wanborough
Hook
Effingham
Bookham
Westhumble
Aldershot
Guildford
Junction
Dorking
Micheldever
Farnham
Chandler’s Ford
Farncombe
Winchester
Bentley
Shawford
Godalming
Southampton
Eastleigh
Airport Parkway
Alton
Milford

n
ro
He
ns
ell
rti
kn
Ma
ac
m
Br
ha
ing
ok
rsh
e
W
inn
W
gle
ian
Tr
y
sh
rle
er
Ea
inn
W

South Wales, Birmingham
and the North

Sunnymeads

rd
tfo
en
Br

Heathrow
Airport

Datchet

Oxford, Birmingham
and the North

ne
La
on
th
Sy
or
ew
w
Isl
slo
un
Ho

Windsor &
Eton Riverside

Gosport
Cowes

Isle of
Wight

Ryde Pier Head

Portsmouth &
Southsea
Portsmouth Harbour
Southsea Hoverport

Connections to:

Ryde Esplanade
Ryde St. Johns Road

Isle of Wight Steam Railway

Wootton

Brading
Sandown
Lake
Shanklin

Ventnor

Network Map

Smallbrook
Junction

To France & Spain

Other services

London Underground

Bus links

London Overground

Ferry links and
Hovercraft links

Tramlink

Heritage Railways

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 6
COMMUNITIES, ENVIRONMENT AND HIGHWAYS SELECT
COMMITTEE

THURSDAY, 16 SEPTEMBER 2021

Procurement of Highways’ Term Maintenance Contract

Purpose of report: To provide the Select Committee an update on the Procurement
of the Term Maintenance Contract and some of the key features of the new
arrangements scheduled to start in April 2022
Introduction:
1.

In September 2020, Cabinet approved the strategy for the procurement of
Highway contracts. Over the past 12 months, Officers from Highways and
Transport supported by Officers from procurement, legal and finance have
carried out a procurement exercise to select a Service Provider to deliver the
services under a Term Maintenance Contract from April 2022 for an initial
period of 10 years with the option to be extended up to a total of 21 years.

2.

The Council is in a fortunate position in undertaking this procurement at a time
when the current contract arrangements are generally considered to be
performing well albeit with some areas of opportunity to improve.

3.

It has been our focus and is our ambition that following commencement of the
new contract arrangements in April 2022, Members and residents will begin to
see those improvements come to fruition. We anticipate that some elements
will become apparent early on with changes to working practices regardless of
the successful bidder whilst more transformative improvements, innovations
and changes will take some time to develop and will begin to have an effect
over the first few years.

4.

There will of course be a continued focus on improvement throughout the life of
the contract as we adapt to the changing environment and world around us and
the contract term provides an opportunity for the Council and Contractor to
invest together to bringing those improvements to life.

5.

The Council has undertaken a “Competitive Procedure with Negotiation” (CPN)
procurement exercise which allows both the Council and bidders to discuss and
develop their solutions in several stages allowing open discussion and
negotiation to enable each bidder to put forward their very best solution and
offering.

Page 67

6.

Not only has this approach allowed the Council to really test and improve each
bidder’s tender giving confidence in the substance of the written submission, it
has also allowed detailed scrutiny of the associated pricing to deliver those
services, understanding where risk pricing had been included and allowing
where appropriate the reallocation of risk to reduce the artificial inflation of
prices.

7.

Officers are in the latter phase of evaluating the three final tenders and
following award in the Autumn there will be a period of mobilisation of the new
arrangements which start on 27 th April 2022.

8.

This report provides more detail on the procurement phase alongside some of
the key considerations in evaluating the tenders and some of the key outputs of
the future arrangements.

Background
9.

In 2017, Officers began a programme of research and evaluation to determine
the future structure of Highway Maintenance and Improvement contracts
allowing sufficient time to prepare the necessary documentation, conduct the
procurement and mobilise the new arrangements.

10. Full detail on this activity is covered in the September 2020 Cabinet Paper (item
134/20, paragraphs 14-30). In summary, supported and scrutinised by a
Member Reference Group from the Select Committee, officers undertook
extensive internal and external research which included:








Interviews with other Local Authorities who had recently or were
imminently procuring new contracts
Interviews with a cross-section of Service Providers in the sector from
SMEs to larger, national and multi-national organisations
Survey of residents to identify key priorities for Highways and Transport
Services
Third Sector and other Council partner organisations
Analysis of sector practice through industry bodies including the
Association of Directors of Environment, Planned and Transport (ADEPT),
The Future Highways Research Group (FHRG) and the Department for
Transport’s Highways Maintenance Efficient Programme
Application of the Council’s Strategic Commissioning Framework following
its development and implementation in late 2018/early 2019

11. Whilst a key focus was on the various maintenance and improvement activities
to highways assets, the research enabled the Council to procure the services in
a way that would help contribute to the Council’s strategic priorities including

Page 68

reducing carbon emissions in line with the Greener Futures ambitions and
targets, delivering social value as well as providing a quality service to
residents.
12. Given the range of services being procured and the importance of the additional
strategic elements described above, officers determined the delivery strategy
and the CPN procurement process to be the most efficient mechanism to
achieve the desired outcomes.
Competitive Procedure with Negotiation (CPN)
13. The CPN process took place over 4 stages as illustrated in Table 1 below:
Table 1: Four stages of the Competitive Procedure with Negotiation
Stage

Purpose

Selection
Questionnaire

Invite any interested party to submit
evidence against pre-set criteria of
their suitability and capability to
deliver the scope and scale of
services in the contract

Initial Tender

Bidders provide high level responses Top 3 bidders
(up to 50 pages) explaining how they taken forward
will deliver each element of the
services in the contract covered
across 13 questions
Feedback on Initial
Tenders provided
by Council to
inform Detailed
Tender

Detailed
Tender

Bidders develop their Initial Tender
responses providing much greater
levels of detail (up to 280 pages)
explaining how they will deliver each
element of the services in the
contract covered across 13
questions.
Initial pricing submitted alongside
the “quality” submission

Outcome
Top 4 bidders
taken forward

No reduction in the
number of bidders

Feedback on
Detailed Tenders
provided by
Council to inform
Final Tender
Feedback on
Pricing

Final Tender

Bidders refine their Detailed Tender
responses using the Council’s

Page 69

Contract awarded
to most

feedback where desired to
strengthen their submission

economically
advantageous
tender

Final pricing submitted alongside the
“quality” submission
14. The CPN process started in late 2020 with a Supplier Questionnaire (SQ) to
identify interested parties, scrutinise and evaluate their capability and suitability
to deliver the new contract and take forward the four best scoring to the Initial
Tender phase. The questions focussed on a wide range of areas but with an
evidenced based submission to demonstrate previous experience.
15. Bidders were asked questions covering a number of areas including:
Delivery of Core Services (reactive,
routine, planned and project tasks)
Delivering Social Value and Return
Achieving our Greener Futures
Ambitions
Equality, Diversity and Inclusion

Approach to driving innovation
Outlining their staff structure
How they would collaborate with the
Council, other contractors and other
parties to achieve better outcomes
Resident Engagement

16. The responses were evaluated by a panel of officers from Highways &
Transport and Officers from elsewhere in the Council with specialist knowledge
(e.g. Greener Futures, Strategic Commissioning Team.).
17. The lowest scoring Bidder did not proceed to the Detailed and Final Tender
stages. The three bidders selected to succeed to the last two stages were
Amey UK PLC, Kier Highways Ltd and Ringway.
18. Following the scoring of Initial and Detailed Tenders, there were a series of
meetings with each of the bidders to discuss their submissions. These were 2way conversations allowing the Council and each bidder to review the
responses to each question testing understanding, clarifying certain elements
and providing feedback to help each bidder improve and strengthen their
offering. In some cases, this might have focussed on making firmer
commitments or scaling back a “gold or platinum” level of service if deemed to
be unaffordable. In most cases, the bidders were provided an opportunity to
explain their intended response and then gain a clearer direction on how to
represent that in the Final Tender submissions.
19. Alongside Detailed Tenders, bidders were asked to submit pricing for all the
services covered and during these bidder sessions, officers were able to
discuss these in detail, again often to clarify understanding, to seek
improvements in the prices offered and to ensure all three bidders were pricing
for the same elements.

Page 70

20. Following the final round of bidder meetings, the three bidders were invited to
submit their Final Tenders, and these are currently in the evaluation and
moderation process with the successful bidder shortly being presented to
Cabinet for approval.
Evaluation Process
21. A robust process has been followed to evaluate and moderate each bidder’s
submission with the evaluators for each question scoring them independently
before coming together to discuss and agree a moderated score for each
overseen by the Procurement Team.
22. During the Supplier Questionnaire and Initial Tender phase where no pricing
was included, the weighting of these qualitative elements was spread across
100%. In the Detailed and Final Tender stages, these qualitative elements
were assessed to a similar weighting but was considered alongside an
assessment of the prices submitted. For these stages, the overall qualitative
score amounted to 70% of the final total score whilst 30% was down to price.
Features of the New Contract Arrangements
Council Ambitions
23. Alongside delivering on the strategic ambitions in the Community Vision 2030,
services and activities relating to Highways are among the top things likely to be
important to residents/businesses and having confidence in the Service
Providers’ capability to meet these expectations has been the focus of the
procurement.
24. Another key component from the planning and engagement phase through to
the procurement itself has been to ensure that the new arrangements can
support the Council’s ambitions beyond “simply” carrying out the day-to-day
maintenance and improvement activity on the road network. By combining the
majority of services into a single contract, the Service Provider effectively
becomes an extension of the Council, and it is much easier to align strategies
and objectives when compared to working with multiple contractors. The
combined capacity and capability of the Council and the Service Provider
thereby have a greater opportunity to really deliver on some of those stretching
ambitions.
25. For example, a substantial proportion of the Council’s carbon emissions result
from delivering highways maintenance and improvement activities whether
through consumption of fossil fuels in vehicles, plant and tools or in materials’
production such as bitumen in asphalt or concrete used in construction.
Working with the Service Provider, we will be able to combine resources and

Page 71

experience to identify and drive innovation within the sector seeking out funding
opportunities from external bodies, reinvest savings for further innovation where
available and create a culture where colleagues from all areas feel empowered
to come forward with and develop ideas of how we can improve from day-today small interventions to larger potentially barrier-busting ideas.
26. Another key opportunity of working with the Service Provider as a large
employer and presence in the County will be the ability to leverage investment
(time, effort, energy and money) in delivering Social Value projects within the
County, and bidders have been tasked with promoting this as a core part of
their offering.
27. Notwithstanding all the wider ambitions, officers have ensured that delivering
the core services continue to be at the heart of the future service delivery and a
key focus on these important front line and often statutory functions has been
presented clearly as an essential requirement throughout the procurement
process.
28. A very important aspect of the new arrangements will be to work in close
partnership with the new Service Provider whether in delivering core services or
the wider ambitions. This relationship will provide a “backbone” upon which we
can build greater and more productive relationships including our other Service
Providers, District and Borough Councils, utility providers, business and other
organisations across Surrey. Bidders have been assessed on their approach to
collaboration and partnership and how they will help to develop and maintain a
productive relationship with the Council and other partners.
Outputs/What’s Different
29. As described, the CPN process has allowed the Council to evaluate each
bidder’s suggested approach at Initial Tender and Detailed Tender, providing
feedback and helping to identify where ideas can be developed and stretched.
Key to this approach however is ensuring ideas are achievable and sustainable
whether in practical or financial terms or both.
30. As part of their submission, bidders have been asked to explain how they will
help the Council achieve a net zero carbon position by 2030. A key part of this
is their fleet proposal with a wide range of vehicles being used across the
services and how these can be low or zero emission and where possible from
day one of the contract.
31. The prevalence of zero and low emission cars and “light” goods vehicles (those
below 3.5 tonnes) is increasing, and it is expected that subject to improved
electricity capacity within the depots, most if not all vehicles within this category
will be electric or hybrid based on the use of the vehicles.

Page 72

32. The market for larger vehicles such as lorries and gritters are not quite in the
same position; however, the manufacturers are investing heavily into research
and development, and trials of larger vehicles with alternative fuels such as
hydrogen alongside electrically powered vehicles is advancing. It is highly likely
these larger vehicles will be converted to a zero or low emission option either
during their life as the technologies mature or when they are replaced.
33. As intended, supported by the Council’s Strategic Commissioning Team, we are
expecting the Social Value outputs to be a core benefit arising from these new
arrangements with each bidder providing a comprehensive overview of their
intended approach and a number of commitments to be delivered over the ini tial
years of the contract which will be developed and built upon over the
subsequent years.
34. All bidders have provided suggested methods to improve engagement with
residents including how defects are reported and progress communicated back
to them as well as how they can engage and communicate effectively with
communities and affected road users prior to work being delivered which might
cause disruption. By including the majority of services under a single contract,
the successful bidder will have much greater control over programming work in
the same location to reduce disruption, and they will also be expected to work
closely with the Council’s other Highways Contractors and utility providers to
combine works where possible further mitigating the potential impact of work on
the road network
35. In our pre-market engagement, procurement documents and throughout the
process we have maintained a strong focus on the importance of ensuring work
is completed “Right First Time”. As well as delivering greater value for money
with fewer visits, this approach means defects are removed sooner improving
safety and any traffic management interventions such as barriers, temporary
lights or lane/road closures are in place for less time. By having this as a stated
strategic focus, the successful bidder will drive their approach to planning and
supervision of work ensuring operatives are equipped to carry out the required
repairs and embed a right first-time culture.
36. The new Contract is focussed on ensuring effective governance to deliver
against our strategic themes including Operational Excellence, Greener
Futures, delivery Social Value and ensuring Financial Resilience. This includes
the Cabinet Member being part of a Strategic Board alongside senior officers
and Board representatives from the contractor which will have a strong focus on
achieving these ambitions.
37. The Service has also created a new Strategic Contract Group to oversee,
coordinate and manage performance and contract management activities
supported by the Council’s laboratory to carry out materials testing. The

Page 73

Governance mechanism is centred around a tiered structure of regular contract
meetings at all levels between officers and the contractor’s team and where
appropriate the supply chain. As well as measuring, overseeing and assuring
performance, these groups or “Communities” will be tasked with working
together to identify and drive improvements, new ways of working and
innovations in the sector.
38. The contract documentation has been created to provide a robust set of
mechanisms to enable the Council to ensure the new arrangements are
delivered effectively. However, importantly with an initial 10-year period and the
option to extend up to a total of 21 years, it was important to maintain a degree
of flexibility and adaptability to it. This will allow us to make changes and
improvements where new ideas, materials or ways of working emerge without
the need for complicated or protracted contractual changes.
Conclusions:
39. The current contract operates to a high standard but having exhausted the
extension options, a new contract is required for operation from April 2022.
40. Officers invested substantial time and effort engaging with the market and our
peers to determine the shape of those arrangements to maintain those high
standards of delivery and push beyond that to deliver a more ambitious agenda
aligned to the Community Vision for 2030 and the Greener Futures strategy.
41. Over the past 12 months we have overseen an exhaustive, complex
procurement process to drive the best outcomes in each of the bidder’s tenders
and are confident that any one of the three remaining bidders will be able to
meet those high expectations.
Recommendations:
42. The Select Committee note the content of the report and are assured the
Service has been able to progress the strategy and process as developed and
agreed with the Member Reference Group.
Next steps:
43. Cabinet will shortly be presented with a decision paper to award the contract to
the successful bidder.
44. Transition to the new arrangements is expected to start in October 2021 and
the new contract will commence on 27 th April 2022.

Page 74

Report contact
Paul Wheadon, Strategic Contracts Group Manager, Highways and Transport
Contact details
07875 650975/paul.wheadon@surreycc.gov.uk
Sources/background papers
Cabinet Paper September 2020 (item 134/20)

Page 75

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 7
COMMUNITIES, ENVIRONMENT AND HIGHWAYS SELECT
COMMITTEE

THURSDAY, 16 SEPTEMBER 2021

NEW NATIONAL BUS STRATEGY - BUS BACK BETTER

To inform the committee of the council’s obligations in respect of the new National
Bus Strategy, ‘Bus Back Better’, and to seek its views on the Council’s proposed
approach.
Introduction
1.

A new national bus strategy, ‘Bus Back Better’, was published by government
earlier this year. A copy of full document is attached at Annexe 1. In summary,
Bus Back Better requires a local authority to consider its role in encouraging
more people to travel by bus post-Covid 19 and sets out aspirations for bus
services that are more frequent, more reliable, easier to understand and use,
better-co-ordinated, with understandable fare structures and with high quality
information for passengers.

2.

To achieve the desired aims of the strategy and to be eligible to access further
government Covid 19 support funding for bus services and a share of other new
funding from a £3bn national fund, Local Transport Authorities must agree to
pursue either bus franchising or to develop an Enhanced Partnership with all
local bus operators in their administrative area.

3.

The Council issued a formal Notice of Intent to the Department for Transport on
29 June 2021, stating that it will introduce an Enhanced Partnership with bus
operators, in accordance with section 138F of the Transport Act 2000.

New National Bus Strategy
4.

To address carbon emission levels and to mitigate the national decline in bus
patronage, which has been accelerated by the Covid 19 pandemic, government
recognises that action is required. It also acknowledges that of all public
transport modes, buses are the most adaptable and change can happen
relatively quickly.

5.

Government aspirations in Bus Back Better include service enhancements,
including improved services in the evening and at weekends; faster, more

Page 77

reliable journeys; bus lanes and other priority measures on roads with frequent
services; simpler, lower fare structures; multi-journey multi-operator ticket
schemes with contactless payment ability; better information including journey
planning websites, apps, roadside and printed information; increased promotion
of bus network to non-users; more real time passenger information; and
introduction of ultra-low and zero emission buses.
6.

In responding to Bus Back Better, there is a challenging requirement for the
Council to create a Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP) by 31 October 2021.
A Local Transport Authority’s BSIP needs to contain a range of aspirations and
ambitions to make the bus travel option more attractive, including the initiatives
outlined above.

7.

The BSIP needs to be developed in collaboration with bus operators,
community transport providers, adjoining Local Transport Authorities and other
stakeholders, and it will be guided by issues in connection with bus services
that have been identified by residents’ feedback. A BSIP will set out the local
measures proposed for achieving the objectives of the national strategy and for
encouraging greater bus use as part of the county’s ‘building back better’ more
sustainably.

8.

The BSIP will act as a framework to secure part of the £3bn funding allocated to
Bus Back Better by government, with each BSIP to be reviewed at least
annually. The share of the funding obtained will depend on the ambition
contained in the BSIP, as judged by the Department for Transport.

9.

Creating a BSIP will also secure access to proposed new powers for traffic
enforcement. A BSIP needs to contain plans for ambitious bus priority schemes
on the highway to secure an improvement in bus journey times and reliability,
inclusive of target setting to be monitored by Government. It will identify where
such priority measures are needed and consider air quality issues and carbon
reduction targets that buses could help address.

10. The BSIP will be a prelude to developing and making an Enhanced Partnership
Scheme (EP), to be formed by the Council and all local bus operators. An EP is
a formal commitment, in accordance with the Transport Act 2000 and the Bus
Services Act 2017, to jointly develop and deliver the measures contained in the
BSIP and places a formal obligation on both parties to deliver what they agree
to contribute. Bus Back Better sets challenging timescales, in that an EP must
be established and ready to go-live by 1 April 2022. The EP approach will build
on previous and long-standing effective partnership working with Surrey’s bus
operators, to deliver improvements in a collaborative way.

Page 78

Bus Back Better - Proposed Response
11. The new National Bus Strategy and the proposed BSIP for Surrey align with
several key themes from the new draft Surrey Transport Plan, in particular the
proposed hierarchy of modes and the ambition to shift journeys from the private
car to other more sustainable modes. Moreover, central to our response to Bus
Back Better will be to highlight and cross-references the strong linkages to the
aims and ambitions of the council’s Greener Futures programme of work and
the delivery of the Council’s 2030 Community Vision.
12. The Council will be responding strongly, positively and proactively to the
challenge set by the Government in the Bus Back Better. Previous joint working
with bus operators has seen large and joint investment in many parts of the
county, with improvement programmes already being delivered, for example, in
Camberley, Guildford and Woking. Other improvements are planned in Redhill,
Reigate and the A23 corridor, building upon previous partnership work in these
areas. This investment has seen significant improvements in passenger
facilities, real time bus information, bus priority measures, joint ticketing
schemes and zero emission buses, alongside enhancements to service
frequencies and the introduction of some new services.
13. It is important to note that in Surrey, pre-pandemic, three in every four bus
passenger journeys were undertaken on commercially operated bus services.
The EP approach should have a significant impact, as it enables the Council to
influence more effectively all bus services, including the commercial services
which dominate in terms of overall passenger numbers.
14. The Council has developed excellent relationships with our bus operator
partners over a long period and has already worked extensively with them to
deliver a range of improvements of the type the Government now seeks. The
Council will therefore be progressing an EP from a strong starting point.
15. Officers are consulting and engaging with bus operators to understand what
they could contribute to the BSIP and the future EP, alongside what they would
like to see the Council deliver as a result of such an arrangement. There has
also been engagement with adjoining local authorities to ensure a common
approach for cross-border bus services and initiatives.
16. Resident feedback on what they feel is important will inform the content of the
BSIP. This will be based on data derived from previous surveys conducted for
Surrey Bus Reviews and Local Transport Review. The main areas of concern
expressed by residents in these previous surveys were similar to concerns
raised nationally in comparable exercises, and included:

Page 79







A desire for more bus priority measures to deliver more reliable services,
i.e. make sure the bus turns up when it is supposed to
A request for better information on times and fares with more real time
information
A desire to see improvements to the overall journey experience and
customer service
Demand for more services in the evenings and at weekends
A request for simpler, more flexible fares and ‘smart ticketing’.

17. A new survey is being conducted with residents on the ‘Surrey Says’ survey
platform. This will likely validate previous Surrey survey results. There will be
further engagement with residents in the period leading up to Spring 2022 and
beyond, noting the proposal to establish a Stakeholder Reference Group as set
out below.
Bus Service Improvement Plan – Building on a Solid Existing Partnership
18. A full list of ambitions is being developed and enhanced through discussion with
bus operators. This will be formed of a mix of improvements already planned
that we aim to stretch and expand, alongside a range of new initiatives, which
together will deliver enhanced outcomes for residents. Delivery will depend on
the amount of funding that the Council is awarded from government’s new
National Bus Strategy Fund. Overall, a number of key areas have been
identified that will improve the bus service offer in Surrey, as summarised
below.
19. The relative strategic importance of bus routes will be defined by a route
hierarchy. This will inform decisions for selected service frequency
enhancements, especially on the primary network of key bus routes. It will
include consideration of evening and weekend enhancements.
20. An expansion of demand responsive transport in some rural areas such as
Tandridge, Waverley and Guildford is also being developed. A new demand
responsive transport offer could replace certain low-frequency conventional bus
services with more comprehensive and flexible services, building on the current
project in Mole Valley funded by the government’s Rural Mobility Fund.
21. Bus priority measures where necessary and deliverable will be proposed,
evidenced by operator feedback on congestion pinch points on the highway
network. It will be further evidenced through the data available from the
Council’s real time bus information system. £9m for bus priority measures has
already been allocated within the Council’s capital pipeline, which will be
highlighted to government in our BSIP.

Page 80

22. There is an ambition to expand the availability of multi-operator, multi-journey
ticketing schemes, which offer savings to bus users. This will build on the
successful ‘Acorn’ ticketing scheme introduced by the Council in north Surrey.
This initiative would be further enhanced through the introduction of contactless
payment for all fares. For individual fares, in the longer term, there would be an
ambition to facilitate ‘tap in and tap out’ technology to improve bus boarding
times and give more detailed passenger data.
23. A half-fare scheme and a fare free scheme for young people under 20 years of
age, irrespective of whether in full time education is also being costed for
potential inclusion in the BSIP.
24. An age limit for buses operating in the county is being considered, the aim
being to improve the quality of the bus offer and overall user experience. There
is a supporting ambition for all buses to be fitted with an audible and visual ‘next
stop’ announcement facility to help all bus users, including though who maybe
visually or hearing impaired.
25. The introduction of ultra-low and zero emission buses and community transport
vehicles is being developed to replace older diesel buses. This is part of the
Council’s Greener Futures programme in response to the declared climate
change emergency. £32.3m for ultra-low and zero emission buses alongside
£6.3m for ultra-low and zero emission community transport minibuses has been
allocated to this initiative from the Council’s capital pipeline. This will
supplement operator investment to help the Council tackle decarbonisation of
the transport sector.
26. A common brand across all buses and services to promote network integration
will be developed with bus operator partners.
27. An expansion of the Council’s real time information system that gives details of
bus arrival times to on-street displays and to journey-planning websites and
applications is proposed. £1.4m has been allocated from the Council’s capital
pipeline to support this work.
28. Enhancements to bus shelter provision and passenger waiting environments,
including an increase in accessibility for passengers is also proposed for
inclusion in the BSIP.
29. A Passenger Charter will be drafted. This will set out what bus users can
reasonably expect from bus operators and the Council in terms of the way
services are provided. It will include signposting to pathways for recourse when
problems are encountered.
30. Experience of previous bids to government indicate that our chances of success
in securing Bus Back Better funding will increase if matched funding can be

Page 81

used to enhance outcomes and ‘do more’ in delivering the BSIP, beyond what
Bus Back Better funding would deliver alone. The BSIP will therefore set out
funding from a range of sources to boost the ask of government, including
capital pipeline funding as already referenced, bus operator commitments, our
local bus budget revenue, developer and other funding. Together this will
facilitate the ambitions in the BSIP, noting that the Council may also choose to
allocate funding as part of the implementation of the emerging Surrey Transport
Plan.
31. The BSIP will contain measures to support and strengthen the commercially
operated bus network to be delivered through positive partnership working. This
will minimise future potential need for Council bus service revenue support,
especially after the government’s Bus Recovery Funding scheme ends in April
2022.
Governance
32. A Surrey Bus Enhanced Partnership Governance Board will be established to
oversee and champion the development and introduction of the EP, whilst also
prioritising enhancements and improvements based on the funding received
from government. A Stakeholder Reference Group will also be established.
Both will be established in the Autumn of 2021. It is proposed that membership
will be comprised from Members and officers of the County Council, borough
and district councils, bus operators, bus users and other key stakeholders.
Alongside this, efforts will be made to encourage Bus User Groups representing
specific areas of the county to be established, feeding into the Stakeholder
Reference Group. However, these have historically proven to be extremely
challenging to establish and keep going. In learning from previous experience,
we will work with interest groups, residents and bus operators to ensure new
Bus User Groups have every opportunity to emerge and flourish.
33. Overall, the BSIP is intended to be a high-level plan and be ambitious in its
outlook. The BSIP will outline what the Council sees as success and how that
will be measured in terms of targets against baseline data of the existing bus
network, inclusive of delivery timescale. Pre- and post-Covid data supplied by
bus operators will establish a benchmark for metrics such as mileage operated,
passenger numbers, journey time and reliability data. This will enable
monitoring and reporting of future improvements, supporting the at least annual
review of the BSIP. The detail of the enhancements and improvements outlined
in the BSIP will be developed following its submission, with delivery subject to
the level of funding received from government. The development of the detail
will be overseen by the Surrey Bus Enhanced Partnership Governance Board
with reference to the Stakeholder Reference Group and in accordance with the
Council’s required approval processes.

Page 82

Conclusion:
34. The provisions of the new National Bus Strategy represent the most significant
change in the relationship between local authorities and bus operators since the
deregulation of bus services in 1986. Through an Enhanced Partnership
Scheme, it formalises the relationship between the County Council and
operators, and it strengthens the long-standing informal partnerships that have
been very successful in delivering improvements for bus users. However, an
Enhanced Partnership places a formal obligation on both parties to deliver what
they agree to contribute.
35. The new National Bus Strategy and our response to it is a significant
opportunity for the Council. In embracing the challenge and in setting out our
high levels of ambition in the BSIP, the Council will put itself in a strong position
to deliver wide ranging improvements to facilitate a step change in the bus
service offer enabled through securing a share of government’s National Bus
Strategy funding.
Recommendations:
The Communities, Environment and Highways Select Committee agrees to:
a) Support the County Council’s intention to produce a Bus Service
Improvement Plan and the creation of an Enhanced Partnership Scheme,
both of which are a National Bus Strategy requirement
b) Comment on the approach, ambition and proposed improvements to assist
in drafting the Bus Service Improvement Plan and the subsequent report to
Cabinet.
Next steps
The next steps are:
* Continue to develop and consult on the Bus Service Improvement Plan (BSIP)
* Report to Cabinet for approval of the BSIP on 26 October 2021
* Submission of BSIP to Department for Transport by 31 October 2021
* Establish the Surrey Bus Enhanced Partnership Governance Board and
Stakeholder Reference Group in autumn 2021
* Enhanced Partnership Scheme commences 1 April 2022

Page 83

Report contact
Paul Millin, Group Manager, Strategic Transport
Contact details
Tel: 07968 832 573 Email: paul.millin@surreycc.gov.uk
Sources/background papers


Bus, Back, Better – A National Bus Strategy for England



Cabinet Member for Transport and Infrastructure 29 June 2021 – approval of
decision to issue a notice of intent to prepare an Enhanced Partnership
Scheme

Page 84

Bus
Back
Better

National

BUS

Strategy
for England

Page 85

Page 86

Contents
4

Prime Minister’s Foreword

6

Introduction: Our vision for the future of buses

14

Chapter 1: The opportunity

26

Chapter 2: The buses we want

34

Chapter 3: Delivering better bus services

54

Chapter 4: Delivering for passengers

68

Chapter 5: A green bus revolution

76

Appendix: COVID recovery plan 2021–22

82

Endnotes

3

Page 87

Prime Minister’s
Foreword
I love buses, and I have never quite understood
why so few governments before mine have
felt the same way. A couple of years ago, I
unintentionally broke the internet with the widelymocked, but true, statement that one of my
hobbies is making models of buses. As mayor
of London, I was proud to evict from the capital
that mobile roadblock, the bendy bus, and to
replace it with a thousand sleek, green, streetgracing New Routemasters.
Buses are the country’s favourite mode of
public transport too – used for twice as many
journeys as trains, from thousands more
stopping-places across the country. They get
teenagers to college. They drive pensioners to
see their friends. They connect people to jobs
they couldn’t otherwise take. They sustain town
centres, they strengthen communities and they
protect the environment. They are lifelines and
they are liberators.
Some people ask what levelling-up means
in practice, and what difference it will really
make to people’s lives. This is part of what it
means. As we build back from the pandemic,
better buses will be one of our major acts of
levelling-up.
As successive mayors showed in London,
buses are the easiest, cheapest and quickest
way to improve transport. In only a few years,
policies started by my Labour predecessor
and which I built on transformed the service.
With frequent buses, low fares, and priority
lanes to glide past traffic, we made London’s
bus network a natural choice for everyone, not
just those without cars. Usage rose by more
than half.

Outside London, with a few
exceptions, that lesson has not
been learned. For governments
of all colours before this one, the
bus has been last in the queue, with
a fraction of the investment and political
attention given to other, shinier things. Traffic
has increased, but bus priority has stagnated,
and some councils are actually taking bus
lanes out. As services get slower, they become
more expensive to run and less attractive to
passengers. It is a classic vicious circle, which
we intend to break.
Last year, we announced £3bn of new funding
to level up buses across England towards
London standards. This strategy describes how
we will use that money. Just as we already have
in the capital, we want main road services in
cities and towns to run so often that you don’t
need a timetable. We want better services in the
evenings and weekends, to reflect people’s 24hour lives and to provide safe, reliable transport
for key workers. In places unserved or barely
served by conventional buses, such as rural
villages and out-of-town business parks, we
want more demand responsive services with
smaller vehicles.

4

Page 88

Our job has changed because of Covid. In some
ways it is harder. Bus use has dropped, though
by less than on the railways. In some ways it
is easier. The industry has had almost £1bn in
emergency funding, and will need significant
public support for some time to come. The
deal for operators is that we will give you that
support, and the measures to unstick traffic
that you have wanted for years – but in return,
we need your cooperation and partnership to
deliver the policies in this strategy.
We want simple, cheap flat fares that you can
pay with a contactless card, with daily and
weekly price capping across operators, rail and
tram too. We want a network that feels like a
network, with easy-to-understand services,
consistent high standards and comprehensive
information at the touch of a phone. We want
4,000 new green buses, and many others,
running faster and more reliably in special
lanes. As in London, all that will need councils,
who control the roads, and bus operators to
work together.

In every way, the pandemic has made our job
more urgent. We must build back greener,
minimising pollution and tackling the congestion
that clogs up our towns and cities. But as the
country recovers, this strategy looks to the
long term.

5

Page 89

Introduction

Our vision
for the future
of buses

6

Page 90

7

Page 91

Introduction – Our vision for the future of buses

Buses are at the centre of the public
transport network, making 4.07 billion
journeys in England in 2019/201, more
than twice as many as the railways.
They bring people to jobs, study and local
services; they liberate people who are old,
young, disabled and isolated; they save
millions of tonnes of carbon and pollution, and
thousands of miles of traffic jams. The doubledecker bus is a symbol of Britain.
Yet for decades, buses have been largely
ignored by policymakers. Unlike rail, road
aviation, cycling or walking, there was not – until
now – a national strategy for buses. And unlike
rail or road, buses have never – until now –
had long-term funding commitments. Almost
uniquely in the developed world, bus operators
themselves, outside London, decide where
most services are run and what to charge.
Services can be confusing, split between
different companies who do not accept each
other’s tickets or, in some cases, acknowledge
each other’s existence. Traffic congestion has
made buses slower, less reliable and costlier to
run. Public subsidy has fallen. The industry faces
new structural challenges which it cannot meet
alone, such as the rise of ride-hailing. Usage in
most places keeps falling.
And then came COVID-19. Bus use has held
up more strongly than rail in the pandemic,
but as with the railways it has accelerated the
challenges to an operating model that was
already in trouble. Few services could now
survive without emergency state support. If
we are not to abandon entire communities,
services cannot be planned purely on a
commercial basis.

COVID-19 has caused a significant shift from
public transport to the private car. To avoid the
worst effects of a car-led recovery – cities and
towns grinding to a halt; pollution, road injuries,
respiratory illness and carbon emissions all
rising – we need to shift back quickly, by making
radical improvements to local public transport
as normal life returns. Buses are the quickest,
easiest and cheapest way to do that.
Even before the pandemic started, the
Government had committed £3bn of new
money during the current Parliament to
improve buses outside London. Armed with
that transformational funding, this National Bus
Strategy will build back better. Its central aim is
to get more people travelling by bus – first, to
get overall patronage back to its pre-COVID-19
level, and then to exceed it. We will only achieve
this if we can make buses a practical and
attractive alternative to the car for more people.
To achieve our goal, this strategy will make
buses more frequent, more reliable, easier to
understand and use, better co‑ordinated and
cheaper: in other words, more like London’s,
where these type of improvements dramatically
increased passenger numbers, reduced
congestion, carbon and pollution, helped
the disadvantaged and got motorists out of
their cars.
We want the same fully integrated service,
the same simple, multi-modal tickets, the
same increases in bus priority measures, the
same high-quality information for passengers
and, in larger places, the same turn-up-andgo frequencies. We want services that keep
running into the evenings and at weekends.

8

Page 92

Introduction – Our vision for the future of buses

We want buses to be both tools of inclusion
and the transport of choice. We want to
demystify buses for non-users, tackle
misconceptions about bus travel and address
the negative perceptions some still hold about it.
But London is only a partial role model. Its
population density is greater than elsewhere;
costs and subsidy remain stubbornly high;
and its success is eroding as its bus ridership
has been falling.

9

Page 93

Introduction – Our vision for the future of buses

Wherever and whenever bus patronage
grows, there are likely to be bus operators and
local government working together to deliver
improvements for passengers.
Buses in London, unlike the rest of England, are
franchised. Transport for London determines the
network of services which are provided, under
contracts for specific routes, by private sector
operators. Franchising does not necessarily
have to replicate this route-by route tendering.
Less onerously, contracts can be let for
different parts of a city or to a single operator
for a whole network, with significant co-design
opportunities for that operator. This is the
model of the successful LibertyBus franchise
in Jersey. Franchising powers are only available
automatically to Mayoral Combined Authorities
(MCAs) but can be provided to other Local
Transport Authorities (LTAs) through secondary
legislation. We will support any LTA which
wishes to access franchising powers, and which
has the capability and intention to use them at
pace to deliver improvements for passengers.

But franchising is not the only route to better
and more locally accountable bus services.
An Enhanced Partnership is a statutory
arrangement under the 2017 Bus Services Act
which can specify, for example, timetables and
multi-operator ticketing, and allows the LTA to
take over the role of registering bus services
from the Traffic Commissioners. The main
difference versus franchising is that operators
in an Enhanced Partnership have a much
greater role, working with LTAs to both develop
and deliver improvements for passengers and
having a real say on how bus services should
be improved. Enhanced Partnerships also offer
significantly more flexibility than franchising.

10

Page 94

Introduction – Our vision for the future of buses

By the end of June 2021, we expect all LTAs,
except MCAs which have started the statutory
process of franchising bus services, to commit
to establishing Enhanced Partnerships across
their entire areas under the Bus Services Act,
and all operators to co-operate with the LTA
throughout the process. LTAs which also wish to
pursue franchising may do so – but they should
commit to implementing Enhanced Partnerships
in the meantime until the franchising process,
which can be lengthy, is complete. LTAs which
are not mayoral combined authorities and wish
to pursue franchising will need to satisfy the
Secretary of State that they have the capability
and resources to do so, and that it will better
deliver service improvements for passengers.

From 1 July 2021, only LTAs and operators who
meet these requirements will continue to receive
the COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant
(CBSSG) or any new sources of bus funding
from the Government’s £3bn budget. The terms
and conditions of CBSSG already make clear
that it is discretionary. The new funding will also
be discretionary. As part of wider reform of
the Bus Service Operators Grant – see below
– we will consult on linking payment of that
reformed grant to these commitments. By the
end of October 2021, we expect all LTAs to
publish a local Bus Service Improvement Plan,
detailing how they propose to use their powers
to improve services. We expect actual delivery
of Enhanced Partnerships by April 2022. From
that date, the new discretionary forms of bus
funding from Government will only be available
to services operated, or measures taken,
under an Enhanced Partnership or where a
franchising scheme has been made. In addition,
only services operated under these statutory
agreements will be eligible for the reformed Bus
Service Operators Grant, subject to consultation.
The Secretary of State may disapply these rules
or the deadline of April 2022 in individual cases,
on an exceptional basis; we will also ensure that
no operator is disadvantaged through any failure
to establish an Enhanced Partnership due to
actions beyond their control.

11

Page 95

Introduction – Our vision for the future of buses

12

Page 96

Introduction – Our vision for the future of buses

We expect that the majority of LTAs will choose
these Enhanced Partnerships rather than
franchising as their end state, though others
will proceed to franchising. We value the crucial
role that bus operators have and believe that
partnerships will allow LTAs to harness their
knowledge and entrepreneurial skills. As we
describe later, partnerships will work best if
they deliver benefits and incentives to both
sides. We will publish updated guidance on
Enhanced Partnerships in the coming weeks.
Just as important as new operating models,
are other measures to drive quality and
efficiency. We want to create a virtuous
circle: increasing usage, but also reducing
operating costs so better services can be
sustained without permanently higher subsidy.
In cities and other congested places, the key
intervention will be significantly more ambitious
bus priority schemes, making services faster,
more reliable, more attractive to passengers
and cheaper to run.
To benefit from the funding in this strategy, LTAs
in such places will be expected to implement
ambitious bus priority schemes and draw up
ambitious Bus Service Improvement Plans.
Statutory traffic management guidance will be
updated to make promoting bus reliability an
integral part of highway authorities’ Network
Management Duty. As we have already
announced, the remaining elements of Part 6
of the Traffic Management Act 2004 – which
allow local authorities to enforce moving traffic
offences – will be commenced this year and we
will consult shortly on increasing MCAs’ powers
over key roads in their areas, where they are not
already the highway authority.

And in lower-density, often rural areas, not
served or barely served by conventional buses,
we will support new forms of provision, such as
demand responsive travel in smaller vehicles.
These innovations in service may be how we
improve evening and Sunday services in places
which currently lack them, integrated with
conventional buses during the day.
As well as spending more money, we will
fundamentally reform how it is spent. The main
current funding stream, the Bus Service
Operators Grant (BSOG), is a fossil fuel subsidy.
The new funding regime will take a holistic
approach targeted at the delivery of the policies
in this strategy and other specific benefits:
growing patronage, increasing efficiency,
improving the environment and securing
modal shift from the private car.
Much of the work to improve services and
manage the new funding streams will be
done by local authorities, whose capacity
varies significantly. We will therefore provide
£25 million in 2021/22 to support partnership
and franchising development, including a Bus
Centre of Excellence.
Just as buses are central to the public
transport network, bus reform is central to this
Government’s objectives. We are acting not
just because buses are the easiest, cheapest
and quickest way of improving transport – but
because the bus is key to two of our wider
priorities: net zero and levelling up.
During a challenging time for public transport,
it might seem strange to predict a prosperous
future for the bus. From crisis, however, comes
opportunity.

To further our commitments in the Government’s
green ten-point plan, we will support the
purchase of at least 4,000 new zero emission
buses, more than a tenth of the fleet2. We
will also set a date for ending the sale of new
diesel buses in the UK. This, too, will reduce
costs, since an electric bus is much cheaper
to operate than a conventional one.

13

Page 97

1
Chapter 1

The
opportunity
14

Page 98

15

Page 99

Chapter 1 – The opportunity

Buses are the easiest, cheapest
and quickest way to improve
transport. Building a new railway
or road takes years, if not decades.
Better bus services can be delivered
in months. Experience shows that
relatively small sums of money, by
the standards of transport spending,
can deliver significant benefits.
16

Page 100

Chapter 1 – The opportunity

17

Page 101

Chapter 1 – The opportunity

Since COVID-19, the need has become more
urgent. In many places, roads already operated
at or close to capacity before the pandemic.
There is a risk that when full economic life
returns, the move away from public transport
during the crisis will cause unmanageable
levels of car traffic, slowing some areas to a
crawl, holding back the economic recovery and
creating a severe risk to health. Bus services
can be improved relatively quickly to draw
people back to public transport. They can also
be reconfigured more easily than railways to
meet any post-COVID change in travel patterns,
such as a greater number of suburban, local
and orbital journeys in cities.

Buses can improve productivity more widely, for
instance by reducing congestion which affects
all road users and costs urban economies at
least £11bn a year6.

The bus sector includes many examples of
success and innovation. Despite years of
decline, the quantity of bus services in many
places remains quite good, at least during
the working day. But because buses have
been neglected, their future is fragile and there
remains substantial scope for improvement.
Our task is both to unlock the substantial
untapped potential in the existing service, by
making it easier to understand and use; and
to improve it, making it more reliable, more
frequent and cheaper, and making more use
of new forms of provision such as demand
responsive transport.

For this reason, buses are vital to ensuring the
economy meets Net Zero carbon emissions
and driving the green transformation. In
congested areas, substantial modal shift away
from the car will soon be needed if clean air
targets and the Government’s broader climate
goals are to be met. The only mode capable
of sufficient expansion in the time available is
the bus. We need more people to choose the
bus for their journeys; we need to reverse the
declines of the past.

Buses are key to delivering
wider government priorities
Buses can play a greater role in enabling access
to work or more productive work. 44% of bus
trips are for work or education, compared with
27% of solo car journeys3. Buses can help
drive better employment outcomes for disabled
people, and in cities outside London, 77% of
jobseekers do not have regular access to a car,
van or motorbike. Having found employment,
affordable bus travel helps ensure that work
pays and can be sustained for everyone4.
But local bus fares have risen by 1.4% a year
in real terms since 20105.

Buses can be key to levelling-up; users are
disproportionately from less advantaged social
groups and places. Improved services will
strengthen communities, sustain town centres
and connect disabled and isolated people.
But buses should not be seen, or promoted,
only as transport for those without an alternative.
There is clear evidence that they can be made
attractive enough to draw people away from
their cars.

Bus spending works and
is high value for money
A Department for Transport (DfT) analysis of 33
major bus schemes found an average benefitcost ratio of 4.2; in other words, they delivered
benefits worth more than four times their cost7.
Buses generate a significant proportion of
benefits which accrue to other road users and
to society at large.

18

Page 102

Chapter 1 – The opportunity

The challenge: a cycle of decline
Our system isn’t working. With some
encouraging exceptions, bus services have
been in decline for a long time, as we have
become an increasingly car-focused society.
In many areas, we are stuck in a vicious cycle
where ever-increasing congestion slows
down buses and makes them less attractive,
pushing people further towards the car and
compounding the problem.
The way the bus industry works, with few
incentives for operators and local authorities to
work together, has made it harder to cope with
these trends, or to act strategically. Since 1986,
almost uniquely in the developed world, buses
in Britain (outside London) have been organised
on a predominantly commercial basis, with
operators themselves deciding where to run
and what to charge.

Following that change, profitable routes and
times of day were flooded with buses at the
expense of other routes and times; services
became unstable and confusing; the quality
of vehicles fell and fares in many places rose
sharply. Services which could not be run
commercially, previously cross-subsidised
from the profits of busier routes, now had to be
supported by the taxpayer. The money available
for this fell substantially over the last ten years,
causing severe cuts to supported services;
some councils now spend nothing at all. The
worst excesses of the “bus wars,” which saw
streets choked with rival vehicles, are long over,
but the legacy remains.

19

Page 103

Chapter 1 – The opportunity

Examples of some barriers to
delivering better bus services
Bus Company A

Bus Company B

Limited cooperation
In a busy seaside resort, there are two sizeable rival bus networks
that don’t acknowledge each other’s existence. They:
•

publish separate city maps, showing only their own services,
giving potential users including visitors the impression that
some areas of the city are completely unserved;

•

they use the same route numbers for entirely different
routes; and

•

on the busiest routes, served by both operators, there can be
overcapacity at certain times of the day.

On numerous routes across the
country, evening and daytime
services are operated by different
bus companies, many of which do
not acknowledge each other’s
existence or even accept each
other’s tickets. Some operator
timetables don’t display each
other’s services, which gives the
impression there are no services
at different times of the day.

There is a multi-operator ticket, but it is more expensive and hard
to find out about.

Lack of evening
services

Complex
ticketing

Poor
integration

Large areas of even major cities
have only one or two buses
an hour in the evenings,
even though late-night and
shift-working are becoming
commonplace. Lots of bus
services in rural areas cease
as early as 5 or 6pm.

In a major northern city, bus
passengers are faced with
the choice of many different
weekly or monthly tickets,
which have different names
and conditions attached to
them. This can be confusing
and makes it difficult for
passengers to choose the best
option for them. There are six
different weekly tickets but none
that gives travel on all the city’s
public transport networks.

In one Home Counties town with
generally excellent bus services,
misguided landscaping and
redevelopment around the
railway station moved bus stops
further away.

20

Page 104

Chapter 1 – The opportunity

Bus Use and Car Ownership 1982–20198
4000

35,000

England outside
London Local Bus
journeys

GB Private Cars
30,000

3000

Journeys (millions)

25,000
2500
20,000
2000

London Local
Bus journeys

Bus Deregulation

15,000

1500
10,000

GLA Act

1000

Licensed Private Cars (thousands)

3500

5,000

500

0

0
1982

1987

1992

1997

2002

2007

2012

2017

GLA (Greater London Authority) Act 1999 established authority for the Greater London Authority, the Mayor of
London and the London Assembly to make provision about transport and road traffic in and around Greater London.

In rural areas, more dispersed, lower density
populations make it challenging to deliver
widespread timetabled services run by
traditional buses. Services often take long
and indirect routes, to serve as many people
as possible, but they become an unattractive
alternative for passengers with access to a car.
Services invariably need funding from LTAs and,
when money is tight, funding for bus services
is deprioritised. Services get cut, and people
are even more likely to buy a car, reducing the
potential demand for buses even further.

If we are to meet our legal obligation to deliver
Net Zero carbon emissions and have thriving
communities, we have to reverse these cycles.
This is made more challenging by the impact of
COVID-19 on the bus sector. With over £1bn of
financial support provided by the Government
during the pandemic so far, the sector has
provided the essential services for people who
have needed to keep using public transport,
including key workers. But the lasting impact
on bus use remains unknown, with passenger
numbers expected to fall from pre-COVID levels
– at least initially.

21

Page 105

Chapter 1 – The opportunity

The COVID-19 pandemic has had a huge
impact on bus use in 2020
During the first lockdown passenger boardings fell to approximately 10% of those on the same
day in the third week of January. As restrictions were eased passenger boardings increased9.
120%

Passenger boardings in Great Britain, excluding London: compared
to the same day in the third week of January (100=no change)

100%

'Rule of six'
introduced

80%

60%

Announcement of the
UK lockdown
Relaxation of lockdown rules,
schools start to re-open and
people can meet outside

40%

20%

Further relaxation of lockdown rules,
hospitality sector re-opens. Two
households can now meet inside.

Announcement of
second lockdown
in England

The impact of COVID-19 is both a significant risk
and an opportunity. It has meant much greater
co-operation between many LTAs and bus
operators which we cannot afford to lose. While
relationships and capacity still need to be built
and improved, there can simply be no return to
the situation, seen in too many parts of England,
where services were planned on a purely
commercial basis with little or no engagement
with, or support from, LTAs.

09/11/2020

09/10/2020

09/09/2020

09/08/2020

09/07/2020

09/06/2020

09/05/2020

09/04/2020

09/03/2020

0%

The next year provides a unique chance to
change the way in which local authorities and
operators work together and deliver significant
improvements for passengers. That is why we
are seeking urgent action.

22

Page 106

Chapter 1 – The opportunity

Examples of success
Across England there are pockets of hope
– places where significant growth has been
seen despite the national trends. We know
what can work and how the cycle can be
broken. It needs LTAs and bus operators
to work together to put passengers
first. Where operators understand their
passengers, offer great customer service
and have clean, modern fleets; and LTAs
invest to give buses priority on busy roads
and junctions, and put buses at the heart of
their local transport planning.

Brighton & Hove
Partnership working between Brighton
and Hove Council and local operators is
cited as a key reason why the area has the
highest bus use per head in England outside
of London, with 167 journeys per person
made between 2019–202010. It has created
a platform for co-operation and innovation,
and shared initiatives on greening fleets and
modernising the passenger experience.
Within the partnership, the council has
focused on bus priority measures, improved
passenger waiting areas and real-time
information displays. The operators have
focused on improving service frequencies,
creating value for money fares and tickets,
investing in new buses and improving
customer training and marketing.

Picture:
Brighton and Hove Buses

Page 107

23

Chapter 1 – The opportunity

The Harrogate Bus Company
The 36, a premium bus route linking Ripon
and Harrogate with the City of Leeds,
offers a sophisticated and comfortable
service which has transformed the
passenger experience and encouraged
people to make the switch to bus.
Achieving consistent growth, the number
of passengers using the 36 has nearly
doubled over 15 years.
Along with a high frequency timetable, the
spacious and comfortable buses, which
include USB power outlets, superfast WiFi
and a glazed panoramic roof, have earned
the route 36 service a customer satisfaction
score of 97% and more than 50% of
customers, who have a car available,
choose to use the 36 instead11.

Picture: The Harrogate Bus Company

Bristol’s Metrobus
The metrobus network was built with an
investment of £235m – including £113m
from the Department for Transport.
Metrobus is a bus rapid transit system
comprising three limited-stop routes in
the Bristol urban area that use bus lanes
and segregated busways.
There are 90 metrobus stops with
new high-profile shelters and ‘iPoints’
that provide real-time information and
sell tickets. The network uses new
low-emission biomethane buses in a
bespoke livery, and all ticket sales take
place off-bus to ensure quick boarding.
Minimum frequencies and maximum
fares are specified.

Picture: Bristol’s Metrobus
24

Page 108

Chapter 1 – The opportunity

Projects which have grown patronage
The West Midlands is a good recent
example of how revenue and capital
subsidy by operators and government can
arrest general decline. Bus use has been
stabilised by a series of corridor and route
enhancement schemes:
•

2.5km of bus lanes on B425 Lode
Lane, Solihull, was an investment of
£4.5m and delivered a 11% boost to
patronage.

•

£800k of route enhancements on
Harborne Road delivered a 4% rise in
patronage.

In Crawley, West Sussex, the Fastway
scheme – a series of bus priority measures
along two core routes, linking Horley,
Gatwick airport and Crawley, has delivered
patronage growth of 160% over ten
years as well as an increase to customer
satisfaction and reduced journey times.
Assessments estimate a benefit-cost ratio
of at least 4.6713.

In addition, half-price travel for under-18s
and low-fare zones for all, including cutting
the price of a DaySaver ticket by c.25%,
brought an extra 4,000 journeys a day12.

So the cornerstone of this strategy is a roll out of
this model for success – bringing together LTAs
and their bus operators in every part of England
to set out plans to improve local bus services
and break the vicious cycle of decline.

The bulk of the £3bn transformation funding will
be paid after the transformational changes begin
in April 2022.

Our plan is backed by transformative, longterm funding. The £3bn for buses in England
outside London, which was announced by the
Prime Minister in February 2020, will initially be
invested in:
•

Supporting new and increased services –
with at least £300m of funding to support
the sector recover from the pandemic
in 2021/22.

•

Giving LTAs the skills and people they need
to deliver this strategy – with £25m of the
£300m allocated in 2021/22.

•

Bus priority schemes to speed up
journeys – with the first schemes delivered
in 2021/22.

•

Accelerating the delivery of zero emission
buses with £120m in 2021/22.
25

Page 109

Chapter 2

The buses
we want

2
26

Page 110

27

Page 111

Chapter 2 – The buses we want

Our goal is to get bus use back to
what it was before the pandemic.
Then we want to increase patronage
and raise buses’ mode share. We can
only do these things by ensuring that
buses are an attractive alternative to
the car for far more people.
28

Page 112

Chapter 2 – The buses we want

29

Page 113

Chapter 2 – The buses we want

That means making them:
•

•

•

•

More frequent: Turn up and go services,
where passengers don’t need a timetable,
should be provided on major urban routes.
Feeder services, using conventional buses
or smaller vehicles, can boost the frequency
of connections from places away from main
roads, connecting to the major routes with
integrated ticketing. In low-density areas
and at low-demand times of day, demand
responsive vehicles can provide much
higher levels of service than conventional
fixed bus routes.

•

Faster and more reliable: Buses must
have greater priority on urban roads. LTAs
will be given new powers to enforce traffic
regulations. They will be expected to
promote bus reliability, and to implement
ambitious bus priority schemes, to receive
new funding. These must be planned to
complement walking and cycling schemes.
We will consult shortly on increasing Metro
Mayors’ powers over key roads in their
areas, where they are not already the
highway authority.
Cheaper: We want to see more low, flat
fares in towns and cities, lower point-topoint fares elsewhere, and more daily
price capping everywhere.
More comprehensive: Overprovision
on a few urban corridors with dozens
of competing buses every hour should
be reduced to boost under provision
elsewhere. More services should operate in
the evenings, weekends, and at night, and
to smaller towns and villages, sometimes
using new forms of demand responsive
transport.

Easier to understand: All public
transport across England – bus, light rail
and conventional rail – should be easy
to access via journey planning websites
and apps, with everything passengers
need to know at their fingertips, including
times, accessibility information, fares and
live running. The data is already available;
we want to see it used. Additionally:
− Bus stops should show accurate
information about the services stopping
there. Every town, city and rural area
should have easy to access, up to date
maps, showing all local bus services.
− Each local area should have a common
numbering system, to avoid two routes
with the same number in the same
place, and bus stops should be named
consistently by operators running the
same bus routes.
− Local branding that reflects the
community and not the operator should
be adopted, though successful existing
brands such as Harrogate’s 36 should
not be sacrificed.
− Routes should, as far as possible, be the
same in the evenings and weekends as
they are in the daytime.
− Routes should be as easy as possible to
understand, with simple, high-frequency
trunk services rather than lots of lowfrequency services combining together.
− All operators which run the same route
should accept the same tickets, use the
same route number and be shown on
the same timetable.
− Timetable changes should be minimised
and co-ordinated across operators, so
they happen at the same time.
− There should be heavy promotion
and marketing to familiarise non-users
with their local buses, to demystify the
service for non-users, and introductory
offers to promote the service to them.

30

Page 114

Chapter 2 – The buses we want

31

Page 115

Chapter 2 – The buses we want

•

•

•

Easier to use: Common tickets, passes
and daily capping should be available on
all services irrespective of operator, at little
or no premium to single-operator fares. All
buses should accept contactless payment.
Tickets and fares should be simple; flat
fares should increasingly be standard
in urban areas. Bus stations should be
protected from closure and redevelopment
and improved.
Better to ride in: Comfortable, high-spec,
modern buses will help make using the bus
more appealing. Passengers should feel
safe on board. Buses should offer end to
end accessibility and provide ample areas
for pushchairs and luggage in addition to
the wheelchair space, so that everybody
can travel with confidence. They should
also offer audible and visible information, in
addition to WIFI and charging as standard –
allowing people to work and interact online
whilst they travel, and make better use
of their time. In holiday and scenic areas,
much more should be done to promote
buses to visitors, with the views from the
top deck an attraction in themselves.
Better integrated with other modes
and each other: More bus routes should
serve railway stations, as is standard in
most European countries, and integrate
with cycling and walking routes and
networks. Additionally:

− Full information on local bus services
should be posted in railway stations,
and the rail industry should promote
bus links.
− Park-and-ride schemes should be
expanded, and more rural bus services
should carry bikes.
•

Greener: We will support the introduction
of at least 4,000 more zero emission buses.

•

Accessible and inclusive by design:
Disabled people must be able to use bus
services as easily as other passengers.
Making buses more accessible (not just
the vehicles themselves, but also bus
stops, bus stations, and by providing
excellent customer service) will benefit other
passengers too. Next stop announcements,
for example, will help everyone know where
the bus is going and when they’ve reached
their stop.

•

Innovative: We want to harness the
entrepreneurial skills of the best operators
to constantly strive for innovation in
the market.

•

Seen as a safe mode of transport:
The sector must strive for the highest
safety standards, upheld by the Traffic
Commissioners. Marketing should
emphasise the features that support
personal safety, for example CCTV onboard
and at bus stops and data that allows
passengers to know when a bus is arriving
so they do not have to wait in the street.
This should be supported by more demand
responsive services in the evenings and
late at night.

− Railway stations should be hubs for
connecting services with high quality
stops close to station entrances.
Schemes that move buses further away
from stations should not be allowed.
− Passengers should not have to buy a
new ticket when changing buses. Easy
through ticketing should be available
between bus operators and other
transport modes.
− Our ambition is for an integrated
ticketing approach to allow you to buy
a through journey for local bus, rail
and metro with a single tap on your
smartphone.

We want bus services that mean fewer journeys
are needed by private car. We want buses
across the country to become the transport
of choice for people with other options, as
they already are in some places. Our changes
therefore need to tackle negative perceptions
by non-users. We will have failed if we do not
address the perceptions which deter people
from buses:

32

Page 116

Chapter 2 – The buses we want

Passenger Satisfaction
The latest Transport Focus ‘Annual Bus Passenger Survey’ gives headline satisfaction
figures of between 76% and 95% for local bus services in England outside London14.
We know that people’s top priorities for improvement – from
among people who both do and don’t use buses – include:
Stops that
are close to
home, and the
destination

More buses
that arrive, and
stay, on time

Buses that
run more
often

Buses to
more places

Better
value for
money

Source: Transport Focus, Bus Passengers’ priorities for improvement survey, published September 2020.

We want to see any negative views and misconceptions
surrounding bus use, which include the examples
below, addressed by up to date and easy to
access information about local bus services.

Won’t the bus
journey take a
long time?

Is there a service I
can use to get home
late evening and at
weekends?

How do I know if
my bus service is
accessible?

How do I safely
take my children
with me?

Where do I go to
find the time of my
next bus service?

I’m worried
about my
personal safety.

I don’t understand
where my local
routes go.

How do the fares
work and can I use
contactless to pay?

I’m worried I
may get stuck
somewhere.

33

Page 117

3
Chapter 3

Delivering
better bus
services
34

Page 118

35

Page 119

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

Strong bus networks connect
our communities, getting people
to jobs and services, giving them
opportunities, and boosting economic
growth and inclusion. This chapter sets
out the collaborative approach that
will give us stronger, better planned
networks, and how Government will
support local transport authorities
and operators to deliver.
36

Page 120

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

37

Page 121

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

Today’s bus sector
Since 1986, the bus market in England
outside London has been deregulated.
Prior to COVID-19, around 87% of local bus
service mileage outside London was run on a
commercial basis by hundreds of private sector
bus operators15. These operators decide where
and when to run commercial services, invest in
the buses and facilities, and set their own fares,
with only a very limited role for LTAs*.
Before the pandemic, the 20% of services
which were not run commercially were
‘tendered’ for and subsidised by LTAs if they
considered them ‘socially necessary’. Prior to
COVID-19, the sector received funding from
central Government through concessionary
fares funding, the Bus Service Operators Grant,
community transport grants and support to
subsidise socially necessary services.
This model doesn’t always work for passengers.
There is often no incentive for integrated
ticketing, or for operators to run services
that are not profitable outside of peak hours.
LTAs may not have the budget to provide
additional or replacement services, or the skills
and resources to understand where they are
needed. And there is little or no visibility for the
public of the role that LTAs play in supporting
buses or data by which the local electorate can
hold their councillors or Mayor to account for
their part in improving bus services.
LTAs can do something about this. Over
the past 20 years they have been given
increasing powers to work with bus operators
to improve services and ensure that they work
for passengers and local communities. Most
recently the Bus Services Act 2017 gave LTAs
the potential for much greater influence over
bus services in their area –underpinned by new
types of statutory partnerships with operators
and the ability to franchise services. Franchising
powers are automatically available to Mayors
of Combined Authorities and can be made
available to other types of local authority, where
needed, through secondary legislation.

38

COVID-19 has meant greater co-operation
between LTAs and bus operators and a more
transparent approach to the costs and revenues
of running bus services. We want to build on
this close working to drive the recovery of the
bus sector.

Building back better
– recovering from
the pandemic
The Government has provided an
unprecedented amount of support for the
bus sector during the pandemic. Through the
COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant (CBSSG)
and the Bus Service Operators Grant (BSOG),
the Government had announced over £1 billion
of support by the end of 2020. CBSSG will
remain in place as long as it is needed. We are
clear that we will continue to support the sector
to run the services needed to get our economy
back on track.
CBSSG is discretionary, as will be future bus
funding from the £3bn. From 1 July 2021,
CBSSG and any successor funding to it; funding
to transform services as outlined in this Strategy;
and potentially, subject to consultation on wider
reform, the reformed Bus Service Operators
Grant, will only be available to LTAs, outside
of London, who have committed to entering
into Enhanced Partnerships or started the
statutory process of franchising services, and
to operators who co-operate with the process.
Since franchising can take several years, we
expect those LTAs who want to start down that
road to commit to establishing an Enhanced
Partnership in the meantime, unless they have
begun the process of implementing franchising
already (as in Greater Manchester, for instance).

* Upper tier local authorities (usually combined authorities and county councils) and unitary authorities. Combined authorities are
local government entities set up by two or more neighbouring councils wishing to co-ordinate responsibilities and powers over
services, including aspects of transport, housing and social care. If the authority has a directly elected Mayor it is a Mayoral
Combined Authority.

Page 122

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

We want to see the commitment to these
partnerships realised, so from April 2022 only
LTAs with an Enhanced Partnership or who
have begun following the statutory process
to decide whether to implement franchising,
will be able to access the new discretionary
streams of Government bus funding. From
that date, the new discretionary forms of bus
funding from Government will only be available
to services operated, or measures taken,
under an Enhanced Partnership or where a
franchising scheme has been made. In addition,
only services operated under these statutory
agreements will be eligible for the reformed Bus
Service Operators Grant, subject to consultation.
The Secretary of State may disapply these rules
or the deadline of April 2022 in individual cases,
on an exceptional basis; we will also ensure that
no operator is disadvantaged through any failure
to establish an Enhanced Partnership due to
actions beyond their control. We will also take
into account an LTA’s performance with respect
to the policies set out in this strategy when
considering funding allocations for wider, nonbus local transport schemes.

By the end of October 2021, we expect all LTAs
to publish a local Bus Service Improvement
Plan. These new plans must set out how
they will use their Enhanced Partnership or
franchising scheme to deliver an ambitious
vision for travel by bus, meeting the goals and
expectations in this strategy and driven by what
passengers and would-be passengers want in
their area.

Hertfordshire’s Enhanced Partnership
Hertfordshire County Council introduced
‘intalink’, England’s first Enhanced
Partnership agreement in April 2020.
The partnership’s objectives include
prioritising bus services in traffic, closer
integration of the bus network including
upgrading bus infrastructure; improving
the image of bus travel and using data and
information.
These objectives aim to keep passengers
informed about available services, increase
service frequencies and improve reliability
and co-ordination with other modes to
encourage residents to make bus their first
choice to get around their local area.

39

Page 123

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

Plans must be developed in collaboration with
local bus operators, community transport bodies
and local businesses, services and people.
They will be living, transparent documents, with
targets. LTAs will need to routinely publish sixmonthly progress reports against these targets.
Plans will demonstrate how bus services are
integrated with other types of transport in their
area such as connectivity to train stations,
making journeys simple and stress-free for
customers. They must take account of cycling
and walking schemes, complementing these
forms of travel and not competing with them.
We will publish detailed guidance on preparing
a Bus Service Improvement Plan shortly, and
update our existing guidance on Enhanced
Partnerships and franchising.

Summary of what LTAs
and bus operators must
do to access CBSSG from
1 July and transformational
funding from April 2022
•

By the end of June 2021 LTAs
will need to commit to establishing
Enhanced Partnerships under the Bus
Services Act or the LTA should begin the
statutory process of franchising services.
Operators in those areas should
cooperate with those processes.

•

Those LTAs who do not have access
to franchising powers at present, but
consider that it is the best route to
adopt in the interest of passengers
and that they have the capability and
resources to deliver it, should progress
with the implementation of an Enhanced
Partnership alongside applying to
the Secretary of State for access to
franchising powers.

•

By the end of October 2021 each LTA
will need to publish a local Bus Service
Improvement Plan. Each plan will need
to be updated annually and reflected
in the authority’s Local Transport Plan*
and in other relevant local plans such as
Local Cycling and Walking Infrastructure
Plans (LCWIPs).

•

From April 2022, LTAs will need to
have an Enhanced Partnership in place,
or be following the statutory process
to decide whether to implement a
franchising scheme, to access the new
discretionary streams of bus funding.
Only services operated or measures
taken under an Enhanced Partnership or
where a franchising scheme has been
made will be eligible to receive the new
funding streams.

LTAs may also join together to produce
joint plans and partnership or franchising
arrangements and should be looking to do
so where local economies and travel to work
areas overlap significantly. We would expect
to see shared arrangements across any areas
wishing to become new or expanded Mayoral
Combined Authorities in the future.
To support LTAs in forming partnerships and
developing plans, we will make £25m available
in financial year 2021–22.

40

Page 124

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

Bus Service Improvement Plans will:
•

•

•

Be developed by LTAs in collaboration with
local bus operators, community transport
bodies and local businesses, services
and people.
Cover the LTA’s full area, all local bus
services within it, and the differing needs of
any parts of that area (e.g. urban and rural
elements).
Focus on delivering the bus network that
LTAs (in consultation with operators) want
to see, including how to address the under

provision and overprovision of bus services
and buses integrating with other modes.
•

Set out how they will achieve the objectives
in this strategy, including growing bus use,
and include a detailed plan for delivery.

•

Be updated annually and reflected in the
authority’s Local Transport Plan.

•

Influence the share of the £3bn of
transformation funding each LTA receives.

We expect Bus Service Improvement Plans to:
•

Set targets for journey times and reliability
improvements (for the LTA as a whole and
in each of the largest cities and towns in its
area) – to be reported against publicly at
least every six months.

•

Identify where bus priority measures are
needed, including consideration of Bus
Rapid Transit routes to transform key
corridors and how traffic management can
be improved to benefit buses.

•

•

Set out pressures on the road network,
air quality issues and carbon reduction
targets which improved bus services could
address, and set out actions working with
operators to transform the local bus fleet to
zero emission.
Drive improvements for passengers by:
− Setting targets for passenger growth
and customer satisfaction (to be
reported against publicly at least every
six months).

− Setting out plans and costs for fares,
ticketing and modal integration.
Initially, we expect LTAs and bus
operators to develop plans to enable
multi-operator ticketing, where plans
do not exist. Over time we will expect
LTAs to work across transport modes
towards enabling a multi-modal
ticketing scheme.
− Considering the impact of roadside
infrastructure (e.g. bus stops and
shelters) on passenger safety, security
and accessibility.
− Considering how a coherent and
integrated network should serve
schools, health, social care, employment
and other services.
− Taking into account the views of
local people.
− Committing to a Bus Passenger
Charter (BPC) that sets out what
passengers can expect from bus
operators delivering local bus services
across their area. BPC’s should include
commitments on the accessibility of
bus services.

* All local transport authorities in England are required to have a Local Transport Plan (LTP) relating to transport to, from and within their area. It is
a practical document which sets out in detail the authority’s transport policies over a given period. This includes local objectives, strategy and an
implementation plan highlighting what measures will be taken to achieve local plans.
41

Page 125

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

Bus Service Improvement Plans will need to explain:
•

How current services meet or fall short of
the expectations listed above.

•

How the improvements needed will
be delivered through the Enhanced
Partnership/franchising schemes and the
LTA’s and operators’ investment plans.

•

The financial support that the LTA is
providing for subsidised public bus
services, listing the numbers of routes
and route mileage supported.

•

How traffic management and investment
are used to prioritise buses. In Mayoral
Combined Authorities (MCA) this will include
the extent of the MCA’s role over a Key
Route Network and how that is used to
prioritise bus services.

42

Page 126

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

Franchising
Franchising can be an effective way of correcting
a market failure and we support its use where
it is in the best interests of passengers. Used
well, franchising can harness the knowledge
and expertise of the private sector and improve
service levels, customer satisfaction and overall
patronage.
Franchising does not always require the scale
of LTA resource and planning seen in London.
There are also strong models of franchising in
the Channel Islands and other countries which
capitalise on the strengths of private sector route
planning, marketing and investment as part of
the tendering process whilst ensuring stronger
local accountability and financial incentives to
prioritise bus services for the local authority.
The franchising powers within the Bus Services
Act can currently be used by MCAs at any time,
but only by other LTAs with the Secretary of
State’s consent and new secondary legislation.
We support the use of franchising and will
allow any LTA which has the capability to do
so to pursue franchising where it would not
needlessly delay the provision of better services.

This will include demonstrating the capability in
traffic management necessary to ensure buses
are prioritised appropriately.
The Secretary of State will reserve the right
to refuse an application for franchising if he
believes a LTA does not, or will not, have
the capability and resources to deliver the
franchised model chosen; or that an Enhanced
Partnership would deliver the improvements
proposed more quickly and cost-effectively.
Those LTAs which do not have access to
franchising powers at present, but consider
that it is the best route to adopt in the interest
of passengers and that they have the capability
and resources to deliver it, should progress with
the implementation of an Enhanced Partnership
alongside applying to the Secretary of State for
access to franchising powers. An LTA may move
from an Enhanced Partnership to franchising
later, subject to the conditions above.
We will also strengthen our statutory guidance
on Enhanced Partnerships and franchising
– making it easier for operators and LTAs to
focus on what they want to achieve.

LibertyBus Franchise
in Jersey
The Government of Jersey introduced a
new bus franchising model in 2013 which
was awarded to LibertyBus, a subsidiary of
the HCT Group. LibertyBus is responsible
for all routes, which call at approximately
800 stops around the island.
The franchise has created a long-term
partnership which both parties can invest
in, bringing together local authority and
industry knowledge and skills with the aim
of improving customer service to achieve
better passenger satisfaction, which as
of February 2020 scored 8.3 out of 10.
Between 2012 and 2017 ridership has
increased by 38% and the contract price
has decreased by 11%16.
Picture: HCT LibertyBus

Page 127

43

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

The offer for bus operators and LTAs
Operators will gain things they have long sought:
first, the certainty of continued support through
what are likely to be several years of recovery;
and second a commitment by councils and
Government to tackle some of the biggest
threats to the future of their operations, above
all traffic congestion.
LTAs will have access to significant new
Government funding streams and powers to
make a difference in their areas, and significant
assistance to build up their capabilities to
exercise those powers. LTAs’ performance in
exercising these new responsibilities will be
taken into account when allocating this and
other DfT funding.
The Government intends to bring forward the
English Devolution and Local Recovery White
Paper in due course, detailing how the UK
government will partner with places across the
UK to build a sustainable economic recovery.
We are clear that successful partnerships
should work for both parties, with incentives
and benefits for both, and that where new
franchising proposals are developed, they
should harness the commercial skills and
expertise of bus operators, such as seen
in Jersey.

We will tailor our approach to ensure that the
needs of differing LTAs, their officers and elected
members of local authorities, are sufficiently met,
recognising that a single approach will not work
everywhere. Our approach will be based on
evidence: we will work with stakeholders in local
government, the bus industry and professional
institutions to ensure we understand the gaps in
capacity and capabilities across the sector. We
want to ensure that all parties are well placed
to develop and deliver Enhanced Partnerships,
franchising and Bus Service Improvement Plans
and drive forward the productive partnerships
needed to make a step change in bus services.
We will also support a peer network of senior
leaders working to deliver bus transformation, to
support the sharing of experience and solutions
across the private and public sector.
Partnership guidance will also clarify how
unexpected circumstances, such as the
COVID-19 pandemic, should be handled –
to minimise the additional work that LTAs
need to take to reach a franchising decision.

We will use part of the £25m fund for supporting
LTAs to establish England’s first Bus Centre
of Excellence (BCoE), enabling the delivery
of a long-term programme of activities and
support. The centre will be co‑sponsored by the
Department, and training will be managed and
delivered by experts from across the bus sector.
This will focus on: public transport service
planning and network design, performance
oversight, contract procurement and competitive
tendering, design and development of bus
priority measures, and wider traffic management
measures to improve local bus performance.

44

Page 128

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

Devolution

Delivering better bus services

In line with previous devolution of bus funding to
Transport for London and Transport for Greater
Manchester, we will work to devolve Bus Service
Operators Grant (BSOG), including once it has
been reformed, to MCAs and other LTAs who
request it. This will form part of wider work to
reform BSOG (see page 48) and will not be in
place for financial year 2021–22.

This investment and changes to how the
bus sector works will drive improvements
for passengers. These are set out on the
following pages.

In return, we expect all LTAs to:
•

agree Enhanced Partnerships or to be
following the statutory process to decide
whether to implement franchising;

•

commit to significant improvements in
traffic management, including bus priority
measures, active travel measures and
control of roadworks.

•

drive forward other relevant Government
policies such as air quality improvement
and, where relevant, the implementation of
Clean Air Zones; and

•

in addition, MCAs should develop (along
with their constituent member authorities) a
Key Route Network, subject to consultation
and legislation, to include development of
bus priority measures and improved bus
performance.

Intensive services and
investment on key corridors
In densely populated areas, Enhanced
Partnerships and franchising agreements should
ensure that key radial roads have buses so often
– every few minutes – that passengers never
need a timetable. Evening services on these
roads should be at least every 15 minutes. On
these routes, wherever physically possible, there
should be significant investment in bus priority
– bus lanes, at a minimum. See below for more
about bus lanes and priority measures.
Bus Service Improvement Plans should
also carefully consider network design – for
example, whether local needs are best met
through infrequent “branch” services of main
routes which provide through journeys at the
expense of frequency, or through high-frequency
feeder routes connecting to the main line
service instead, with through ticketing at no
extra charge.
On a few corridors, the legacy of the 1980s “bus
wars” is overprovision, with dozens of buses per
hour, including with duplicate competing services
which do not accept each other’s tickets. This is
wasteful, polluting and can paradoxically make
services slower and less attractive. Planning
should make sure that services are appropriately
spread between corridors, avoiding significant
over and under provision.

45

Page 129

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

There must be significant increases in bus priority
The key to making buses more attractive is
making them faster and more reliable.
In Bus Service Improvement Plans, we expect
to see plans for bus lane on any roads where
there is a frequent bus service, congestion,
and physical space to install one. Bus lanes
should be full-time and as continuous as
possible. They should be part of a wholecorridor approach, including other physical
measures such as:
•

Traffic signal priority;

•

Bus gates, which allow buses to enter
a road that prohibits access to other
traffic; and;

•

Clear and consistent signage.

We will not support opening bus lanes to
electric cars or vans, which would quickly
erode their benefits to bus users. Intensive and
granular focus on the precise conditions of
each road can pay dividends, as some places
have shown. Issues such as bus stop locations
and spacing, residential parking policy, and
removal of buildouts and pinchpoints should all
be considered. Non-residential parking will not
generally be an efficient use of roadspace on
such routes.
Loading’s impact on bus lanes must be
minimised, and to achieve this hours should be
restricted, or loading bays inset or re-provided
close by, away from the main carriageway. LTAs
should consider physical changes to roads’
footprints to allow the provision of continuous
bus lanes. Where there is insufficient space for
a bus lane, LTAs should consider point closures
of some main roads to private cars, allowing
through traffic on other main roads nearby.

Robust enforcement of traffic restrictions can
bring benefits for buses through less congestion.
As we have already announced in Gear Change:
A Bold Vision for Cycling and Walking, we will
this year commence authorities’ enforcement
powers under the remaining elements of Part
6 of the Traffic Management Act 2004. These
powers will allow local authorities, rather than
the police, to enforce against a range of moving
traffic offences which can help ease congestion
and help buses make progress more quickly.
We will issue guidance to local authorities about
the powers, including on the importance of
ensuring citizens are properly informed about
them, and the need for traffic signing to be
properly designed and placed, so that it is clear
to drivers what restrictions are in force. As we
stated in Gear Change, we will consider issuing
warnings for a limited period after introduction
or for a first offence.
The Government will refresh its statutory
guidance to local authorities on traffic
management, to provide up to date and
relevant advice. Statutory traffic management
guidance will be updated to expect enhanced
bus reliability as an integral part of highway
authorities’ Network Management Duty. We
will also consider how to facilitate sharing of
good practice and experience in delivering bus
priority schemes.
As set out in “A Better Deal for Bus Users” in
September 2019, all new road investments in
England which receive central UK government
funding are now required to either support bus
priority measures or explain why doing so would
not be necessary or appropriate in that instance.
All funding bids now need to explicitly address
this issue.
We will also support bus rapid transit and other
such schemes which lie between conventional
bus and light rail, aiming to bring the benefits
and user experience of light rail to bus corridors
at significantly lower cost. See page 66.

46

Page 130

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

Key Route Networks
Most Mayoral Combined Authorities (MCAs)
now have a Key Route Network (KRN) of the
most important local roads for which they share
powers to operate and manage with Local
Highways Authorities. The Government plans
to consult on strengthening the KRN approach.
Whilst some KRN designations exist at present,
Mayors are limited in their powers, particularly
over the allocation of road space.
Our intention is to increase their powers over
their KRNs, similar to the powers that apply
already in London and enable integrated
highways and transport authority status at
Combined Authority level for these roads,
and we will consult on this. As with other
local authorities, MCAs and their constituent
members will be expected to implement
ambitious bus priority programmes and other
roadspace reallocation measures, using all
relevant powers available to them. As explained
earlier in the section about Bus Service
Improvement Plans, future Government funding
will recognise the level of ambition demonstrated
by local authorities.

Superbus networks for
“intermediate” areas –
neither fully urbanised
nor deeply rural
A Superbus network provides higher frequency,
lower fare services; it can deliver the type of
change we want to see. Places such as South
Northumberland, County Durham, Lancashire,
and the East Midlands, with their patchworks
of small industrial towns and large villages,
have not had the advantages of metropolitan
transport authorities but are ideal bus territories
that could really benefit from the Superbus
concept. We particularly encourage ambitious
Bus Service Improvement Plans in these types
of places and remain committed to supporting
the first, low fare Superbus network in Cornwall.

More comprehensive
‘socially necessary’ services
Currently, LTAs can step in to ensure that
‘socially necessary’ services are provided where
there are gaps in the commercial network. But
outside specific categories, there is no obligation
on LTAs to fund these crucial services. Across
England, there are significant differences in
provision, from reasonably generous to almost
nothing, but the trend is sharply downward.
Many communities have lost their daily bus
services altogether. Others have services for
only a few hours a day, suitable perhaps for a
short shopping trip but not for work or longerdistance journeys. Others might have relatively
good services in the daytime but no service at
all in the evenings. This has a serious impact on
people’s ability to find and travel for work.
Partnerships and franchising arrangements must
deliver more comprehensive services, including
those which are socially or economically
necessary. This includes services to smaller and
more isolated places, and more services in the
evenings and at weekends. Without services
at the times people want, people will not use
the bus. Lack of a whole-day service reduces
the number of passengers in the daytime too,
preventing people from using the bus if they are
unable to get back in the evening.
We will issue new guidance on the meaning
and role of ‘socially necessary’ services,
expanding the category to include ‘economically
necessary’ services for the first time. This
recognises the vital role that buses have in
getting people to work at all times of the
day and night. This guidance will set clear
expectations of what we want to see. To drive
forward the levelling-up agenda, this will include
provision for economically disadvantaged areas.
Making sure that people are connected to
centres of employment, broadening their choice
of work and education, is both socially and
economically important.

47

Page 131

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

Through Bus Service Improvement Plans we
expect LTAs to work with operators to set the
daytime, evening and Sunday service levels
that different communities need. In some
cases, these services could be provided by
demand responsive transport, integrated with
the conventional buses, where they exist.
Places that are economically disadvantaged,
including smaller industrial towns and isolated
housing estates, should also be included in
that thinking to connect them better to centres
of employment, broadening opportunities and
the choice of work, education and leisure for
those who live there. We will also expect to
see better services being provided to places of
employment off existing main bus routes, such
as out-of-town industrial estates and factories.
Again, this could be done with integrated
demand responsive transport geared to shift
times. There is a role to play for employers in
helping with this.
If this cannot be achieved by agreement, we
will consider statutorily requiring the provision of
socially necessary bus services, including those
which improve people’s access to employment.

We will modernise the
Bus Service Operators
Grant (BSOG)
Almost £260 million per year is paid in BSOG
to operators of eligible bus services and
community transport organisations. This
includes a core element to recover some of
their fuel costs, and incentive-related payments.
It benefits passengers by helping operators
keep fares down, and enabling operators to run
services that might otherwise be unprofitable,
particularly in rural areas. It is cost effective,
delivering high value for money17 with each £1
spent generating between £2.70 and £3.70
in benefits, including wider economic and
social impacts.

However, the outcomes incentivised by a fuelbased subsidy are not right for the twenty-first
century and the environmental challenges we
face; and the BSOG incentive payments are
outdated, focusing on delivering outcomes
that should have become standard many
years ago. We will reform BSOG to better
meet Government priorities, which will support
environmental objectives, levelling up the
country, and provide better passenger journeys.
We will consult in 2021 on the details of
a modernised BSOG. We will set out our
detailed plans in that consultation, but we are
considering:
•

moving the main element of BSOG from
fuel consumption to a distance rate which
would address the current problem where
base BSOG is not paid to electric vehicles
(except for a small incentive payment);

•

updating the low carbon incentive to better
meet environmental objectives. The existing
incentive started in 2009 so is based on
comparisons to a Euro III bus;

•

an additional amount for rural bus services;

•

new incentives for demand responsive
transport, which could encourage the
delivery of services, and bus use, in
rural areas;

•

efficiencies from administrative changes
such as payments in arrears; and

•

ending payments for ‘dead’ mileage
between depots and the start or finish of
passenger services; and

•

making the reformed BSOG available only
to LTAs and operators in an Enhanced
Partnership, or where franchising is being
actively pursued.

48

Page 132

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

We will make sure that future local transport is joined up
We are committed to reforming future local
transport funding to better support local leaders
deliver their priorities and achieve key objectives,
such as levelling up and decarbonisation.
We will better coordinate local transport funding
by engaging local areas about their investment
priorities in the round and their overall
strategy for improving transport infrastructure.
This will enable better strategic planning and
more joined up infrastructure projects across
local transport networks.

Local Transport Plans (LTPs) will become the
focus of transport funding discussions between
central and local government. LTPs should set
out holistic place-based strategies for improving
transport networks, proposed projects for
investment and ultimately how key objectives will
be achieved. In particular, LTPs should include
clear plans for how interventions across local
transport modes will drive decarbonisation
in their area. To ensure investments achieve
their intended aims, LTPs and business
cases in future will need to demonstrate local
commitment to deliver certain measures. For
example, this strategy sets out what we require
of Bus Service Improvement Plans and local
commitment to bus franchises or Enhanced
Partnerships. Bus Service Improvement
Plans must be fully aligned with wider Local
Transport Plans.

Reading Buses
Reading Buses is owned by Reading
Borough Council and has been
transporting passengers for over one
hundred years. It has one of the youngest
and most environmentally friendly fleets in
the UK, and in the Autumn 2019 Transport
Focus Bus Passenger Survey, Reading
Buses’ passenger satisfaction score
was 92%18.
Bus usage has grown through consistent
partnership working between the Council
and bus company, resulting in Reading
having the second highest bus use in
England, outside London, per head of
population in 2019/20 – with an average of
137.5 annual bus trips per person19. Total
bus use in Reading borough had grown
to over 22m journeys in 2018/19 before
the pandemic, an increase of almost 40%
in the last 6 years20.

Picture: Reading Buses

Page 133

49

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

The Government is committed to transforming
local transport, and its recent publication “Gear
Change: A bold vision for cycling and walking”
sets outs its plans to transform the role cycling
and walking play in our transport system. “Gear
Change” and this strategy complement each
other. Cycling, walking and using the bus are
all part of the Government’s agenda to deliver a
transport system that works for everyone, where
walking cycling and taking the bus are a natural
choice for shorter journeys.
As set out in Gear Change, we will carry bikes
on more bus routes. Buses and cycles together
can allow more journeys which are otherwise
only possible by car, recognising that far more
people live near a bus stop than a rail station.
In many rural areas, where demand is lower,
we will work with bus operators to allow a
limited number of bikes on board, in addition
to onboard wheelchair space, on appropriate
routes, as a few rural bus routes already do. A
handful of urban routes also allow bikes, using
external racks. We will investigate extending
this provision further. The Cycling and Walking
Investment Strategy Investment Model also
reveals that bus route enhancements also have
an impact in generating additional walking trips.

We will review whether it
remains right that local
authorities cannot set up
new bus companies
The Bus Services Act 2017 prevents further
municipal (that is, local authority-owned) bus
companies being set up from scratch. While this
is not an absolute barrier, as Local Authorities
can already purchase an existing bus or coach
company, we believe this part of the legislation
is ripe for review. There are only a handful
of municipal bus companies at present, but
there are some strongly performing examples
among them.

Future-proofing our
regulatory framework for
more flexible services
The Future of Transport Regulatory Review aims
to address the opportunities and challenges that
technology is having on our traditional concepts
of transport. The first Call for Evidence21 of the
Regulatory Review examined the legislative
framework around on-demand, flexible bus
services which currently pre-dates the advent
of the smartphone. The key findings from this
were published in December 2020, and many
responses emphasised the need for regulation
to be focused on the desired outcomes for the
user rather than the service itself. Learnings from
the bus sector must feed into the review.

50

Page 134

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

The Law Commissions have been undertaking
a review of Automated Vehicles (AVs),22 looking
at the regulatory framework for the safe
deployment of automated vehicles in the UK.
The second consultation of this review, the
findings of which were published in May 2020,
specifically considered how highly automated
vehicles might be used for passenger transport.
In their third consultation paper in December
2020, the Law Commissions proposed a system
that unifies passenger and freight licensing to
reflect the modular design of highly automated
vehicles (with no human on-board). Passenger
AVs would be subject to stricter requirements
than freight AVs but both would be founded on
the same requirements necessary for a vehicle
with no responsible person on-board. We will
review how legislation that separately covers
buses, taxis, private hire vehicles and light rail
may be brought together to reflect the blurring
boundaries between these forms of travel, within
the Future of Transport Regulatory Review. This
will give service providers a clear, long-term,
regulatory framework, which will allow new
forms of service to be provided to passengers
by removing obstacles to innovation and
allowing greater flexibility.

We want to stimulate innovation and enable
it to thrive. Regulation itself will change, as it
always has. But our goals will not change. We
want transport to be cleaner, safer, healthier,
greener, cheaper, more convenient, and more
inclusive. Our approach will be underpinned
as far as possible by the following Future of
Transport principles:
1.

New modes of transport and new
mobility services must be safe and secure
by design.

2.

The benefits of innovation in mobility must
be available to all parts of the UK and all
segments of society.

3.

Walking, cycling and active travel must
remain the best options for short urban
journeys.

4.

Mass transit must remain fundamental to
an efficient transport system.

5.

New mobility services must lead the
transition to zero emissions.

6.

Mobility innovation must help to reduce
congestion through more efficient use of
limited road space, for example through
sharing rides, increasing occupancy or
consolidating freight.

7.

The marketplace for mobility must be open
to stimulate innovation and give the best
deal to consumers.

8.

New mobility services must be designed to
operate as part of an integrated transport
system combining public, private and
multiple modes for transport users.

9.

Data from new mobility services must be
shared where appropriate to improve choice
and the operation of the transport system.

51

Page 135

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

Emergency Covid
Measures in the
Next Few Months
In many places, roads already operated
at or close to capacity before the
pandemic. There is a risk that when
full economic life returns, the move
away from public transport during the
crisis will lead to unmanageable levels
of car traffic, slowing some places to a
crawl. Traffic congestion will damage
the economic recovery and cause an
increased pollution risk to human health.
As the crisis abates, therefore, we must
urgently encourage people to return to
public transport. We will do so, as social
distancing on transport is withdrawn, by
selectively expediting a number of the
policies in this strategy.
We will expect LTAs in areas of high
traffic stress to install bus lanes
swiftly, subject to proper consultation
with local residents and local firms, and
to make more existing bus lanes fulltime. Implementing these measures will
improve bus services by making them
quicker and more reliable and cheaper
to run. (See page 46 for more on
bus priority)
We will work with operators and
local authorities with the aim of
introducing targeted fares cuts
swiftly in some areas, starting with
Cornwall. (See page 59 onwards for
more on what we would like to see Bus
Service Improvement Plans cover on
bus fares)

52

Page 136

Chapter 3 – Delivering better bus services

53

Page 137

Chapter 4

Delivering for
passengers

4
54

Page 138

55

Page 139

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

Buses for Everyone:
We will set a high bar for
standards enabling buses
to be used by all.
56

Page 140

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

57

Page 141

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

In 2018, the Government consulted on
proposals to use powers introduced by
the Bus Services Act 2017 to mandate the
provision of audible and visible route and next
stop announcements on local bus services,
in order to help disabled passengers to
travel with greater confidence. Subject to
final analysis, we will make these Accessible
Information Regulations by summer 2022,
ensuring passengers can board any bus with
confidence and that they will know when to
alight when their destination is reached. We
will increase the funding for the smallest bus
companies to ensure their passengers benefit
from improved onboard information by at least
£1.5m in 2021–22.
We will make sure that apps can provide
passengers with accessibility data about bus
stations and stops so they can make informed
travel choices regarding accessibility of services.
Recognising roadside information and hard copy
formats are also important for many passengers.
We will expect LTAs to explicitly consider
inclusivity and to review the impact of roadside
infrastructure on passenger safety, security
and accessibility as part of their Bus Service
Improvement Plans.
We will also review the impact of roadside
infrastructure on passenger convenience,
comfort, safety, security and accessibility,
seeking to understand the factors which
permit or encourage greater bus usage, and
those which turn potential passengers away.
We will also consider how we can use this
understanding to empower passengers to
make informed journey choices, and to support
LTAs to provide facilities which encourage
greater bus use.
We will ensure that buses funded by
Government provide an enhanced level of
accessibility: including additional flexible space
for a second wheelchair user or passengers with
pushchairs, hearing loops, space for assistance
dogs, and audible and visible information.

We will review eligibility for free bus travel for
disabled people to ensure that we are improving
equality of opportunity and helping disabled
people participate fully in public life. We will also
look to digitalise the concessionary bus pass
for older and disabled people in England, giving
passengers the option to store their permit on a
smartphone.
We will digitally transform the bus service
registration process, ensuring it is optimised for
passenger information purposes and is suitable
for the provision of new innovative services.
In addition, we will consider setting minimum
standards for registration in the future to ensure
buses are providing what passengers want. We
will deliver a comprehensive review of the Public
Service Vehicle Registration Regulations under
which operators register their services, to ensure
they are fit for purpose for the 21st century.
We will review key regulations to improve
accessibility. This includes the Public Service
Vehicles Accessibility Regulations 2000
(PSVAR) by the end of 2023, ensuring that
future decisions on accessibility standards
are based on an up-to-date understanding of
passenger need. We will consult in 2021 on
draft amendments to the Public Service Vehicles
(Conduct of Drivers, Inspectors, Conductors
and Passengers) Regulations 1990, to ensure
that the wheelchair space and priority seats are
made available for passengers who need them.
We will continue to work with the Driver and
Vehicle Standards Agency (DVSA) to ensure that
non-compliance is identified, and effective action
is taken in response.
Accountability for local services also means
accountability for promoting access for all. We
expect each Local Transport Plan to include
measures that improve accessibility for older
and disabled people, including: designing
appropriate networks which minimise walking
distances to key destinations and streamline
inter-connectivity, promoting high-quality
customer service through appropriate and
consistent training, modernising vehicles and
upgrading supporting infrastructure to facilitate
independent accessible journeys.

58

Page 142

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

The design of bus infrastructure improvements
should be informed by the experience of
disabled people and consulted on with a range
of passengers; particular care should be taken
when implementing bus priority measures to
ensure that they do not impede access for
disabled people reliant on private motor vehicles,
taxis and private hire vehicles.
We will continue to fund free off-peak bus travel
for disabled people, free off-peak travel for
pensioners and free travel to and from school
for children who live beyond walking distance.
We will not fund travel for people who are not
necessarily disadvantaged, such as blanket
free travel for unaccompanied children or older
people below the state pension age.

Fares must be lower
and simpler
Average bus fares have risen by 403% since
1987*, compared to 325% for rail fares and
163% for motoring costs23. Lower and simpler
fares attract passengers. They should be seen
as an investment not just in transport but in
town centres, in social inclusion and in a greener
future. We will expect to see fares policy as an
integral part of Bus Service Improvement Plans.
Within cities and towns, we want low flat fares
(or maximum fares and daily price caps) to
be the norm, as in London. Flat fares speed
boarding and are easier for passengers and
potential passengers to understand. We want
to see lower single fares and more low daily
price capping. We will also expect Bus Service
Improvement Plans to consider youth fares;
initiatives such as the youth fares implemented
in Merseyside had a positive impact on
patronage and we want to see this replicated
across the country.

There must be seamless,
integrated local ticketing
between operators and
we want to see this across
all types of transport
We know that passengers value the integrated
and simplified service found in London,
with no fuss multi-modal and multi-operator
tickets and the same high-quality information
for passengers – and we want LTAs to work
towards replicating this seamless experience
everywhere. There are many places where we
can see that integrated multimodal ticketing
drives up use of public transport. In the West
Midlands, the SWIFT scheme which connects
bus, tram and train has enabled passengers to
travel on public transport in a seamless manner.
The West Midlands is one of the few areas
nationally, that pre-pandemic, had reported
significant increases in ridership.

Merseyside – ‘MyTicket’
Across the Liverpool City Region, the
introduction in 2014 of ‘MyTicket’ priced at
£2.20, which allows under 19s unlimited
day travel on any bus, has been one of
the key drivers of fare paying passenger
growth. By 2019, the number of bus
journeys made by young people had
increased by 168%24. Initiatives like this
give young people a great value and easy
to understand ticketing offer, which can
encourage bus use from an early age and
increase the likelihood of these people
remaining bus users throughout their
adulthood.

* DfT buses fares data weighted together with coach fares data
collected by the Office for National Statistics.
59

Page 143

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

Retail Prices Index (RPI): Bus and coach fares, rail
fares and motoring expenditure, 1987–201925
Bus & coach
fares

500

(Jan 1987 = 100)

400

Rail
Fares

300

200

Motoring
Expenditure
100

0
1987

1992

1997

2002

We want to see multi-operator ticketing
everywhere, covering all bus services at a price
little if at all higher than single-operator tickets,
then to extend this to tickets that cover all travel
modes (bus, light rail/metro, rail). Approximately
75% of places do now have multi-operator
tickets allowing travel on all bus services in the
area but they are not always well advertised and
can be significantly more expensive than singleoperator tickets.
Nowhere outside London has multi-modal daily
and weekly price capping using contactless
debit or credit cards, and only a few places
have multi-operator daily price capping using
contactless. We want partnerships and
franchising agreements to change this. We
expect to see all Bus Service Improvement
Plans setting out how they will deliver nofuss, multi-operator tickets and price caps on
contactless credit and debit cards, at little or no
premium to single operator fares. We will expect
all operators to work with LTAs to deliver this.

2007

2012

2017

We will work with transport technology
providers, app developers, bus operators and
LTAs to ensure that any technology to support
this is developed strategically, and money is
not wasted on different technology solutions
for different places. As rail ticketing and fares
systems are updated, we will also consider
opportunities for facilitating integrated electronic
ticketing with buses.
84% of buses in England already accept
contactless payment26. To drive even greater
adoption of contactless across the industry, we
will use CBSSG to incentivise operators to adopt
the technology. In the longer term, to ensure
the industry reaches, and then maintains the
standard of 100% contactless, we will consider
making it a condition of bus service registration
and BSOG eligibility.

60

Page 144

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

Given the growing importance of contactless
on buses, we do not believe that there is any
need to integrate or unify the many existing bus
smartcard products. Their usage will decline as
contactless uptake rises. But we also believe
that operators should continue to accept cash
for now: there is a risk that otherwise we will
deter or exclude passengers who, for any
reason, may not have usable debit or credit
cards. Price-capping will obviously not be
available to those who pay cash, but paper day
tickets should be.

Buses must also work better with each
other. There are many instances of poor
connections and uncoordinated timetables.
Bus Service Improvement Plans should detail
plans for ensuring that in places (often rural)
where services are regular, but not frequent,
connectivity is maximised. Hub models can
connect services, with buses all arriving and
departing at the hub town within the same ten
or fifteen-minute window each hour, ideally all
servicing the same centrally located bus or
railway station.

Through ticketing should also be easier. A
degree of through ticketing between bus and
rail is already available under the PlusBus
scheme, although its coverage and availability
are limited. We will promote PlusBus better,
and work towards extending the range of
destinations available under it and making
PlusBus tickets available as e-tickets and mobile
tickets, so users can start their journey with a
bus trip without needing to have paper tickets
posted out or collected in advance from a
railway station.

We will support
people into work

We want to see through fares for any journey
across England involving bus, rail and light rail
easily available, not only on journey planning
websites, but also on smartphones as standard,
and will work with industry to secure this.

Service patterns must be
integrated with other modes
More bus routes and demand responsive
services should serve railway stations and for
easy connections between modes, bus services
should be timed to connect with trains. For
example, in Cornwall, the railway line running
through the county will act as the spine of
the transport network and the new Superbus
services will align with it. We will work towards
the inclusion of bus services in rail journey
planners as standard.

Currently, only some bus operators accept the
Jobcentre Plus Travel Discount Card. This card
is provided by Jobcentre Plus advisers to those
unemployed claiming Jobseekers Allowance
or Universal Credit, and it gives 50 per cent off
selected rail tickets and some operators’ bus
fares. We want to make the card accepted by all
operators and will work with them to deliver this.
We will also explore relaxing the eligibility criteria
so the card is available to more claimants.

Services must be simpler
and easier to understand
A key deterrent to using buses is that they
are, or are perceived as, confusing. We have
already described some negative features of
the market, such as rival networks which do
not acknowledge each other’s existence, and
which use the same route numbers for wholly
different services. Bus Service Improvement
Plans must eradicate this. We want to see
common numbering systems, and routes that
are as far as possible the same in the evenings
and weekends as they are in the daytime.
All operators which run the same route should
accept the same tickets, use the same route
number and be shown on the same timetable.
Timetable changes should wherever possible
be co-ordinated, and at set, relatively infrequent
points in the year.

61

Page 145

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

Bus Service Improvement Plans should
consider whether to simplify routes; for example,
considering whether networks should have
more high-frequency major route services rather
than lots of low-frequency services combining.
Route variations and letter suffix routes should
be reduced.
Networks often try to provide infrequent through
services to everywhere or divert buses away
from the main route to serve smaller places,
reducing speed and convenience for people
travelling between a route’s major points.
As described, on high-frequency services
more use could instead be made of good
hub-and-spoke connections, with frequent
feeder buses connecting into frequent major
routes and through ticketing. This becomes
possible if frequency and reliability improve.

Nottingham’s
Hucknall Connect

Bus information
It is too difficult for non-users to find where
buses go. Information online is often incomplete,
misleading or hard to locate. But bus operators
now have a legal obligation to publish timetable
and running data, and we will be providing
funding for predictions information which will
inform the passenger how many minutes away
their bus is from the bus stop and on average
how long the journey will take.

Bus Journey Information

The Hucknall Connect service operated by
Trent Barton offers local Hucknall residents
in Nottingham an easy route into the city
centre by connecting them to their local
tram station and the main bus routes.
Their connect ticket option includes a
full day’s travel on Connect in Hucknall
and the tram.

Bus Service Improvement Plans should consider
questions of network design like this – and
as with all elements of the plan, show how
stakeholders and communities will be engaged
in the thinking.

Transport for the West Midlands (TfWM) is part
of the West Midlands Combined Authority,
chaired by the Mayor of the West Midlands. It
is the UK’s third largest public transportation
authority, responsible for a region
encompassing the major cities of Birmingham
and Coventry, with a population of 2.9 million
people and in 2019/20 accounted for 246.6
million passenger journeys.27
To improve customer experience and increase
use of public transport, TfWM has invested
significantly in the provision of accurate
passenger information, supporting operators
and the developer community to include
timetable and location data for bus tram and
rail delivered to journey planning applications,
websites and third-party developers as well as
to 1,800 real time information displays at bus
stops and stations.
However, this is a challenging task, with more
than thirty bus operators, six train operators
as well as a tram operator running services
they use many different systems each
providing data in different forms and formats,
at different frequencies and with varying levels
of accuracy.

62

Picture: Trent Barton

Page 146

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

The Bus Open Data Service was launched in
November 2020 and the statutory obligation
to publish data was introduced on 1 January
2021, with national datasets currently being
built for timetables, fares and location. None
of the most commonly-used public transport
journey planning apps and websites yet provide
comprehensive, accurate, England-wide local
bus information and there are many other apps
that only include some operators.
This may mislead potential passengers into
thinking that there are no services to the
place they want to go. A number of apps and
websites give inaccurate information when
tested. Web searches for particular routes often
also bring up old timetable PDFs which have
since changed. Every town, city and rural area
should have published, up to date maps.
We will continue to work with app providers
and search engines to support the creation of
transport apps using this data. We will aim for
the apps to show every service, including fares
and running information, and support inclusive
and accessible journey planning, and will provide
guidance through our upcoming Mobility as a
Service Code of Practice. We want passengers
to be able to plan, buy and show tickets on their
smartphone for any journey, including through
trips on buses and other transport modes,
though this will not be achievable immediately.
Information at bus stops is often poor. They
should be viewed as free advertising sites for
the bus, including the opportunity to promote
services’ frequency and price, and should
include full timetable information.

Picture: KPMG

Networks must feel like
a whole system which
works together
One of the distinguishing features of London’s
bus network is that it feels like a network, a
coherent, consistent, strongly-branded operation
which gives people confidence in using it.
Passengers know that a bus will be along in
a few minutes, what the fare will be and what
the experience will be like. They know that at
an interchange there will be a poster guiding
them to the next bus or a train. Typefaces,
liveries, logos create an impression of unity.
Most successful consumer businesses, such
as retailers and airlines, aim to create similar
levels of consistency and brand identity. LTAs,
in their Bus Service Improvement Plans, should
consider strong network identities. There are
already successful examples of individual, eyecatching route branding in different parts of the
country. Route branding can still work well as
part of a wider network identity.

We will promote buses,
aiming to demystify them
and improve their image
Research shows that many people have
negative perceptions about buses but are often
pleasantly surprised when they try them. We,
as Government, have a role to play in promoting
the use of buses, to attract both previous and
new users onto buses, working closely with the
LTA, bus operators and trade bodies to reverse
the decades of decline in customer numbers.
To do this, we will support an industry led Back
to Bus campaign this year to promote the
reformed network and address misconceptions,
encouraging people to use the bus. This
may include signposting people to apps and
websites, targeted local promotions encouraging
non-users to give buses a try, such as free day
vouchers, try-before-you-buy, refund guarantees
if a passenger is dissatisfied and a period of
free travel for people who have started new jobs
or bought new homes. We will also showcase
services focussing on the quality of experience
for commuters, including charging points,
comfortable seats and other perks.
63

Page 147

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

In popular tourist areas such as the West
Country and the national parks, often blighted
and congested by too many cars, we want
Bus Service Improvement Plans to show
how far more will be done to promote buses
to visitors, with improved services, easily
accessible information, park-and-ride sites and
special tickets. Scenic railways, such as the
Settle-Carlisle and West Highland lines, are
now significant tourist attractions and wealth
generators in their own right. We see no reason
why several of Britain’s equally splendid bus
routes should not be marketed in the same way.

We will give bus passengers
more of a voice and a say
Bus Service Improvement Plans must include
a passengers’ charter giving bus users rights
to certain standards of service, including
punctuality, vehicle cleanliness, proportion of
services operated, information and redress.

We want to see mechanisms for redress at a
local level and means to ensure these standards
are met, which could include forums such
as Bus Advisory Boards being set up. At a
national level, we will consult on the appropriate
standards and mechanisms by which these
can be enforced, and a review of the consumer
landscape to determine the appropriate body to
supervise them.
We will continue to work with the bus industry
to increase awareness of bus passenger rights
including those specific to disabled passengers,
and how complaints can be made. We will
also continue to promote the adoption of best
practice in disability awareness training: we will
publish the high-level training framework to drive
up standards of customer service of drivers
and on-board staff who seek to understand
passengers’ access needs, and who tailor the
support they provide accordingly.

Tees Valley – Tees
Flex Service
The new Tees Flex service, which has
been funded by the Tees Valley Mayor
and Combined Authority, was introduced
in February 2020. It is operated by fully
accessible minibus vehicles and caters for
on-demand and pre-bookable journeys
for residents in more isolated communities
across Darlington & Stockton, Hartlepool,
and Redcar & Cleveland.
The service has created new links which
can now be accessed for the cost of a
bus fare and passenger numbers have
remained strong even during the COVID-19
outbreak. The service can be easily prebooked via a smartphone app, website
or over the telephone. Passengers can
request pick-up and drop-off points within
the serviced area, and to destinations
including train and bus stations, along
with hospitals outside of the area.
64

Picture: Tees Flex Service

Page 148

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

More demand responsive services
In lower-density areas and at less popular
times, conventional fixed-route buses can never
compete with the attractiveness or flexibility of
the car. But now, aided by technology, demand
responsive services can – offering a more
personal, on-demand service, taking people
from their doors or closer to their doors than a
regular bus.
Demand responsive services are not a perfect
solution to every challenge. Several of the large
operators have tried and failed to operate them
commercially. They must strike a balance: on
the one hand, providing a service which is
responsive and frequent enough to be useful
and on the other, not running too much mileage,
with little environmental advantage over the car
or subsidy advantage over conventional buses.
They will never replace frequent urban and
inter-urban routes, as too many vehicles would
be needed.

But they could be particularly useful to improve
provision in the countryside and in the evenings
and on Sundays, including serving large
workplaces with anti-social hours, such as
hospitals, tackling the bugbear of hospital car
parking. Because they are more door-to-door,
they can overcome the concerns of some
users, particularly women, about taking public
transport at night.
We have already established a Rural Mobility
Fund to trial more demand responsive
services and have awarded funding to 17
pilot projects. We will consider expanding this
work, including piloting non-rural services. We
expect all demand responsive services to be
fully integrated with the mainstream network,
accepting the same tickets and passes, using
the same or similar branding and shown on
timetables and journey planning apps and
websites. We also expect them to be provided
using accessible vehicles, including provision for
a wheelchair user.

On demand bus services
in Sevenoaks
In Sevenoaks, Kent, an area with very
high car ownership but also high levels
of rail commuting, some local bus
services have been replaced by demand
responsive vehicles during the COVID-19
outbreak, while demand for services has
been lower and social distancing in force.
These services have improved
passengers’ access to buses, which
are easily bookable via a smartphone
app, so residents can continue to make
essential journeys to shops, work and
medical facilities at no extra cost beyond
a regular bus fare.

Picture: Go Coach

Page 149

65

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

We want to ensure that the needs of rural
transport users are given equal consideration
to those in urban areas. We have piloted
projects targeting rural areas specifically. We
are committed to improving the connectivity
of isolated rural communities and those with
infrequent and unreliable services. We have
been seeking views and evidence on what
could be incorporated into a Future of Transport:
rural strategy. This strategy will set out how
innovations and technological developments
in transport can be harnessed in rural
communities. We want improved rural transport
to support economic growth and development
in rural communities.

Rural Mobility Fund
We have awarded funding to 17 pilot
projects of this £20m funding scheme:
the successful schemes will trial innovative,
demand responsive solutions to transport
challenges that rural, and suburban, areas
often face.

“Total Transport”28
In 2016 we allocated £7.6 million to
37 separate schemes run by 36 local
authorities to pilot Total Transport
solutions; these were focussed on rural
areas. “Total Transport” is about finding
ways of commissioning public sector
funded transport so that passengers
get a better service with less duplication
of resources. This can include services
like non-emergency patient transport,
adult social care transport and home to
school transport. Considering all these
streams together can allow networks to
be designed so they complement each
other, reduce administrative overheads by
centralising commissioning, and achieve
overall cost efficiencies.

We will support more Bus
Rapid Transport networks
Bus Service Improvement Plans should
include consideration of Bus Rapid Transit
(BRT) networks on key corridors. BRT is a
hybrid between bus and light rail, using highcapacity buses on segregated, bus-only
roadways with stops more like light rail stations.
Unlike light rail, however, buses can leave the
segregated busways and use conventional
roads. BRT could be a game-changer for bus
networks. It can deliver a large proportion of the
benefits of rail-based schemes at much lower
cost, as demonstrated in schemes such as
Cambridgeshire Guided Busway, Belfast Glider
and Leigh-Salford-Manchester Busway.
BRT systems feature comfortable vehicles, fast
journey times, real time passenger information
and high-quality waiting environments.
Costs are typically much lower than for railbased schemes, owing to fewer engineering,
planning and land acquisition constraints.
Passenger journey times can be lower
than those on rail-based systems due to
increased frequencies. In a number of large
South American cities, they can carry tens
of thousands of passengers per direction,
per hour, equivalent to conventional rail lines.
Journey times are optimised when travelling
on segregated infrastructure. However, buses
are able to run on conventional roads and are
therefore not constrained by the infrastructure:
they can steer around roadworks and are not
dependent on the provision of a fully-segregated
alignment. The Cambridgeshire system is a
good example of mixed operation.
We think Glider-style BRT has great potential,
and our ambition is to see the development of
proposals for up to five Glider-style systems in
England’s towns and cities. We will work with
local authorities and operators as local Bus
Service Improvement Plans are produced to
identify potential locations for system trials.
These services could be protected from other
competition through bus franchising powers
(which are flexible and can cover routes at a
local level not just wider geographies) – so they
could be tendered like rail or light rail services.

66

Page 150

Picture: Translink Glider

Chapter 4 – Delivering for passengers

Bus Rapid Transport – Belfast’s Glider
Translink’s cross-city Glider services are
operated by tram-style vehicles, which
have three sets of doors on each vehicle
for speedy alighting and boarding. The
Glider provides an inclusive environment,
including separate areas for wheelchair
users and passengers with pushchairs, step
free boarding and audible and visible stop
announcements.
Key Features:
•

Tram style stops with a shelter, benches
and perches.

•

Dedicated bus lanes throughout
the route.

•

Real time passenger information at
all stops.

•

30% fewer stops than conventional
bus, on average 400m apart to improve
predictability and reliability of the service.

•

Services spaced apart for maximum
frequency and reliability, arriving every
7–8 minutes in either direction, so that
passengers know they will never have
long to wait.

•

Additional facilities at the terminus,
including a waiting room with seating
and toilets.

•

Sheltered bike storage to encourage
cycling and free parking for cars
to encourage park & ride into the
city centre.

•

Priority road maintenance – ensuring
a high quality of surface for the bus
lanes and improving drainage all along
the route.

Construction costs for Bus Rapid
Transit systems, such as Glider, are
typically at least 50% lower than
traditional light rail/tram schemes.

67

Page 151

5
Chapter 5

A green bus
revolution
68

Page 152

69

Page 153

Chapter 5 – A green bus revolution

The UK has one of the most
ambitious approaches in the
world to achieving net zero by 2050.
Our Transport Decarbonisation
Plan (to be published shortly) will
set out measures to help achieve
this, with significant local air quality
improvements preventing thousands
of early deaths each year.
70

Page 154

Chapter 5 – A green bus revolution

71

Page 155

Chapter 5 – A green bus revolution

Zero emission bus services, that meet the needs
of passengers and communities, and attract
passengers from other forms of transport, are at
the heart of our plans.
New vehicles offer more than environmental
benefits – with more comfortable journeys and
a reduction in vehicle noise and vibration they
provide an opportunity to attract new users.
The added incentive is that we expect that
zero emission buses will achieve operating
cost savings in the longer term, which can be
reinvested in more frequent services, lower fares
and other improvements for passengers.

Where we are
UK bus operators have invested over £1.3bn
in cleaner and greener buses over the last five
years, supported by £89m funding through the
Government’s Low and Ultra-Low Emission
bus schemes*. However, there is much more to
do. The majority of these vehicles are hybrid or
gas-powered and only around 2% of England’s
bus fleet is fully zero emission today29. This
represents 4% of London’s fleet and 1% of the
fleet in England outside of London30
Bus operators share our ambitions to achieve a
zero emission bus fleet. Many have committed
to purchase only ultra-low or zero emission
buses from 2025, and to start this process by
2023 in some urban areas, if there is continued
Government support towards the extra
purchase and fuel infrastructure costs31.

A fully-loaded double deck bus can
take 75 cars off the road, helping
to reduce congestion and reduce the
impact of transport on the environment

Each zero emission bus
saves around per year

100%
70%
23 kilograms

3%
of transport
greenhouse gas
emissions in the
UK are produced by
Buses and Coaches

46 tonnes

In June 2019, Parliament
passed legislation requiring
the Government to achieve
‘Net Zero’ Greenhouse
gas emissions by 2050
72

Page 156

Chapter 5 – A green bus revolution

The Roadmap to Net Zero Bus Services
Five principles underpin our roadmap to a zero
emission fleet. They are:

We will provide the financial
support to scale up quickly

•

We will consider all technologies fairly,
assessing their cost, contribution to
decarbonisation and utility.

•

We will provide the financial support and
incentives needed for the market to scale
up quickly.

The high upfront capital costs of vehicles and
energy infrastructure can act as a barrier to the
rapid adoption of new zero emission buses.
In the short term we will play our part by
providing funding to address this challenge.

•

We will take a place-based approach to
investment wherever appropriate.

•

Both operators and LTAs must play
their part.

•

We will ensure our plans for buses lead to
overall carbon reductions.

We will support the market to scale up by:
•

giving the certainty to create a sustained
pipeline of vehicle orders, allowing British
bus manufacturers to invest, production
volumes to increase and the costs of
vehicles to fall.

•

ensuring that we support new funding and
financing models needed to deliver our
ambition, including new types of vehicle
leasing and maintenance arrangements,
as part of a vibrant financing strategy.

We will consider all
technologies fairly
Zero-emission buses can run on electric
batteries or hydrogen fuel-cells. Battery-electric
has dominated zero emission bus purchases to
date, but both technologies have strengths in
different circumstances. On current technology,
battery-electric is a more efficient user of energy,
but hydrogen can lend itself better to longer
journeys in rural areas. We will consider all
technologies fairly and our ambition is that:
•

Fuel must be green: in the future we want to
see carbon-free fuel being used;

•

Zero emission first: low or ultra-low
emission vehicles should only be purchased
where a zero emission vehicle is not a viable
operational alternative.

We also understand that local decarbonisation
roadmaps may include transitional technologies
such as biofuels and hybrids, which can help
support decarbonisation of fleets while zero
emission technology develops its capability.
This work will be aligned to the consultation on
the date for the phase out on the sale of diesel
buses. See page 75.

As a first step we will invest an unprecedented
£120m in zero emission buses in 2021/22. This
is in addition to £50m from 2020/21 to deliver
the first All-Electric Bus Town or City.
It will also launch the Zero Emission Bus
Regional Area (ZEBRA) scheme, bringing
together LTAs, bus operators, energy companies
and other stakeholders to develop financial and
commercial models of delivering zero emission
buses at scale, with government and nongovernment funding.
Based on experience in these pathfinder areas,
we will then scale up to deliver the Prime
Minister’s commitment to 4,000 new zero
emission buses. This unprecedented investment,
the single biggest of its kind for zero emission
buses, will also help safeguard thousands of
jobs in Britain’s bus manufacturing industry.
We are clear that our support must focus on
green vehicles and as such Government funding
will not incentivise the continued use of diesel
buses. As a principle, our reform of grant funding
for bus services* will ensure it is no longer
paid on the basis of fuel used and instead will
incentivise the take up of zero emission vehicles.
73

Page 157

Chapter 5 – A green bus revolution

We will take a place-based
approach to investment
wherever appropriate
De-carbonising the bus fleet requires investment
in both fuelling infrastructure and vehicles.
Taking an area-based approach to infrastructure
investment allows more innovative solutions to
be considered – such as:
•

allowing for more effective land use and
spatial planning;

•

adopting plans to address local issues such
as air quality; and

•

utilising the technology solutions that work
for the economies and topography of
the area.

This approach allows a more strategic approach
to energy networks which can provide longer
term savings.
The All-Electric Bus Town or City competition
demonstrated significant interest across England
in rolling out zero emission buses quickly and
at scale. The Department expect to announce
funding for the first All Electric Bus Town or City
by the end of 2020/21.
We will build on existing interest to identify
locations that are ready this year deliver
hundreds more zero emission buses. This will
utilise the £120m announced at the Spending
Review for the roll-out of zero emission buses.
To drive forward our ambitions, we will learn
from this early investment to inform models that
will support scaling up of investment, exploring
private financing and leasing options. This aligns
with the work on the UK Government’s new
national infrastructure bank.

As we committed in “Gear Change” we will
create at least one zero emission city. We are
looking for at least one small or medium-sized
city which wants to create a zero emission
transport system, with extensive bike lanes, a
zero emission bus fleet, and a ban on nearly
all petrol and diesel vehicles in the city centre,
with deliveries made to consolidation hubs
and the last mile being done by cargo bike or
electric van.
We will shortly announce details of the ZEBRA
scheme and how this can be part of local areas’
decarbonisation plans.

Both operators and LTAs
must play their part
We expect decisions on the local transition to
zero emission fleets to be taken collaboratively
through local bus partnerships.
Local authorities:
•

will have expectations for the outcomes
they want to see and when;

•

will work with energy providers to integrate
the needs of buses into wider fuel
infrastructure plans and identify best energy
provision solutions; and

•

may play a central part in funding and
financing arrangements.

Bus operators:
•

should always take the lead in specifying
the technical requirements for vehicles –
ensuring that they meet passengers’ needs;

•

should develop an understanding of the
energy requirements of decarbonising
their fleet so that the best energy provision
solutions can be identified; and

•

will often provide or secure the majority
of the investment required.

74

Page 158

Chapter 5 – A green bus revolution

We will ensure our plans for buses
lead to overall carbon reductions
We are committed to achieving an all zero
emission bus fleet in the future and will set a
legal end date for the sale of new diesel buses,
and set an expectation for when the entire bus
fleet will be zero emission. We will consult on
potential dates this year. A key factor will be
ensuring these ambitions do not make bus
services more expensive to operate overall,
otherwise fares will rise or services will be cut
– potentially leading to greater overall carbon
emissions as more journeys are made by car.
At a local level we will expect every LTA that
wishes to receive funding from the Department
for local transport projects to develop ambitious
strategies, targets and measures for cutting
carbon from transport in their area. We will
expect all LTAs to work with bus operators
and energy providers to include ambitions
to decarbonise the local bus fleet in their
Bus Service Improvement Plans. We want to
see local standards for zero emissions set in
partnership and franchising schemes ensuring
that commitments to invest are delivered.

Bus2Grid – An example of a
smart charging approach
In January 2018, the Office for Low
Emission Vehicles and the Department for
Business, Energy and Industrial Strategy
awarded almost £30 million, through an
Innovate UK vehicle-to-grid programme,
where electric vehicles can supply
electricity to the grid at times of high
energy demand.
Bus2Grid is part of this programme and is
exploring the commercial value and social
benefits to the energy and passenger
transportation systems. The project will
develop services to support National
Grid, local Distribution Network Operators
(DNOs), bus operators and transport
authorities and at the same time will
consider bus fleet consumer engagement
approaches necessary for its commercial
implementation. Bus2Grid claims to be
developing the “world’s largest bus to grid
site” and is bolstered by a diverse project
consortium, including: SSE Enterprise,
automotive manufacturer Build Your
Dreams (BYD), the Distribution Network
Operator UK Power Networks (UKPN) and
the University of Leeds.
The project is a first of a kind large
scale, multi-megawatt, demonstration of
vehicle-to-grid technology in electric bus
depots located in London. This process is
managed by an aggregation platform that
enables the 28 e-bus batteries to interact
with the energy system by charging or
exporting energy to support the grid in
times of high energy demand.

75

Page 159

Appendix

COVID
recovery
2021–22

76

Page 160

77

Page 161

Appendix – COVID recovery 2021–22

In March 2020, the COVID-19 pandemic had
the potential to severely impact and reduce the
bus network. Both the request to travel less
and the new social distancing requirements
posed significant questions of viability on
the bus network across the country. During
the first lockdown, passenger numbers fell
to approximately 10% of those before the
pandemic32 However, through the joint efforts of
Local Transport Authorities (LTAs), bus operators
and central government, vital bus services were
supported, enabling frontline workers to get to
their jobs, children to return to education and the
public to make the essential journeys needed.

To support this effort, the Government has
provided an unprecedented amount of support
for the bus sector. Through the discretionary
COVID-19 Bus Services Support Grant
(CBSSG) Restart, and by continuing to pay
out Bus Service Operators Grant (BSOG) at
pre-COVID-19 levels, the Government had
announced over £1 billion of support by the end
of 2020. This has been essential to keep bus
services running when, with reduced capacity
due to social distancing, the vast majority of
buses would otherwise have operated at a loss
or would have stopped running entirely.

78

Page 162

Appendix – COVID recovery 2021–22

The efforts of LTAs and bus operators were
also substantial over the year. Together, they
have worked flexibly to adapt service levels
to work for their local areas, adapted to the
challenge of children returning to school in
September, and worked to manage sickness
absence and conduct winter planning. This,
combined with the continued concessionary
fare funding support from local government,
has been central to the transport response to
the pandemic. We will build on these successful
partnerships to drive not only recovery of
the sector but also to improve services for
passengers and bring more people onto buses.

CBSSG Restart
We will continue to provide CBSSG until the
funding is no longer needed. To ensure services
remain responsive to local demand whilst
ensuring social distancing requirements are met,
all operators receiving CBSSG are expected
to continue to work closely with LTAs to agree
service levels.
Local collaboration is a key tenet of this
emergency funding. As a condition of receiving
CBSSG, DfT can ask operators to demonstrate
on request that consultations on service
levels have taken place, and that reasonable
requests from LTAs for service changes have
been considered in good faith. DfT can deny or
recover CBSSG payments from operators who
have not engaged adequately with LTAs. From
1 July 2021, CBSSG and future funding streams
will be available only to LTAs, outside of London,
who have committed to entering Enhanced
Partnerships or who have started the statutory
process of franchising services, as set out in the
Bus Services Act 2017; and to operators who
are cooperating with those processes.
We also expect operators to run cost-effective
services which are delivering value to the local
area. As CBSSG has provided financial support
for operators that have lost passenger revenue
as a result of reduced demand, operators
cannot achieve pre-tax profits on their bus
services in receipt of CBSSG.
Over the coming months, we will be reviewing
the terms and conditions of CBSSG to begin
to rapidly deliver the policies set out in this
strategy. Initially, we will be using this funding
to drive the roll-out of contactless ticketing
machines. However, we will also look at how we
can encourage engagement on the rest of the
strategy, including strengthening the role of LTAs
in decisions on the services needed.

79

Page 163

Appendix – COVID recovery 2021–22

We will continue to provide CBSSG as long
as necessary. Passenger numbers are
likely to remain depressed for some time as
confidence in public transport returns and
new travel patterns bed-in. Further funding
(outside of London) will only be available to LTAs
who have committed to entering Enhanced
Partnerships, and operators who cooperate
with the process. It will also be available to LTAs
that have started the statutory process towards
franchising, or which have applied to the DfT for
powers to do so.
This provides LTAs and operators with a
significant opportunity. As service patterns and
networks are reset, there is no better time to
simplify fares and ticketing or address the traffic
bottlenecks which can reduce operating costs
on key routes.
What is needed during 2021–22 will be agreed
locally, but we expect LTAs and operators to
continue to work together to:
•

maximise the number of services provided,
supporting them and re-growing the
customer base;

•

prevent a scaling back of services to just
the most profitable routes: focusing on
the entire network and planning for the
longer term;

•

work towards agreeing the Bus Services
Improvement Plans needed for October
2021 (see Chapter 3);

•

ensure bus services meet the changing
needs of local communities and do not
change suddenly or unexpectedly;

•

explore innovative approaches such as
demand responsive transport; and

•

deliver noticeable improvements for
passengers, particularly around bus priority
measures, information provision, fares and
ticketing.

Funding will be used to achieve the objectives
in this strategy, including bus priority measures
in areas of high traffic stress, tendered services,
support for existing services or set payments
to operators similar to CBSSG Restart funding.
We expect the majority of the funding will be
used to support services, though the funding
is not designed to replicate CBSSG and we
understand operators and LTAs may need to
make difficult decisions about the network
they continue to run. Further information will
be published once we have greater certainty
about any follow-on funding and have confirmed
how this will be delivered. Once Bus Service
Improvement Plans are in place then the LTA
must ensure it is clear how any funding drives
delivery of these plans.
We want to see the commitment to these
partnerships realised. From April 2022, only
LTAs with an Enhanced Partnership in place,
or following the statutory process to decide
whether to implement a franchising scheme, will
be able to access new streams of Government
bus funding; and only services operated, or
measures taken, under Enhanced Partnerships
or where a franchising scheme has been made
will be eligible for these discretionary funding
schemes. The Secretary of State may disapply
these rules or the deadline of April 2022 in
individual cases, on an exceptional basis; we will
also ensure that no operator is disadvantaged
through any failure to establish an Enhanced
Partnership due to actions beyond their control.

80

Page 164

Appendix – COVID recovery 2021–22

Concessionary fares funding
Throughout the COVID-19 pandemic the
continued contribution from local authorities
to support the bus network in the form of
English National Concessionary Travel Scheme
payments has ensured that, along with our
CBSSG funding, buses have continued to
operate full networks and support essential
journeys. The vast majority of local authorities
have continued to use their pre-existing budgets
to pay concessionary fares at pre-COVID levels,
despite the significant fall in concessionary travel
which has supported operators to maintain
routes and service levels. As the pandemic
response continues, we are asking local
authorities to continue to make these payments
in line with the guidance we have issued and we
will be laying a statutory instrument to support
them to do so, to explicitly strengthen the legal
basis for these payments.

In doing so, we want to ensure that we do so in
such a way that concessionary fare payments
work effectively for local authorities and bus
operators. To this end, we will be reviewing how
these payments will work in this recovery period.
We will also review the current appeals process,
reimbursement guidance and, by extension, the
reimbursement calculator, following the impact
of COVID-19 on travel patterns.

Further to this, however, we also expect that
once social distancing rules are relaxed,
local authority funding to operators will
need to remain above the actual level of
concessionary patronage for a period of time,
in order to protect services and maintain
sufficient service levels. While the bus market is
recovering, we will still look to Local Authorities
to contribute to the operation of their bus
markets, though to a decreasing extent. We
are working with Local Authority organisations,
through the Urban Transport Group, the
Association of Transport Coordination Officers,
the Association of Directors of Environment,
Economy, Planning & Transport and the
Local Government Association, and with
bus operators, through the Confederation of
Passenger Transport and the Association of
Local Bus Company Managers, to develop
how best we can re-establish the link between
concessionary journeys and concessionary
fares payments as quickly as possible.

81

Page 165

Endnotes

1.

DfT (2020) Local bus passenger journeys, Table
BUS0103: Passenger journeys on local bus services
by metropolitan area status and country: Great Britain,
2019/20. Available online at: https://www.gov.uk/
government/statistics/annual-bus-statistics-year-endingmarch-2020.

2.

DfT (2020) Vehicles operated by local bus operators,
Table BUS0602 Number of buses used as Public Service
Vehicles by metropolitan area status and country, local
operators only: Great Britain. Available online at: https://
www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/bus06vehicle-stocks-technology-and-equipment.

3.

4.

5.

6.

7.

8.

DfT (2019) National Travel Survey, Table NTS0409:
Average number of trips (trip rates) by day of the week/
month and purpose/main mode: England. Available online
at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/
nts04-purpose-of-trips.
Urban Transport Group (2015) Ticket to Thrive: The role
of urban public transport in tackling unemployment.
Available online at: https://www.urbantransportgroup.org/
resources/types/reports/ticket-thrive-role-urban-publictransport-tackling-unemployment.
DfT (2020) Costs fares and revenue, Table BUS0405b:
Local bus fares index (in constant prices2) by
metropolitan area status and country: Great Britain,
annual from 1995. Available online at: https://www.gov.
uk/government/statistical-data-sets/bus04-costs-faresand-revenue.
Greener Journeys (July 2012) Buses and Economic
Growth: Summary of Report by the University of Leeds,
Institute for Transport Studies. Available online at: https://
www.cpt-uk.org/media/prpjezjj/25-1.pdf.
DfT (2016) Value for Money Assessment for Major Busrelated Schemes, Economic Appraisal and Scheme
Benefit-Cost Ratios. Available online at: https://assets.
publishing.service.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/
uploads/attachment_data/file/503824/Value_for_Money_
Assessment_for_Major_Bus-Related_Schemes.pdf.
DfT (2020) Local bus passenger journeys, Table BUS0103
Passenger journeys on local bus services by metropolitan
area status and country: Great Britain, annual from 1970.
Available online at: https://www.gov.uk/government/
statistical-data-sets/bus01-local-bus-passenger-journeys;
and DfT (2020) All vehicles, Table VEH0103 Licensed
vehicles at the end of the year1 by tax class, Great Britain
from 1909; also United Kingdom from 2014. Available
online at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statisticaldata-sets/all-vehicles-veh01.

9.

DfT (2020) Transport use during the coronavirus
(COVID-19) pandemic, Transport use by mode: Great
Britain, since 1 March 2020. Available online at: https://
www.gov.uk/government/statistics/transport-use-duringthe-coronavirus-covid-19-pandemic.

10.

DfT (2020) Local bus passenger journeys, Table BUS0110
Passenger journeys on local bus services per head of
population by local authority: England. Available online
at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/
bus01-local-bus-passenger-journeys.

11.

The Harrogate Bus Company.

12.

Transport for West Midlands.

13.

KPMG (2015) An economic evaluation of local bus
infrastructure schemes, A report for Greener Journeys.
Available online at: https://www.cpt-uk.org/media/
rd5bbnvm/ex-post-evaluation-of-bus-infrastructurejune-2017.pdf.

14.

Transport Focus (2020) Bus Passengers’ priorities
for improvement survey. Available online at: https://
d3cez36w5wymxj.cloudfront.net/wp-content/
uploads/2020/09/09095433/TF-Bus-passengerpriorities-Sept_20-WEB.pdf.

15.

DfT (2019) Local bus service vehicle distance travelled,
Table BUS0207: Vehicle distance travelled (miles and
kilometres) on local bus services by urban-rural status
and service type: England, annual. Available online at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/
bus02-vehicle-distance-travelled.

16.

The Government of Jersey (2017) Jersey Bus Franchise:
The Commissioner Perspective. Available online at:
https://www.urbantransportgroup.org/system/files/
general-docs/Presentation%20by%20Jersey.pdf.

17.

Greener Journeys (2017) Costs and Benefits of the Bus
Service Operators’ Grant. Available online at: https://
greenerjourneys.com/wp-content/uploads/2014/10/
BSOG-June-2017.pdf.

18.

Transport Focus (2019) Bus passenger survey autumn
2019 main report. Available online at: https://www.
transportfocus.org.uk/publication/bus-passenger-surveyautumn-2019-report/.

19.

DfT (2020) Local bus passenger journeys, Table
BUS0110: Passenger journeys on local bus services per
head of population by local authority: England, 2019/20.
Available online at: https://www.gov.uk/government/
statistical-data-sets/bus01-local-bus-passenger-journeys.

82

Page 166

20.

DfT (2020) Local bus passenger journeys, Table
BUS0109: Passenger journeys on local bus services
by local authority: England, 2018/19. Available online at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/
bus01-local-bus-passenger-journeys.

29.

DfT (2020) Energy and environment: data tables, Table
ENV0201: Greenhouse gas emissions by transport
mode: United Kingdom. Available online at: https://www.
gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/energy-andenvironment-data-tables-env.

21.

DfT (2020) Future of Transport regulatory review, call
for evidence on micromobility vehicles, flexible bus
services and Mobility-as-a-Service. Available online at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/consultations/futureof-transport-regulatory-review-call-for-evidence-onmicromobility-vehicles-flexible-bus-services-and-mobilityas-a-service.

30.

DfT (2020) Vehicles operated by local bus operators,
Table BUS0609: Percentage of buses used as Public
Service Vehicles by emissions standards and fuel type
by metropolitan area status and country: Great Britain.
Available online at: https://www.gov.uk/government/
statistical-data-sets/bus06-vehicle-stocks-technologyand-equipment.

22.

Law Commission (2018) Consultation and review of
regulatory framework for Automated Vehicles. Available
online at: https://www.lawcom.gov.uk/project/automatedvehicles/.

31.

Confederation for Passenger Transport (2019) Moving
Forward Together, Our commitments. Available online at:
https://www.cpt-uk.org/moving-forward-together/.

32.
23.

Office for National Statistics (2021) Retail Price
Index: fares and other travel costs: bus and coach
fares, rail fares and motoring expenditure. Available
online at: https://www.ons.gov.uk/economy/
inflationandpriceindices/datasets/consumerpriceindices.

Ticketer Data (2020) Passenger numbers during the first
Covid-19 lockdown in England outside of London.

24.

Liverpool City Region Combined Authority (2021)
Liverpool City Region’s Transport Infrastructure. Available
online at: https://www.liverpoolcityregion-ca.gov.uk/
what-we-do/transport/#:~:text=Liverpool%20City%20
Region’s%20buses&text=Our%20pioneering%2C%20
award%2Dwinning%20Bus,trend%20of%20falling%20
bus%20use.

26.

DfT (2020) Vehicles operated by local bus operators,
Table BUS0607b: Percentage of buses with live EMV
readers that can accept contactless payments cards1
by metropolitan area status and country2, local bus
operators only3 Great Britain, from 2016/17. Available
online at: https://www.gov.uk/government/statisticaldata-sets/bus06-vehicle-stocks-technology-andequipment.

27.

DfT (2020) Local bus passenger journeys, Table
BUS0109: Passenger journeys on local bus services by
local authority: England, 2019/20. Available online at:
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/
bus01-local-bus-passenger-journeys.

28.

DfT (2019) Total transport feasibility report and pilot
review, Available online at: https://www.gov.uk/
government/publications/total-transport-feasibility-reportand-pilot-review.

83

Page 167

The Department for Transport has actively considered the needs of blind and
partially sighted people in accessing this document. The text will be made
available in full on the Department’s website. The text may be freely downloaded
and translated by individuals or organisations for conversion into other accessible
formats. If you have other needs in this regard please contact the Department.
Department for Transport
Great Minster House
33 Horseferry Road
London SW1P 4DR
Telephone 0300 330 3000
Website www.gov.uk/dft
General enquiries: https://forms.dft.gov.uk

© Crown copyright 2021
Copyright in the typographical arrangement rests with the Crown.
You may re-use this information (not including logos or third-party
material) free of charge in any format or medium, under the terms
of the Open Government Licence. To view this licence, visit
www.nationalarchives.gov.uk/doc/open-government-licence/version/3
or write to the Information Policy Team, The National Archives, Kew,
London TW9 4DU, or e-mail: psi@nationalarchives.gsi.gov.uk
Where we have identified any third-party copyright information you will need
to obtain permission from the copyright holders concerned.

Page 168

Item 8
COMMUNITIES, ENVIRONMENT AND HIGHWAYS SELECT
COMMITTEE

THURSDAY, 16 SEPTEMBER 2021

Policy on the Use of Safety Cameras in Surrey

Purpose of report: This report presents a new policy which sets out the criteria and
process that will be followed for investment in new safety cameras. This includes
average speed, spot speed, red-light and combination cameras. While road casualty
hotspots will remain the top priority, the policy also sets out the criteria for the use of
safety cameras at other locations where there might not have been such a high level
of collisions, but where excess speeds are a concern for the community.
Introduction:
1.

Higher vehicle speeds increase the risk of collisions. Also, the higher the speed
the more severe the consequences are likely to be. Consequently, safety
cameras (speed and red-light cameras) have been operating in Surrey since
the 1990s. Historically their use has been prioritised at casualty hotspots, and
they have proven to be very effective in helping to reduce the number of
casualties by encouraging greater compliance with the speed limit and deterring
red light jumping.

2.

In more recent years, there has been greater use of average speed cameras as
these can encourage greater compliance with the speed limit over a longer
stretch of road compared with spot speed cameras. Anecdotally, road users
appear to be more supportive of the use of average speed cameras, and
several communities have lobbied for them on the roads where they live.

3.

Consequently, Surrey County Council’s leadership, Surrey’s Police and Crime
Commissioner and Chief Constable are keen to expand the use of average
speed cameras and spot speed cameras in Surrey beyond only being deployed
at the worst casualty hotspots. This is because as well as reducing the risk and
severity of road collisions, improved compliance with the speed limit can also
help to reduce air and noise pollution, and supports more active travel (walking,
push scooting and cycling). This is better for the health and wellbeing of
residents and contributes to the council’s commitment to tackling climate
change. Therefore, this report presents a new policy (Annex 1) which sets out
the criteria and process that will be followed for investment in new safety
cameras.

Page 169

4.

It should be noted that the Department for Transport have advised that they will
be issuing guidance to local authorities in the coming months on how they can
apply to Government to obtain powers to enforce moving traffic offences (such
as yellow box junctions, motor-vehicle prohibitions, and banned turns).
However, this will not include speeding or red-light violations - these will remain
as criminal offences, enforceable only by the police.

Effectiveness of Speed Cameras
National Research
5.

In the UK, a national safety camera programme was introduced between 2000
and 2004, and an evaluation report on the four-year programme was published
in December 2005. At the time of writing the report was available via the
following link: speedcamerareport.co.uk. In summary, it was concluded that:


Vehicle speeds were down – surveys showed that vehicle speeds at
speed camera sites had dropped by around 6% following the introduction of
cameras. At new sites, there was a 31% reduction in vehicles breaking the
speed limit. At fixed sites, there was a 70% reduction and at mobile sites
there was a 18% reduction. Overall, the proportion of vehicles speeding
excessively (i.e. 15mph more than the speed limit) fell by 91% at fixed
camera sites, and 36% at mobile camera sites.



Both casualties and deaths were down – after allowing for the long-term
trend there was a 22% reduction in personal injury collisions at sites after
cameras were introduced. Overall, 42% fewer people were killed or
seriously injured. At camera sites, there was also a reduction of over 100
fatalities per annum (32% fewer). There were 1,745 fewer people killed or
seriously injured and 4,230 fewer personal injury collisions per annum in
2004. There was an association between reductions in speed and
reductions in PICs.



There was a positive cost-benefit of around 2.7:1 (i.e. a saving of £2.7 for
every £1 spent). In the fourth year, the benefits to society from the avoided
injuries were in excess of £258million compared to enforcement costs of
around £96million.



The public supported the use of safety cameras for targeted
enforcement. This was evidenced by public attitude surveys, both locally
and at a national level.



In 2016, the RAC Foundation published a national evaluation of average
speed cameras. At the time of writing, the report was available via this link:
Average_speed_camera_effectiveness 2016.pdf. In summary it was

Page 170

concluded that: “The research shows quite clearly that the implementation of
average speed cameras in the locations that have been assessed in this
report has had the effect of reducing injury collisions, and especially those of
a higher severity. Even taking into account other influencing factors, the
reductions are large and statistically significant.”
Local monitoring data
6.

Monitoring of the number of casualties at camera sites in Surrey confirms that
they have contributed to substantial reductions in casualties at the locations
where they have been introduced. This is summarised below and compares the
number of casualties in the three years prior to implementation of each
individual camera with the most recent three years (to the end of April 2021):


Average speed cameras: there are a total of ten schemes in the county, six
of which are on county council roads and four of which are on Highways
England roads. Of the six county council schemes, one is too recent to
measure its effectiveness (having been installed in January 2021). Of the
five county council schemes for which there has been a sufficient “after”
monitoring period there was a reduction in casualties of 63%



Spot speed cameras: 16 sites, 36% reduction in casualties.



Red light cameras: 8 sites, 55% reduction in casualties.



Combined speed and red-light cameras: 5 sites, 38% reduction in
casualties.

Existing National Guidance on the Use of Speed Cameras
7.

Current national guidance is contained in the Department for Transport Circular
1/2007 “Use Of Speed And Red-Light Cameras For Traffic Enforcement:
Guidance On Deployment, Visibility And Signing”. This advocates prioritising
resources at the sites that need the most attention based on a points-based
system using data on collisions and speeds. It presents minimum criteria to be
met before cameras would be recommended. It also advocates the need to
ensure camera sites are visible, conspicuous and well signed. However, it does
not include guidance specifically on the use of average speed cameras as they
were not in wide-spread use at the time of its publication. This 15-year old
guidance is now considered outdated by many in the industry.

8.

More recent national guidance (for Scotland) was published in 2019: The
Scottish Safety Camera Programme: Handbook of Rules and Guidance. This
also contains some important principles on prioritising enforcement resources
based on data on collisions and speeds, with additional weighting for severity of

Page 171

collision and involvement of vulnerable road users. The aim is to develop a long
list and then prioritise new sites based on the data. It also advocates the need
to ensure camera sites are visible, conspicuous and well signed. Although this
guidance is not applicable in England, it is a helpful example of more recent
guidance being used elsewhere in the UK.
Key Principles of the Proposed New Surrey Policy
9.

The proposed draft policy for use in Surrey is contained within Annex 1. This
has been produced with reference to the national guidance described above,
and in consultation with police colleagues, the Police and Crime Commissioner
and the Cabinet Member for Transport and Infrastructure. The key features of
the draft policy are that:


There will be two categories of speed enforcement camera sites: “core
casualty reduction safety camera sites” and “community concern safety
camera sites”.



Central funding from the Safer Roads Partnership will be prioritised towards
“core safety camera sites” with the greatest potential for reducing casualties.
These will be selected using a points-based system weighted for severity of
collision, and presence of vulnerable road users within the history of
collisions at the site. There will also need to be confirmation that speeds are
part of the problem through the use of speed surveys.



Cameras will also be considered for “community concern” sites. These are
defined as sites where there hasn’t been such a large history of collisions,
but where speeding traffic is a major concern of the local community.



Funding for community concern sites will not ordinarily be provided from the
central budget of the safer roads partnership as this will be reserved for the
“core safety camera sites” using the points-based criteria. Instead alternative
sources of funding will be required. This might be from budgets allocated to
local county councillors for highway improvements, Community
Infrastructure Levy funds, or as part of major schemes for example.



Speed cameras will be used only as a last resort after engineering highway
improvements to manage speeds have been considered first. This is
because it is a better use of public resources to manage speeds without an
ongoing need to issue penalties and process offences enduringly. This
principle will help to maintain public support for safety cameras as a road
safety tool.



Enforcement cameras will not be introduced to enforce new lower speed
limits that do not comply with the county council’s speed limit policy. If new

Page 172

speed limits are introduced that are unreasonably low without supporting
engineering measures, then if enforcement was introduced it could result in
large numbers of prosecutions. This could place an unreasonable burden on
police offence processing and court prosecution resources. It could also
provoke a public backlash if there were large numbers of prosecutions that
many perceive to be unfair. This principle will help to maintain public support
for safety cameras as a road safety tool.


Cameras will continue to be positioned to be visible, conspicuous and wellsigned. The aim is to improve compliance and reduce risk of collisions rather
than issue penalties.

Conclusions:
10. Higher vehicle speeds increase the risk of collisions. Also, the higher the speed
the more severe the consequences are likely to be. Safety cameras have
proven to be a very effective intervention to reducing casualties at the worst
casualty hotspots where speeding or red-light violations have been part of the
problem.
11. In more recent years there has been greater use of average speed cameras as
these can encourage greater compliance with the speed limit over a longer
stretch of road compared with spot speed cameras. Consequently, Surrey
County Council’s leadership, Surrey’s Police and Crime Commissioner and
Chief Constable are keen to expand the use of average speed cameras and
spot speed cameras in Surrey beyond only being deployed at the worst
casualty hotspots.
12. Therefore, this report presents a new policy (Annex 1) which sets out the
criteria and process that will be followed for investment in new safety cameras.
This policy has been developed with reference to national guidance and in
consultation with police colleagues, the Police and Crime Commissioner and
the Cabinet Member for Transport and Infrastructure.
13. The application of the policy will be overseen by the Surrey Safer Roads
Partnership Board consisting of the Police and Crime Commissioner, the Surrey
County Council Cabinet Member responsible for road safety, and a senior
representative of the police.
Recommendations:
14. It is recommended that the select committee review the proposed new safety
camera policy presented in Annex 1. Feedback will be taken into account when
presenting the policy to Cabinet for final approval on 28 September.

Page 173

Next steps:
15. The policy will be presented to the Cabinet for final approval on 28 September.

Report contact
Duncan Knox, Road Safety & School Sustainable Transport Team Manager
Contact details
duncan.knox@surreycc.gov.uk
Sources/background papers
Gains, A., et al (2005) The National Safety Camera Programme Four-year evaluation
report, UCL and PA Consulting.
Owen, R., Ursachi, G., Allsop, R. (2016) The Effectiveness of Average Speed
Cameras in Great Britain. RAC Foundation.
Department for Transport Circular 01/2007: Use Of Speed And Red-Light Cameras
For Traffic Enforcement: Guidance On Deployment, Visibility And Signing.
Scottish Safety Camera Programme, Handbook of Rules and Guidance, March
2019.

Page 174

Annex 1:
Draft Policy and Criteria for the Use of Safety (Speed and Red-Light) Cameras in Surrey
September 2021
1.
Introduction
1.1.1. Higher vehicle speeds increase the risk of collisions. Also, the higher the speed the more
severe the consequences are likely to be. Consequently, safety cameras (speed and redlight cameras) have been operating in Surrey since the 1990s. Since 2004 they have been
implemented and managed through a partnership between Surrey Police and Surrey
County Council. There are also some safety cameras on Highways England roads within
Surrey. Historically their use has been prioritised at casualty hotspots and they have proven
to be very effective in helping to reduce the number of casualties by encouraging greater
compliance with the speed limit and deterring red light jumping.
1.1.2. In more recent years there has been greater use of average speed cameras as these can
encourage greater compliance with the speed limit over a longer stretch of road compared
with spot speed cameras. At the time of writing (September 2021) there were 10 average
speed camera schemes across Surrey. Six of these are on county council roads and
monitoring for five of them (one has only recently been implemented) shows that they have
coincided with a reduction of 63 per cent in the number of road casualties at those sites
(comparing the number of collisions in the three years prior to implementation, with the
number of collisions in the most recent three years). Anecdotally, road users appear to be
more supportive of the use of average speed cameras, and several communities have
lobbied for their introduction on the roads where they live.
1.1.3. Consequently, Surrey County Council’s leadership, Surrey’s Police and Crime
Commissioner and Chief Constable are keen to expand the use of average speed cameras
and spot speed cameras in Surrey beyond only being deployed at the worst casualty
hotspots. This is because as well as reducing the risk and severity of road collisions,
improved compliance with the speed limit can also help to reduce air and noise pollution,
and supports more active travel (walking, push scooting and cycling). This is better for the
health and wellbeing of residents and contributes to the council’s commitment to tackling
climate change.
1.1.4. Implementation of new average speed cameras represent a significant investment. For
example, the simplest system between two points on a two-way single carriageway road
can cost around £100,000. Spot speed camera sites typically cost over £25,000. There are
also significant resources required for ongoing processing of offences, court prosecutions
and maintenance. Therefore, it is important to follow criteria that ensures that safety
cameras are only introduced where they are worthwhile and represent a good use of public
money and resource. At some sites other solutions might be more appropriate.
1.1.5. The fines resulting from enforcement by safety cameras are paid to the courts and are not
received by Surrey County Council or Surrey Police. However part of the fee paid to attend
driver offender rehabilitation courses such as speed awareness courses (instead of the
usual fine and penalty points), is returned to the police and is used to cover the cost of
providing enforcement at no cost to the taxpayer. Should there be any surplus then this is
used for reinvestment in road safety.

Page 175

1.1.6. Therefore, this policy presents the criteria and process that will be followed for investment
in new safety cameras. This includes average speed, spot speed, red-light or combination
cameras. While casualty hotspots will remain as the top priority, this policy also sets out the
criteria for the use of safety cameras at other locations where there might not have been
such a high level of collisions, but where excess speeds are a concern for the community.
The aim of this policy is to ensure that the use of safety cameras remains targeted
effectively at the sites that need them the most to reduce road death and injury, and to
reduce the negative impacts of speeding traffic on local communities and to help tackle
climate change.
1.1.7. This criteria for use in Surrey was developed with reference to the national guidance issued
by the Department for Transport 01/2007: “Use Of Speed And Red-Light Cameras For
Traffic Enforcement: Guidance On Deployment, Visibility And Signing” and the Scottish
Safety Camera Programme: “Handbook of Rules and Guidance (March 2019)”.
2.

Key Principles

2.1.

Introduction

2.1.1. Surrey’s Safer Roads Partnership will implement two categories of speed enforcement
camera sites: “core casualty reduction safety camera sites” and “community concern safety
camera sites”. A description of the criteria for each category of site is provided below.
2.2.

Core Casualty Reduction Speed Enforcement Sites

2.2.1. Surrey’s Safer Roads Partnership will prioritise their central funding at the top priority “core
casualty reduction sites” where safety cameras are highly likely to make the biggest
difference in reducing road casualties. New speed camera sites will be identified and
prioritised using a points-based system per km over the three most recent years as follows:




Collisions resulting in death or serious injury = 5 points
Collisions resulting in slight injury = 1 point
Additional weighting (x1.5) for those collisions involving
pedestrians, cyclists, motorcyclists, or equestrians.

vulnerable

modes:

2.2.2. An additional weighting has been applied to collisions resulting in injury to vulnerable road
users because they are more likely to suffer a greater severity of injury from road collisions.
Prioritising people who are walking or cycling also supports the council’s aim to increase
active travel, which is healthier for the participants and, as an alternative to fossil fuel
powered transport, also helps to reduce climate change and improve air quality.
2.2.3. For speed camera sites to be worthwhile there will need to be confirmation that speeding is
part of the problem. Therefore, speed surveys will be required to provide confirmation that
the existing 85th percentile speeds must equal or exceed the speed limit by 5 mph in at
least one of the directions of travel. In cases where police are confident that the pattern of
collisions contributing to the scoring criteria is associated with speeding over the posted
speed limit (perhaps by only a small proportion of vehicles late at night for example), then
a camera can be considered irrespective of the measured 85th percentile speeds.

Page 176

2.2.4. Enforcement could be provided over any distance of road, within reason. The positioning
and layout of enforcement cameras will be dependent on assessment of the stretch by safer
roads partnership officers. This will determine which type of speed camera would be
appropriate for the stretch of road in question (either spot speed or average speed cameras
for example). This will depend upon factors such as available power sources, available
room at the roadside and distribution of collisions. In the case of average speed camera
sites, the number of entry and exit points and the volume of traffic using them will be
considered.
2.2.5. It may be that in some cases it would be sensible to provide enforcement over a longer
length than the length contributing to the points based scoring described above if that is
considered likely to make the system more cost effective (by enforcing over a longer stretch
of road with the same number of cameras), or to overcome other physical restrictions. In
other cases, a shorter length may be more effective to reduce the number of cameras
required, and a spot speed camera may be preferred if the collision problem is focussed
over a shorter length of road.
2.2.6. The ongoing maintenance of cameras and processing of offences and court prosecutions
requires significant ongoing resources. Therefore, speed cameras will be used only as a
last resort after engineering highway improvements to manage speeds have been
considered first. For example, it is likely to be preferable to introduce traffic calming on more
minor residential roads with a speed limit of 30mph or lower where there is street lighting,
rather than resort to speed camera enforcement. However, it may not be feasible to
implement traffic calming on 30 mph speed limit roads that are busier main routes where
there are lots of larger vehicles that would cause noise and vibration when travelling over
vertical traffic calming features close to residential properties, or on roads with a higher
speed limit where traffic calming is not allowed.
2.2.7. It will also be possible for the Safer Roads Partnership to use their central funding to
introduce “core casualty reduction sites” to replace established, regular police mobile
enforcement sites (locations where police personnel have in the past provided regular
enforcement from a camera van, or by using hand-held devices). This is because a fixed
camera (average or spot speed camera) might provide a more cost-effective long-term
solution as it will provide a permanent deterrent as opposed to an enforcement deterrent
only being present from time to time. In the case of average speed cameras, it may be
possible to cover a longer stretch of road too. The police personnel enforcement resources
could then be directed to other sites.
2.2.8. In these cases, it will not be necessary to meet the collision points and speed criteria
described above as it is expected that there will already have been a reduction in speeds
and collisions because of the regular mobile speed enforcement. The intention of
introducing a fixed camera in this scenario would be to be maintain and improve upon the
enforcement already provided by police personnel and to free up those resources for use
elsewhere.
2.2.9. It should not be expected that enforcement will be implemented to support a new lower
speed limit that does not comply with the county council’s speed limit policy, otherwise this
could result in large numbers of prosecutions, and this could place an unreasonable burden
on police enforcement and court prosecution resources. This could also provoke a public
backlash if there were large numbers of prosecutions that many perceive to be unfai r.
Instead it is expected that new lower speed limits will continue to be introduced in

Page 177

accordance with the county council’s speed limit policy. This requires that lower speed limits
using signs alone will only be introduced where the existing mean average speeds are close
to the desired new lower speed limit. In accordance with the speed limit policy, if the existing
speeds are very much higher than the new desired lower speed limit, then supporting
engineering measures will be required.
2.2.10. A forward programme of prioritised new core casualty reduction safety camera sites will be
presented to the Safer Roads Partnership Board for scrutiny and approval before
implementation, with periodic updates being provided to the Board as required.
2.3.

Community Concern Speed Camera Enforcement Sites

2.3.1. Surrey’s Safer Roads Partnership will support the introduction of speed cameras at
“community concern” sites. These are defined as sites where there is a lower level of
collisions, but where speeding traffic is a major concern of the local community. Funding for
these sites will not ordinarily be provided from the central budget of the safer roads
partnership as this will be reserved for the worst collision hotspots using the points-based
criteria.
2.3.2. The Safer Roads Partnership colleagues will undertake a feasibility assessment to check
whether an enforcement camera would be viable, would meet the criteria described below
and will provide an estimate of the likely costs. (Precise cost estimates will not be possible
as this will depend upon the quotes received from suppliers subject to tender, and the
amount of electrical preparation works that will be required). A source of funding will then
need to be secured prior to any implementation. This might be from the budgets allocated
to local county councillors for highway improvements, Community Infrastructure Levy funds,
or as part of major schemes for example.
2.3.3. As with core casualty reduction sites, new community concern sites will be used only as a
last resort after engineering highway improvements to manage speeds have been
considered first. For example, it is likely to be preferable to introduce traffic calming on more
minor residential roads with a speed limit of 30mph or lower where there is street lighting,
rather than resort to speed camera enforcement. However, it may not be feasible to
implement traffic calming on 30 mph speed limit roads that are busier main routes where
there are lots of larger vehicles that would cause noise and vibration when travelling over
vertical traffic calming features close to residential properties, or on roads with a higher
speed limit where traffic calming is not allowed.
2.3.4. As with core casualty reduction sites, for new community concern sites to be worthwhile
there will need to be confirmation that speeding is part of the problem (rather than just large
volumes of vehicles for example). Therefore, speed surveys will be required to provide
confirmation that the existing 85 th percentile speeds must equal or exceed the speed limit
by 5 mph in at least one of the directions of travel. At locations where the speeds have
already been suppressed due to the provision of regular police mobile enforcement, the
Safer Roads Partnership will confirm as to whether a camera to replace the regular
enforcement would be worthwhile.
2.3.5. In the event that there are several requests for community concern sites across the county
that meet the criteria, then the Safer Roads Partnership will decide upon the priority order
for implementing them based on the following factors:

Page 178




Chronological order that the requests for the site and the source of funding was
confirmed
Level of collisions using the points-based criteria for core casualty reduction sites

2.3.6. A forward programme of prioritised community concern safety camera sites will be
presented to the Safer Roads Partnership Board for scrutiny and approval before
implementation, with periodic updates being provided to the Board as required.
2.4.

Red Light, and Combined Speed and Red-Light Camera sites

2.4.1. Red light cameras will only be introduced at locations where there is confirmation that
jumping the red traffic signal has been a factor in collisions or has been reported and
observed as leading to near misses. Whenever a new red-light camera site is introduced,
consideration will be given to enhancing the level of enforcement deterrent by selecting a
camera system that enforces both speed and red-light violations if this is considered
worthwhile by safer roads partnership officers.
2.5.

Visibility and Signing

2.5.1. An important principle of the enforcement provided in Surrey is that cameras are positioned
to be clearly visible, painted yellow to be conspicuous, and that signing warning of the
presence of the cameras is provided in advance of any camera installation. Signing to
remind drivers of the speed limit will continue to be co-located with camera warning signing
in view to the driver at the same time as the camera at all new safety camera sites.
2.5.2. On the approach to nearly all spot speed camera sites in Surrey, electronic vehicle activated
signing has also been provided that illuminate to remind drivers of the speed limit and to
warn of the presence of the camera if they are approaching too fast. Consideration will be
given to implementing vehicle activated signing at all new safety camera sites, but may not
be necessary in all cases.
3.

Role of Surrey Road Safety Partnership Board

3.1.1. The partnership board (consisting of the Police and Crime Commissioner, the Surrey
County Council Cabinet Member responsible for road safety, and senior representative of
the police) will take the final decisions on the introduction of new safety camera si tes.
Officers will present the Board with a forward programme of new “core” safety camera sites
and “community concern” safety camera sites for approval by the Board prior to
implementation.
3.1.2. It is possible that on occasion, there may be exceptional cases where the requirements of
this policy cannot be met, but there may still be a good case for proceeding with a new
safety camera system. In such cases final decisions on whether to proceed or not with such
exceptional cases will be taken by the Board, with officers from the road safety partnership
providing advice. In future, any changes to this policy will be approved by the Board.

Page 179

This page is intentionally left blank

Item 9
COMMUNITIES, ENVIRONMENT AND HIGHWAYS SELECT
COMMITTEE

16 September 2021

Forward Work Programme (FWP) and Recommendation Tracker
(RT)
Purpose of report: To review and agree the Forward Work Programme (FWP). To
track recommendations made by the Select Committee.
Introduction:
1. The Forward Work Programme (FWP) and Recommendation Tracker (RT)
update is a standing item on the agenda of the Select Committee.
2. The FWP covers the expected activity in 2021/22 (Annex A).
3. The RT tracks recommendations made by the Committee (Annex B).
4. The FWP includes regular items, task and reference groups updates and the
additional items the Select Committee would like to engage with in coming
months. This approach should enable the Select Committee to consider planning
and resourcing for its scrutiny and overview work across the year whilst retaining
enough flexibility to consider essential additional items as needed from time to
time. There should be no more than two task groups taking place concurrently.
Recommendations:
5. The Select Committee is recommended:
a) To review and agree the Forward Work Programme (Annex A);
b) To make any appropriate suggestions for possible amendments including
programming of in-depth sessions and other agenda items; and
c) To monitor the update provided in Recommendation Tracker (Annex B).
Next Steps:
The Select Committee reviews its Forward Work Programme and Recommendation
Tracker at each of its meetings.
Kunwar Khan
Scrutiny Officer | Democratic Services | Law and Governance
Surrey County Council | Kunwar.Khan@surreycc.gov.uk

Page 181

This page is intentionally left blank

Communities, Environment and Highways Select Committee
Forward Work Programme 2021 - 2022
Communities, Environment and Highways Select Committee
Chairman: John O’Reilly I Scrutiny Officer: Kunwar Khan I Democratic Services Assistant: TBA
Date of
Meeting

Type of
Scrutiny

Issue for Scrutiny

Purpose

Outcome

Relevant
Organisational
Priority

Page 183

Enabling a
greener future

September 2021

Empowering
communities

Pre-decision

Buses Back Better

To inform the committee of
the council’s obligations in
respect of the new National
Bus Strategy, ‘Bus Back
Better’, and the Council’s
proposed approach.

For the Select Committee to
provide its views on the
Council’s proposed approach
in respect of the new Bus
Strategy.

Cabinet
Member/Lead
Officer
Matt Furniss,
Cabinet Member for
Transport and
Infrastructure
Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –
Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure
Lucy Monie,
Director – Highways
and Transport
Laurie James, Bus
Service Planning
Team Manager

For information

Highways Reprocurement

To provide the Select
Committee with an update
on the Procurement of the
Term Maintenance Contract
and some of the key
features of the new
arrangements scheduled to
start in April 2022

For the Select Committee to
receive assurance that the
procurement is progressing
as planned, and gain greater
understanding of some of the
key features of the new
arrangements.

Growing a
sustainable
economy so
everyone can
benefit
Tackling health
inequality
Enabling a
greener future

Page 184

Empowering
communities

Pre-decision

New Safety Camera
Policy

Present the Select
Committee with a new policy
which sets out the criteria
and process that will be
followed for investment in
new safety cameras. This
includes average speed,
spot speed, red-light and
combination cameras. While
road casualty hotspots will
remain the top priority, the
policy also sets out the
criteria for the use of safety
cameras at other locations
where there might not have

Matt Furniss,
Cabinet Member for
Transport and
Infrastructure
Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –
Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure
Lucy Monie,
Director, Highways
and Transport
Paul Wheadon,
Business
Improvement and
Consultancy Team
Manager
Matt Furniss,
Cabinet Member for
Transport and
Infrastructure

For the Select Committee to
provide its views on the
Council’s proposed Safety
Camera Policy.

Empowering
communities

Lucy Monie,
Director for
Highways
Duncan Knox, Road
Safety and
Sustainable School
Travel Team
Manager

been such a high level of
collisions, but where excess
speeds are a concern for the
community.

Preconsultation

SWR Timetable
Consultation

To inform the Select
Committee of the South
Western Railways
Consultation for proposed
rail services in the county
from December 2022 and to
agree a response to this
consultation.

For the Select Committee to
provide its views on the
Council’s response to South
Western Railways
Consultation.

December 2021

Page 185
For information

Surrey Transport Plan

To inform the Select
Committee of the outcome
from consultation of the
Surrey Transport Plan.

For the Select Committee to
gain greater understanding
of feedback from businesses,
partners and residents in
relation to the Surrey
Transport Plan prior to its
formal adoption.

Growing a
sustainable
economy so
everyone can
benefit

Pre-decision

Select Committee to receive
draft budget proposals for
2022/23.

Select Committee scrutinises
the Council’s budget
proposals, provides feedback

Lucy Monie,
Director, Highways
and Transport

Enabling a
greener future

David Ligertwood,
Passenger
Transport Projects
Team Manager

Growing a
sustainable
economy so
everyone can
benefit

Matt Furniss,
Cabinet Member for
Transport and
Infrastructure

Tackling health
inequality
Enabling a
greener future
Empowering
communities

Scrutiny of Draft
Budget

Matt Furniss,
Cabinet Member for
Transport and
Infrastructure

Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –
Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure
Paul Millin,
Strategic Transport
Group Manager
Matt Furniss,
Cabinet Member for

and makes
recommendations.

Transport and
Infrastructure
Marisa Heath,
Cabinet Member for
Environment
Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –
Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure

Page 186

Marie Snelling,
Executive Director –
Community and
Transformation
Steve OwenHughes
Anna D’Alessandro
Rachel Wigley
Mark Hak-Sanders
Tony Orzieri
Natalie Bramhall
Mark Nuti
Kevin Deanus

Pre-decision

Electric Vehicle
Network Procurement

To present the Select
Committee with
recommendations in relation
to the Council’s procurement
approach for on street
Electric Vehicle charging
across the county.

For the Select Committee to
provide its views on the
Council’s recommended
procurement approach for on
street Electric Vehicle
charging across the county.

Growing a
sustainable
economy so
everyone can
benefit

Matt Furniss,
Cabinet Member for
Transport and
Infrastructure
Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –

Tackling health
inequality
Enabling a
greener future
Empowering
communities

Response to Government

TBA

Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure
Lee Parker, Director
– Infrastructure,
Planning & Major
Projects
Matt Furniss,
Cabinet Member for
Transport and
Infrastructure

TBC
Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –
Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure

Future of Rail

Page 187

Paul Millin,
Strategic Transport
Group Manager
Steve OwenHughes,
Mortuary Paper

The Coroners paper on
building a public mortuary in
Surrey.

TBA

TBC
Sarah Kershaw,
Chief of Staff and
Deputy Director of
CPG

Items to be scheduled
(Date)

(Type)

(Issue)

(Purpose)

(Outcome)

(Cabinet
Member/Lead
Officer)

Marisa Heath,
Cabinet Member for
Environment
In development
Climate Change
Delivery Plan

TBA

Future areas of scrutiny to
be agreed.

Page 188

TBA
Rural internet speeds

Enhancing
Community
Engagement

Environmental Bill

TBC

TBC

In development

TBA

TBC

In development

TBA

TBC

Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –
Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure
Carolyn McKenzie,
Director for
Environment
Natalie Bramhall,
Cabinet Member for
Economic
Development and
Property
Dawn Redpath,
Director – Economy
and Growth
Mark Nuti, Cabinet
Member for
Communities
Marie Snelling,
Executive Director –
Community and
Transformation
Marisa Heath,
Cabinet Member for
Environment
Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –

Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure
Carolyn McKenzie,
Director for
Environment
Mark Nuti, Cabinet
Member for
Communities

SFRS Monitoring

TBA

TBC

In development

Steve OwenHughes, Chief Fire
Officer
Matt Furniss,
Cabinet Member for
Transport and
Infrastructure

March 2022

Page 189
Healthy Streets

Presentation of the Council’s
Street Design Guide,
following consultation & prior
to adoption by Cabinet and
Council. The guide provides
advice to all those involved
in designing and delivering
the transport infrastructure
elements of new
development within Surrey.

Kevin Deanus,
Deputy Cabinet
Member for
Communities

Tackling health
inequality
Enabling a
greener future

Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –
Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure
Lee Parker, Director
– Infrastructure,
Planning & Major
Projects

Task and Finish Groups; Member Reference Groups
(Dates)

(Type)

(Issue)
Greener Futures
Reference Group

(Purpose)

To consider and provide
pre decision feedback on
Climate Change Delivery
Plan (CCDP) for 20212025 and Surrey
Transport Plan (STP)

(Outcome)
To provide comments and
steer from the scrutiny’s
point of view in formulating
the Cabinet report.

Membership:

Page 190

Membership:
Andy MacLeod–
Chair
John O’Reilly – exofficio
Jordan Beech
Stephen Cooksey
Jonathan Hulley
Catherine Baart
Paul Deach
Lance Spencer

To be received in writing and informal briefing sessions

August
2021

Surrey Infrastructure Plan

Written briefing followed by
Member briefing session
(remote) if requested.
Select Committee to be
informed of governance
proposals and how
infrastructure schemes will
be approved and monitored.

Matt Furniss,
Cabinet Member for
Transport and
Infrastructure
Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –
Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure
Lee Parker, Director
– Infrastructure,

September Community Engagement
2021

October
2021

Flood Risk Management Strategy

Page 191
November
2021

Rethinking Waste – Waste Commissioning

To hear about any
development about
community engagement. An
initial session to understand
how best to approach this
area has been arranged by
the service for the Chair and
Vice Chairs for 20
September.

Planning & Major
Projects
Marie Snelling,
Executive Director –
Communities and
Transformation
Mark Nuti, Cabinet
Member for
Communities

Written briefing followed by
Member briefing session
(remote) if requested.

Marisa Heath,
Cabinet Member for
Environment

Select Committee to be
informed of proposed
updates to the Flood Risk
Management Strategy.

Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –
Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure

Proposed Member Seminar
in November to be arranged
by the service.
Business Case to go to
Select Committee in March
2022.

Carolyn McKenzie,
Director for
Environment
Marisa Heath,
Cabinet Member for
Environment
Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –
Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure

2022

Natural Capital Plans, including Biodiversity

Member Seminar in 2022.
Date TBC

Carolyn McKenzie,
Director for
Environment
Marisa Heath,
Cabinet Member for
Environment
Katie Stewart,
Executive Director –
Environment,
Transport and
Infrastructure

Page 192

Carolyn McKenzie,
Director for
Environment
Standing Items


Forward Work Programme and Recommendations Tracker: To monitor Select Committee recommendations and requests as well as its forward
work programme.

COMMUNITIES, ENVIRONMENT AND HIGHWAYS SELECT COMMITTEE
ACTIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS TRACKER
September 2021
The actions and recommendations tracker allows Committee Members to monitor responses, actions and outcomes against their recommendations or
requests for further actions. The tracker is updated following each meeting. Once an action has been completed, it will be shaded green to indicate
that it will be removed from the tracker at the next meeting.

KEY
Meeting
24 March
2020

No Progress Reported

Item
Update on Council
Climate Emergency
Response
[Item 4]

Recommendations/ Actions
i.

Page 193

ii.

Countryside Estate
[Item 5]

16
September
2020

Cabinet Member
Updates
[Item 5]

18 January
2021

Surrey Infrastructure
Plan [Item 6]

Action In Progress

i.

I.

Update/ Response

The Climate Change Project Manager to
share with members the relevant
governance document for the council’s
climate change strategy.

Information requested.

That the Committee investigates avenues
for joint scrutiny with district and borough
councils to review the impact of the climate
strategy and continue its development.
The Cabinet Member for Communities to
circulate to members information and
examples of successful established
contribution schemes in other organisations.

Scrutiny Manager to take
up with district and
borough council colleagues

For the results of the assessment of Surrey’s
built environment to be brought to a future
meeting of the Select Committee.

i.

Action Completed

The Select Committee seeks evidence of
the council working with partner agencies to
secure funds and deliver projects and how
the surrey infrastructure plan and

Responsible
Officer/ Member
Nicole Clucas,
Climate Change
Project Manager

Information requested. The
Cabinet Member is
preparing a response.
This has been noted in the
Select Committee’s
Forward Work Programme
This has been noted in the
Select Committee’s
Forward Work Programme

Ross Pike, Scrutiny
Business Manager

Natalie Bramhall,
Cabinet Member for
Environment &
Climate Change
Steve Owen-Hughes,
Chief Fire Officer

Select Committee

directorate’s capital programme helps to
realise the aims of the council’s main
strategies (e.g. Climate change strategy,
local transport plan, digital strategy).
19 March
13/21 A New Rail Strategy
2021
For Surrey 2021
[Item 5]

Page 194
14/21 Surrey Climate
Change Strategy
[Item 6]

I. A Member requested that paragraph
40– Environmental Sustainability
Implications – of the Cabinet report also
reference the range of positive
implications for climate change that the
schemes and interventions brought
forward by the Council in delivering the
New Rail Strategy for Surrey would
have. This was to further indicate how
the New Railway Strategy supported
other Council priority areas, such as
achieving net carbon.
I.

The Committee recommends that the
Cabinet Member for Highways ensures
that the Service identifies any small
schemes in the county that could
improve residents’ access to railway
stations quickly and that a commitment
to do so is included in the report to
Cabinet on 30 March 2021.

Matt Furniss, Cabinet
Member for
Highways

I.

The Select Committee recommends that
the newly appointed Committee reviews
the final delivery plan before the Cabinet
takes its decision on 29 June 2021.

Select Committee

15/21 Surrey Fire And
Rescue Service
Implementation Of
Making Surrey Safer Our Plan 2020 - 2023
[Item 7]

Select Committee to receive the
following information regarding SFRS
establishment:
 The current establishment of the
SFRS
 In what Service areas there is a
staff shortage
 Annual staffing of SFRS for the
last ten-year period to give a
longer perspective of
improvements made
 When the establishment figures
changed
 How the composition of staffing
has changed and for what
reasons (for example, changing
priorities and workloads)
(Owner: Steve OwenHughes, Chief Fire Officer)

I.

It is recommended that the Select
Committee adopt the following points
identified by the Working Group as the
basis for future scrutiny of the SFRS:

Page 195

i.

•

•

Areas of ongoing improvement
work that form part of the ‘Making
Surrey Safer’ Plan such as
improving workforce diversity and
recruitment to on-call positions
Analysing comparative data
showing the relative performance

The Chief Fire Officer’s
response has been shared
with the Select Committee.

Steve Owen-Hughes,
Chief Fire Officer

Select Committee

•
•
•

of SFRS with other suitable peer
Fire and Rescue Authorities
Analysis of incidents where the
first appliance to critical incidents
exceeded 10 minutes
Analysis of satisfaction levels
with the Service’s
communications
Qualitative evidence from
frontline staff on changes to the
SFRS

Page 196

